NORTH BAY POLICE
SERVICES BOARD

i

i

oo oy

NORTH" BAY

135 Princess Street W., PO. Box 717, North Bay, ON P1B 8J8

OPEN SESSION AGENDA
May 13, 2014 1100 Hours

. Approval of Agenda
. Approval of Minutes of Open Session meeting of April 8, 2014

. Business Arising:
Nil

. Correspondence:

. Taxi Business:
Taxi Licences
Taxi By-law

. Reports:

Chief's Monthly Report

Stats March/March Revised

2013 Annual Report on Policing — North Bay
2013 Annual Report on Policing - Callander

. New Business:
Contingency — Near North School Board Environment Committee

. Association Report:

@ R AR B - E & WA DA

Just North Enpugic to be PERFECT

Chair
Chair

Chair

Chief

Chief
Chief

Chief

Deputy Chief
Deputy Chief
Deputy Chief

Chief

President



MINUTES OF OPEN MEETING
North Bay Police Services Board
April 8, 2014

Present:

Board Members: William Hagborg, Vice-Chair, Allan McDonald, Tiziana Silveri, Tanya
Vrebosch

Police Service: Chief Paul Cook, Deputy Chief Shawn Devine

Board Solicitor: Peter Leckie (at 11:25 a.m.)

Association: Ken Rice

Communications Coordinator: Mary Lugli

Guests: The Media
Secretary: Carol Miller
Regrets: Dennis O'Connor, Chair,

In the absence of the Chair, Dennis O’Connor, William Hagborg, Vice-Chair cailed the
meeting to order at 1102 hours.

Approval of Agenda:

Resolution: #057-2014:

Moved by Allan McDonald, Seconded by Tiziana Silveri

The North Bay Police Services Board hereby resolves to:

“Accept the amended Agenda as presented for the Cpen Meeting to be held on April 8,
2014",

Carried
Note: A request for a donation to Amelia Rising Sexual Assault Centre was provided Board Members just
prior to the meeting.

Approval of Minutes:
Resolution: #058-2014:
Moved by Tanya Vrebosch, Seconded by Allan McDonald
The North Bay Police Services Board hereby resolves to:
“Adopt the Minutes of the Open Meeting held on March 11, 2014".
Carried

Business Arising:
Not applicable at this meeting.

Community Communications Officer

The Chief took a minute to introduce Mary Lugli our new Community Communications
Officer. The successful candidate to replace Ted Whittle, Mary will be attending Board
meetings and handling communications for the North Bay Police Services.

Minutes of the North Bay Police Services Board meeting held April 8, 2014 1



Presentation to Ms. Cindy and Mr. Joseph Jordan

The Chief, assisted by the Vice-Chair presented plaques to Ms. Cindy and her son
Joseph Jordan for their heroic action in rescuing a very seriously injured snowmobiler.
They noticed the individual, who had gone off the trail, hit a tree, and severely injured his
legs and torso. The brought the gentleman to an area where he could be transported to
hospital to be assessed and treated. The Chief explained that as a result of their actions
a life was saved and commended them for their observation and compassion shown in
this situation.

Correspondence:
Correspondence this month included letters of thanks for: the support of Cst. S. Brown
for aid to a citizen; the assistance of Cst. Ethier with a citizen who was a victim of fraud;
a donation to Clara’s Big Ride, a mental health promotion, taking place June 28 and 29",
the professionalism and comfort from Cst. Marshall involving a victim of theft, and
assistance with second year Canadore College Students as they complete their Police
Foundation requirements from Instructor L. deJourdan.
Resolution: #059-2014:
Moved by Tiziana Silveri, Seconded by Tanya Vrebosch
The North Bay Police Services Board hereby resolves to:
“Note and file the correspondence received”.

Carried

Taxi Business:
Resolution: #060-2014:
Moved by Allan McDonald, Seconded by Tiziana Silveri
The North Bay Police Services Board hereby resolves to:
“Approve the three (3) Taxi Drivers Licence Applications and two (2) Taxi Drivers
Licence Application renewals for March 2014 as recommended by the Chief of Police in
his letters dated March 31, 2014".
Carried

Reports:

Chief's Monthly Activity Report

The Chief outlined the monthly activities either he and/or Deputy Chief Devine attended
since the last Board meeting. The local events reported were: Cop Talk; One Pledge
Presentations to DIA, Chamber of Commerce, Canadore College, Nipissing University
and City Hall; Court Security Committee Meeting, Mobile Crisis Planning Meeting;
Amelia Rising Evolution Presentation and “No one asks for it" Walk; Annual Pride
Parade; Special Olympics Winter Games Committee Meeting, Opening Remarks at
Special Olympics Indoor Soccer Tournament; Directors’ of Education meeting; Polar
Plunge Registration; OPP Sgt. Couchie’s Retirement Dinner; Mess Dinner at 22 Wing;
and Cancer Fundraising Supper at Davedi Club; .

Out of town events included: OACP Justice Committee meeting and OACP FPAC/Use
of Force Videos in Brampton; OPTIC Board Meeting, Mental Health Commission of
Canada Conference and OACP PFAC Meeting held in Toronto; Regional Meeting in

Minutes of the North Bay Police Services Board meeting held April 8, 2014 2



Gananoque; OACP Zone 2 Joint OCEB Meeting in Sudbury; OPP Change of Command
at Nottawasaga Inn; and Keynote Speaker at OPC Graduation in Aylmer; .

Since the last Board meeting there have been amendments made to Standard Operating
Procedures in relation to Social Media, the Ontario Sex Offender Registry, Purchase
Orders, Expense Claims and Communications and Dispaich. There is also a new
Memorandum of Understanding with the Criminal Injuries Compensation Board.

Statistical Reports
The Deputy Chief, Shawn Devine, presented the Condensed Monthly Statistical Reports

for the month of February and February 2014 (Revised). He indicated that several motor
vehicle accidents occurred during this reporting period, likely indicative of the weather.
He also explained to Board members that a single fraud report lead to 25 charges being
laid. Overall, as of the end of February there are increases over the 2013 totals of
Police Activity and Calls for Service and the Criminal Offenses totals are decreased.
Tanya Vrebosch request information on the installation of the new 4 way stop streets
recently introduced. She is interested in knowing if there has been an increase in traffic
violations as a result of these new stops. Deputy Chief Devine will gather relevant
statistics from the traffic division and relay the result to Ms. Vrebosch.
Resolution: #061-2014:
Moved by Tanya Vrebosch, Seconded by Allan McDonald
The North Bay Police Services Board hereby resolves to:
“Accept the Condensed Monthly Statistical Reports for the month of February 2014 and
February (Revised) 2014 as presented”.

Carried

Annual Reports — 2013

One Annual Report — Human Resources was presented as information at this meeting.
Deputy Chief Devine thanked Shelly Hampel and Amy Knight for their professionalism
and expertise. He provided an overview of each of the areas outlined in the report and
offered explanations when required.

New Business:

Contingency Account — Special Olympics “Adopt an Athlete”

The Chief outlined this program and will provide the Board Chair and Vice-Chair with a
letter to take to the PSB AGM which will challenge other PSB's to follow our lead.
Resolution: #062-2014:

Moved by Allan McDonald, Seconded by Tiziana Silveri

The North Bay Police Services Board hereby resolves to:

“Donate $500.00 from the contingency line in the Board's 2014 Operating Budget to
support the Special Olympics Adopt an Athlete initiative”.

Carried

Minutes of the North Bay Police Services Board meeting held April 8, 2014 3



Contingency Account — “Cops for Cancer”
Resolution: #063-2014:

Moved by Tanya Vrebosch, Seconded by Tiziana Silveri
The North Bay Police Services Board hereby resolves to:
“Donate $250.00 from the contingency line in the Board’s 2014 Operating Budget to
support this years, Cops for Cancer fundraising event”.
Carried

Contingency Account — "One Pledge”

Resolution: #064-2014:

Moved by Tiziana Silveri, Seconded by Allan McDonald

The North Bay Police Services Board hereby resolves to:

“Donate $250.00 from the contingency line in the Board's 2014 Operating Budget to
support the One Pledge campaign to eliminate domestic violence in our community”.

Carried
Note: The Mayer thanked the media of their support and contribution to this initiative. Their $100,000.00 in
kind contribution to adveriise this project is very much appreciated.

Contingency Account — “Amelia Rising Sexual Assault Centre”

Resolution: #065-2014:

Moved by Allan McDonald, Seconded by Tanya Vrebosch

The North Bay Police Services Board hereby resolves to:

“Donate $250.00 from the contingency line in the Board’s 2014 Operating Budget to
support the Amelia Rising Sexual Assault Centre”.

Carried
Association Update:
Ken Rice, Association Representative, shared that the Association is proud to be a
sponsor for the Polar Plunge, Cops for Cancer, One Pledge and Special Olympics. He
also reported that a hockey game between the North Bay Police Service and West Ferris
Secondary School was a win for the Police Service. Things are working well for the
Association and members will be attending a POA Conference.

Adjournment:
Resolution: #066-2014:
Moved by Tanya Vrebosch, Seconded by Tiziana Silveri
The North Bay Police Services Board hereby resolves to:
“Adjourn the Open Portion of the meeting held on April 8, 2014 at 1141 hours”.
Carried

Chair April 8, 2014 Secretary

Minutes of the North Bay Police Services Board meeting held April 8, 2014 4






Ministry ol Community Salety Ministzre de [a Sécurlté communautalre et des

and Correctional Services Services correctionnels
Ontarto Police College Collége de police de I'Ontaria
P.O. Box 1190 CP.1130

10716 Hacienda Road 10716 Rue Haclenda

Aylmer West ON NSH 2T2 Aylmer Quest ON N5H 2T2
Telephona: (519) 773-5361 Téléphone: (519) 773-5361
Facsimile; (518) 773-5762 Téldcoplaur: (519) 773-5762
April 22, 2014

Chief Paul Cook
President, OACP

North Bay Police Service
40 College Street
Toronio ON M5G 2J3

Dear Chief Cook:

It was an honour to have your support as the Guest Speaker at the Ontario Police
College (OPC) March Past and Review Ceremony, which was held on Thursday,
April 3, 2014.

Your speech was an inspiration {o the recruits and the audience. The quote, “Act as if
what you do makes a difference. It does.” by William James, was an excellent
message for the recruits and appreciated by the college sialff, as it reinforced
messaging delivered throughout the Basic Constable Training Program.

We know your time is precious and are grateful you shared some of it with us. We look
forward to your on-going support of events at the Ontario Police College.

Yours sincerely,

T P

Bruce Herridge, M.O.M. BA, MBA
Director

c: North Bay Police Service



(S

NOXINVHL

AMERICAN  GREETINGS

AGSP1OO11C
oncuc

PETTH
. .M;w\ Vo, Gle vy W.Wv

. \wﬁ\nﬁn\w > Coal,

du\ 7 u@n\m\\\.v\h = \R\Wwﬁﬁ\\;

Sho "l \ﬁ_@smm N\% g
~ ﬁ\\n.rﬁ e A2)p 2 \b&\.

=y B gpy prir> 2g el
\%W,w mo\umh e NU_\Q \.Q\W\\ L 2/
(G\WV\Q«\ h,uuh oL APV .u.\h..w\
.\&:\



=

April 7, 2014

5gt. Mike Hunter

North Bay Police Service
135 Princess Street West
North Bay, ON p1B 6C2

Dear Mike,

Near North Crime Stoppers would like to thank you and the members of North Bay Police
Service who participated in the NDA All-5tars vs. Local Law enforcement exhibition hockey
game held on March 29, 2014.

The event was an ideal opportunity to promote the Crime Stoppers program, foster positive
relations between our youth and police officers and collect food items for area food banks.

Due to the overwhelming success of the event, NNC5 has decided to host this exciting event on
an annual basis! We would be honored if you would consider being part of the organizing
committee again in 2015. Please pass along our sincere thanks to the members of NBPS who
supported this endeavour.

sincerely,

Jrecy Bl

Tracy Balen
gxecutive Director

Near North Crime Stoppers o m
cc. Chief Cook _

i

Box 382 NORTH Bay ON P1B 8H5 TEL 7054975555 #507 FAX 2054761784




North Bay Police Service
P.O. Box 717, 135 Princess Street West, North Bay, ON PIB 8]8
Paul D. Cook 705-497-5555 FAX 705-497-5591 Shawn E. Devine
Chief of Police Website: www.northbaypolice.on.ca Deputy Chief of Police

April 30", 2014

CHAIR AND MEMBERS
North Bay Police Service Board

Re: Taxi Driver Licence Applications — April 2014

Dear Sir:

The following two individuals were issued with Taxi Licences. It is recommended that these
Licence Applications be approved.

No. Name Company
182 | Stephen Mountain U-Need-A-Cab
183 Ronald Smith 5-0 Cab

Sincerely,

Q,,o Ce

P.D. Cook
Chief of Police

fkp



North Bay Police Service
P.O. Box 717, 135 Princess Street West, North Bay, ON PIB 8J8
Paul D. Cook 705-497-5555 FAX 705-497-5591
Chicf of Police Website: www.northbaypolice.on.ca Deputy Chief of Police

Shawn E. Devine

Board Report

Date of Report: May 5, 2014
Date of Meeting: May 13, 2014

Chairman Mr. D. O’Connor
and Memobers of the
North Bay Police Services Board

Subject: North Bay Police Services Board By-law #20, Taxi By-
law
Recommendation: That the Board hereby resolves, “to enact and pass

North Bay Police Services Board By-law #20, which is
a By-law specific to the Taxi Industry.”

Find attached Board By-law #20 that deals with the Taxi industry and a memorandum
from Sergeant Webber outlining proposed amendments. This By-law replaces
our previous Taxi By-law.

As the Board is aware we invited the taxi industry and our community to attend a
meeting to discuss the current Taxi by-law. Notification was provided in letters to the
industry and in the form of a public notice in the North Bay Nugget.

Find attached S/Sgt. Dubeau’s report which outlines who was in attendance and the
discussions that took place on April 10, 2014,

As a result of this meeting and our internal discussions Sergeant Webber has amended
the existing Taxi By-law #20 and listed the amendments in his memorandum.

| am requesting this By-law be enacted and passed by the Board.
| invite any questions or comments from the Board.

Sincerely,

Q_,o Ct
Paul D. Cook, O.0O.M.
Chief of Police



NORTH BAY POLICE SERVICE

MEMORANDUM

DATE: May 2, 2014
TO: Chief Paul Cook
FROM: Sgt. D. Webber

SUBJECT: Proposed Taxi By-Law Amendments

| have reviewed Staff Sergeant Dubeau's recommendations for amendments to the
existing Taxi By-Law and can advise the following changes have been made for the Police
Services Board's approval during their meeting in May.

Please note the new numbering format for By-Laws moving forward from this date.

As discussed we will have to address Schedule B section 1 with respect to the drop off fare
in the future.

Please advise if you have any questions concerning the following amendments:

v Amend - section 13 — change reference to section 121(b) to 12(b).

v Amend - section 26 (1) (a) to read: the taxi is ten (10) years of age (by subtracting
the “year date” from the current taxi licence year).

v Amend - section 27. (d) to read: the taxi is ten (10) years of age (by subtracting the
“year date” from the current taxi licence year).

v Amend - section 32 (1) (b) to read: 3 to 4 years of age — an inspection every 6
months.

v Amend - section 32 (1) (c) to read: 5 to 8 years of age — an inspection every 4
months.

v Amend - section 32 (1) (d) to read: 9 to 10 years of age ~ an inspection every 3
months.

v Amend - section 65 (a) to meet the Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities Act
and read: Every taxi owner shall, as a condition of their licence, display a number

(Revised 2006/06)



Page 2 of 2

plate issued by the Chief of Police, bearing the number of the licence for the current
year on the rear bumper of the taxicab.

v Amend - section 26, 27 and 69 when referencing sections 68, 69 and 70 to sections
67, 68 and 69.

v Amend - section 68 when referencing sections 68 and 69 to read sections 67, 68
and 69.

v Amendments - to Schedule B sections 1, 2, 6, 7 and 8.

v New — Schedule B section 9 - Clean-up fee of $50.00.

es ctfully / <

D Webber Sgt.
Quality Assurance



NORTH BAY POLICE SERVICES BOARD
BY- LAW NO. 20
TAXI BY- LAW

INDEX NUMBER: 20

DATE:

MAY 13, 2014

WHEREAS Section 151 and 156 of the Municipal Act, 2001 authorizes a municipality to
licence, govern and regulate the owners and drivers of taxi cabs;

AND WHEREAS Section 23.1 and section 23.2 of the Municipal Act, 2001 allows a
municipality, to delegate its powers and duties;

AND WHEREAS the City of North Bay has passed a by-law adopting a Policy for the
Delegating of Power and Duties and said policy delegates the power to licence and
regulate the business of taxi cabs to the North Bay Police Services Board,

NOW THEREFORE the North Bay Police Services Board hereby enacts as follows:

1. In this By-Law,

(a)
(b}
(c)

(d)
(e)

(f
(9)

(h)

()

(k)
()
(m)

“Board” means the North Bay Police Services Board.
“City” means the City of North Bay.

"Chief of Police” means the Chief of Police of the North Bay Police Service
or his designate.

“Corporation” means the Corporation of the City of North Bay.

“Certificate” means a Safety Standards Certificate issued by a Licensed
Mechanic.

“Dispatcher” means a person who dispatches taxis.

“Door" means an entry and exit point for the driver or passengers of a
vehicle and does not include a trunk, hatchback door or rear door of a van.

“Driver” means any person who is licenced or required to be licenced
under Part | of this By-Law to drive a taxi.

“Licence” means a licence issued by the Board, under the provisions of
Part | of this By-Law to own a taxi (Owner's Licence or Wheelchair
Accessible Vehicle Owner's Licence); drive taxis (Taxi Driver's Licence),
or to act as a Taxi Broker (Broker's Licence).

“Police Officer” means a Municipal Police Officer or Special Constable and
includes a sworn member of the Ontaric Provincial Police or Royal
Canadian Mounted Police.

“Police Service” means the North Bay Police Service.
Prescribed Tariff’ means the tariff set out in Schedule "B” of this By-Law.

“Taxi(s)" means all motor vehicles including wheelchair accessible
vehicles that are used for hire for the carriage of goods only or persons,
with or without goods, hired for one or more than one specific trip for the
transportation exclusively of one passenger or a group of passengers,
which contains or is dispatched by radic or any other telecommunications
device within the City, and includes all taxis licenced or required to be
licenced under Part | of this By-Law.



(n) “Taxi Broker” means a person or company that accepts calls in any
manner for taxis that are used for hire and are owned by persons other
than that person or company, their immediate family, or their employer.

(0) “Taxi Owner" means the person or company that owns a taxi and includes
any driver who leases a taxi from a legal owner.

(p) “Taxi Stand” means any place designed to accept calls for taxis and
includes a public waiting area.

(@) “Wheelchair Accessible Vehicle” means a van or a bus used for the
purpose of transporting, for compensation, physically disabled or mentally
disabled persons, which contains or is dispatched by radio or any other
telecommunications device within the City.

(n “Year Date” means the year printed on the heading “year" on a Motor
Vehicle Permit issued by the Ontario Ministry of Transportation.

(s) "Revisions” mean documented changes to this By-Law from the pre-
existing By-Law, 05/2010, that appear at the end of this document.

PART I
ADMINISTRATION AND LICENCING

2. The Board shall retain the right to issue, suspend, transfer, or revoke licences in
accordance with the provisions of this By-Law.

3. The Chief of Police shall have supervision over all persons and vehicles licenced
under this By-Law and all equipment used by such persons or in such vehicles.

4. The Chief of Police shall:

(a) furnish applications and transfer of licence forms, photo identification/
licence cards and licence forms required by this By-Law,

(b) make all necessary inquires and investigations concerning licence
applications, suspensions, transfers and revocations,

(c) arrange and conduct testing of all new licence applications to ensure
compliance with the provisions of this By-Law,

(d) cause taxis to be inspected by a licenced mechanic to ensure compliance
with the provisions of this By-Law,

(e) provide the Board with investigative resuits in relation to applications,
transfers, revocations, suspensions, and recommendations on licencing in
accordance with Part | of this By-Law,

f issue and sign licences as authorized by the Board and ensure licencees
receive a copy of this By-Law, a tariff card, and in the case of taxi drivers,
one (1) photo identification/licence card,

(g maintain a register of all licences and transfers,

(h)  enforce the provisions of this By-Law, and

(i) submit reports to the Board, as required.

5. The Board will limit the number of Owner's Licences to eighty-five (85) and the
number of Wheel-Chair Accessible Vehicles Owner’s Licence to six (6).



10.

1.

12.

13.

14,

15.

186.

The Chief of Police may refuse to accept certificates from garages or mechanics
in relation to this By-Law for just cause.

Tariff cards or photo identification/licence cards which are lost, stolen, defaced or
destroyed may be replaced by the Chief of Police, upon verification of the
existence of a valid licence, and in the case of photo identification/licence
replacement, payment of the replacement fee set out in Schedule "A”, of this By-
Law.

The Chief of Police may authorize any member of the Police Service to exercise
any power or perform any duty of the Chief of Police referred to in this By-Law.

(a) In addition to any grounds set out in this By-Law for the suspension,
revocation, or refusal of licences, the Board may, upon application of the
Chief of Police, suspend, revoke or refuse a licence, in the public interest,
at its discretion, subject to the Statutory Powers Procedure Act.

(b)  Any hearing held by the Board in relation to section 9(a) of this By-Law
shall be held after giving the licencee at least seven (7) days notice of said
hearing and such notice shall be given by regular mail or personally.

(@)  Any act done by the Chief of Police under any of the provisions of this By-
Law shail be subject to an appeal to the Board by the person affected by
the said act. Such appeal shall be governed by the Statutory Powers
Procedure Act.

(b)  Any hearing held by the Board in relation to section 10(a) of this By-Law
shall be held after giving the licencee at least seven (7) days notice of said
hearing and such notice shall be given by regular mail or personally.

The Chief of Police, upon reasonable grounds, may require any person licenced

under this By-Law to produce a medical certificate from a physician which states

that the person is fit to operate a taxi in compliance with this By-Law.

No person shall be issued a licence under this Part uniess he or she:

(a) is of good moral character and habits, and

(b)  has no convictions pursuant to Federal or Provincial Statutes or Municipal
By-Laws and is not currently charged with any such offences.

The Board may issue a licence to a person who has convictions or is facing
charges as referred to in section 12(b) if the Board believes that it is not against
the public interest to issue such licence.

Every Taxi Owner and Taxi Broker licence applicant shall provide sufficient proof
that any Taxi Stand referred to in their application conforms to City zoning
requirements.

Licence applicants and persons requesting renewal of licences shall:

(a) submit an application in the prescribed form to the Chief of Police,

(b) furnish information, as required,

(¢)  submit to any required testing, and

(d)  provide payment of the prescribed fee as outlined in Schedule “A".

Every person licenced under this By-Law shall, upon changing their residential

address, notify the Chief of Police, in writing within two (2) days of such change
of address.



17.  The Chief of Police may suspend any licence until the next meeting of the Board
where the licencee has:

(a)
(b)

(c)
(d)

(e)

)
18. a)

(b)

apparently contravened the Criminal Code of Canada,;

obtained a conviction pursuant to the Highway Traffic Act resulting in the
loss of seven (7) demerit points or more;

contravened the Liquor Licence Act,

been charged pursuant to the Highway Traffic Act with any of the following
offences:

(i) careless driving;

(i) drive under suspension;
(i) fail to remain; or

(iv) fail to stop for police;

been charged pursuant to the Compulsory Automobile Insurance Act with
owner operate or permit operation of motor vehicle with no insurance; or

contravened the provisions of this By-Law.

The Board shall hear and determine the matter of a suspension pursuant
to section 17 and may revoke, suspend, issue or renew a licence subject
to such conditions as it deems fit. Such hearing shall be governed by the
Statutory Powers Procedure Act.

Any hearing held by the Board pursuant to section 18(a) of this By-Law
shall be held after giving the licencee at least seven (7) days notice of said
hearing and such notice shall be given by regular mail or personally.

19. No person shall drive a taxi in the City unless the person holds a valid Taxi
Driver's Licence issued under this Part.

20. Upon a date six months after this By-law comes into force and effect, Wheelchair
Accessible Vehicle Owner plates that remain unaffixed will be remitted to the
Board and the Wheelchair Accessible Vehicle Owner's Licence shall be revoked
by the Board.

TAXI DRIVER'S LICENCE

21. (a)

(b)

No person shall be issued a Taxi Driver's Licence under this Part unless
he or she meets the requirements of Section 12, and

(i) is at least 19 years of age,

(i) possesses a valid Ontario Driver's Licence void of any restriction
that would prohibit operation of a taxi, and is not a probationary
driver, nor a Class G1 or G2 driver,

(i)  has a demonstrated knowledge of the landmarks and geography of
the City, and

(iv) obtains a taxi owner's endorsement on the application form that
he/she will be employed as a taxi driver.

A taxi driver, who for any reason during the term of their current Taxi
Driver's Licence, fails to maintain a valid Ontario Driver's Licence, shall
forthwith report the loss of such licence to the Chief of Police or designate
and surrender his/her Taxi Driver’s Licence.



22.

23.

24,

(c) A taxi driver who has surrendered his/her Taxi Driver's Licence may apply
for a new Taxi Driver's Licence upon reinstatement of their valid Ontario
Driver's Licence and their ability to satisfy all conditions of this By-Law.

(d) A taxi driver who fails to report the loss of their valid Ontario Driver's
Licence pursuant to Section 21.1 is guilty of an offence.

Every taxi driver shall keep a photo identification/licence card in plain view by
affixing it to the front of the left shoulder of their exterior clothing while on duty.

(@)  Every taxi driver who is operating a taxi, shall upon request, produce their
photo identification/licence card to a Police Officer.

(b)  Photo Identification/Licence cards are the property of the North Bay Police
Services Board and every taxi driver who is suspended or surrenders
his/fher Taxi Driver's Licence pursuant to Section 21(2) of this By-Law shall
forthwith surrender such card to the Chief of Police or designate.

No person shall drive a Wheelchair Accessible Vehicle unless:

(a) they have obtained a Taxi Driver's Licence in accordance with this By-
Law, and

(b)  they have provided satisfactory proof to the Chief of Police that they have
successfully completed a course in CPR (Cardio Pulmonary
Resuscitation) and First Aid.

OWNER'S LICENCE

25.

26.

No person shall operate or permit the operation of a taxi within the City, except
under the authority of a valid Owner's Licence or Wheelchair Accessible Vehicle
Owner's Licence, issued in relation to that taxi under this Part.

(@ An Owner's Licence shall only be issued when the Taxi Owner meets the
requirements of Section 12, has submitted the taxi for visual inspection by
the Chief of Police and produced satisfactory proof that:

(i) the taxi is ten (10) years of age (by subtracting the “year date” from
the current licence year),

(i)  the taxi possesses no less than four (4) doors, unless the taxi is a
van which must have no less than three(3) doors;

(i)  the taxi has a minimum of 100 cubic feet of interior cabin space and
be the sedan model, according to the manufacturer’s specifications;

(iv) the minimum seating capacity of the taxi is five (5), including the
driver;

(v)  seatbelt assemblies exist for all seating positions within the taxi;

(vii) the taxi is affixed with a taximeter in accordance with Section 61;
and

(vii) the taxiis insured in accordance with Sections 67, 68 and 69.

27. A Wheelchair Accessible Vehicle Owner's Licence shall only be issued when the

Wheelchair Accessible Vehicle Owner meets the requirements of Section 12, has
submitted the Wheelchair Accessible Vehicle for visual inspection by the Chief of
Police and produced satisfactory proof that the Wheelchair Accessible Vehicle:

(@) complies with R.R.O. 1990, Reg. 629, entitled Vehicles for the
Transportation of Physically Disabled Passengers, pursuant to the
Highway Traffic Act,



(b) complies with Canadian Standards Association Standard D409-M84
(Motor Vehicles for the Transportation of Physically Disabled Persons), or
D409-92 (Motor Vehicles for the Transportation of Persons with Physical
Disabilities), as amended,

(¢)  has been issued a valid Certificate,

(d) the taxi is ten (10) years of age (by subtracting “year date” from current
licence year),

(e) isinsured in accordance with sections 67, 68 and 69.

28. Taxi owners shall be required to prove ownership of the taxi which is the subject
of a licence. Where the owner of a taxi is a company or corporation, the
applicant shall be required to provide an affidavit disclosing the officers and
directors of the said company or corporation.

29. In the event of the death of a taxi owner or a taxi broker, the estate of the
deceased may apply to the Chief of Police to transfer the licence(s) of the
deceased to one or more immediate family member of the deceased, who are
either a spouse, sibling, or children of the deceased.

30. (a) No Owner's Licence or Wheelchair Accessible Vehicle Owner's Licence

shall be transferred to a different motor vehicle owned by the same Taxi
Owner, without the approval of the Chief of Police.

(b) An Owner's Licence or Wheelchair Accessible Vehicle Owner's Licence
shall not be transferred or sold to another taxi owner without the consent
of the Chief of Police.

31.  An Owner's Licence or Wheelchair Accessible Vehicle Owner's Licence issued
under this Part, unless socner revoked shall expire the last day of February of
the year following the date of issue, and shall only be considered valid after the
annual licence fee as illustrated in Schedule "A", attached, has been paid to the
North Bay Police Service.

32. (a) Taxi owners shall submit a Certificate for each vehicle based on the year

of the vehicle as set out below:

(i) 2 years of age or less — 1 inspection certificate per year

(ii) 3 to 4 years of age or less — an inspection every six months
(i) 5 to 8 years of age or less — an inspection every 4 months
(iv)  9to 10 years of age or less — an inspection every 3 months

(b) The age of the vehicle as referred to in Section 32(1) is calculated by
subtracting the year date of the vehicle from the current licence year.

(¢)  Such Certificates must be issued as a result of a safety inspection done
no more than two (2) weeks prior to the date the Certificate is provided to
the Chief of Police.

BROKER'’S LICENCE

33.  No Taxi Broker shall operate a taxi stand without a valid Broker’s Licence, issued
under this Part.

34. Taxi Drivers’, and Brokers’ Licences, issued under this Part, unless sooner

revoked, shall expire on MARCH 31 of the year following the date of issue.



35. Taxi Brokers and Taxi Owners, shall upon request, and no more than two (2)
times a year, submit to the Chief of Police, in prescribed form, a list of licenced
persons in their employ including their names, addresses and licence numbers.

36. Taxi Brokers, shall upon request, and no more than two (2) times per year,
submit to the Chief of Police, in prescribed form, a list of properties used as Taxi

Stands by that brokerage.

PART I
RULES
37. No taxi driver shall consume or be under the influence of liquor or illicit drugs

while in charge of a taxi.

38. No taxi driver shall take or possess liquor, except in accordance with the Liguor
Licence Act, while operating a taxi.

39 (a) No taxi driver shall smoke in a taxi, and
(b)  No taxi driver shall permit any person to smoke in a taxi.

40. (a) No taxi driver shall use a cellular phone while they are driving a taxi unless
the cellular phone is being used by means of a hands free device.

(b)  No taxi driver, owner or broker shail use a cellular phone to receive calls
from the public for taxi service.

41.  No taxi driver, while on duty, shall refuse service to any person at any time prior
to or during a trip, unless:

(a)  the person refuses to give their destination;
(b) the driver has reason to believe the person poses a danger,

(¢) the person is in possession of an animal other than a medical assistance
animal;

(d)  the driver has knowledge that the person has not paid a previous fare or
appears to be unable or unwilling to pay the fare and has been unable or
unwilling to satisfy the driver that he/she has the funds to pay the fare; or

(e) the person is unruly, obnoxious or abusive.

42. A taxi driver shall only convey as many passengers as there are properly
installed seatbelts in the taxi.

43. A taxi driver shall not permit a taxi to be hired for more than one specific trip for
the transportation exclusively of one passenger or group of passengers, except
with the prior consent of the first passenger, or group of passengers.

44. A taxi driver, upon termination of any trip, shall immediately search their taxi to
determine if any property may have been left therein, and all property or money
recovered shall be delivered forthwith to the rightful owner, if known, or
immediately turned over to the Police Service as found property.

45,  No taxi driver shall possess or operate a Citizen’s Band radio, radio scanner, or
any other two-way radio, other than the taxi dispatch radio, in or near a taxi or
taxi stand.

46. Every taxi driver shall be properly dressed, neat and clean in their person, and be
civil and well behaved when operating a taxi.



47.

48.

49.

50.

51.

52.

53.

54.

55.

96.

(a)  Every taxi owner who disposes of a taxi and acquires another in its stead,
shall, before using the taxi apply for and obtain a transfer to the Owner’s
Licence or Wheelchair Accessible Vehicle Owner's Licence to apply to the
newly acquired taxi.

(c) Every taxi owner who applies for a transfer of an Owner's Licence must
comply with section 26.

{c) Every taxi owner who applies for a transfer of a Wheelchair Accessible
Vehicle Owner's Licence must comply with section 27.

No taxi broker, taxi owner, or taxi driver shall change the place of their stand or
business without prior notification to the Chief of Police and payment of the fee
outlined in Schedule "A" attached.

No taxi owner or taxi broker shall employ a person to provide the services of a
taxi driver who has not:

(a) obtained a licence under this By-Law, and
(b)  complied with section 48 of this By-Law.

No taxi broker shall permit a taxi owner to operate a taxi in respect of which a
deficiency notice has been sent if the deficiencies have not been repaired within
the time allowed by the Chief of Police.

No taxi owner, taxi driver or taxi broker shall publish or use a tariff or demand or
receive rates and charges other than those authorized by this By-Law, whether
such rates and changes are determined by distance or by time.

A taxi driver shall conspicuously display a tariff card on the left sidewall of the
interior of the taxi above the taxi driver's seat.

No taxi owner or taxi broker shall permit a citizen’s band radio, radio scanner, or
any other two-way radio, other than the taxi dispatch radio to be installed in or
operated from or near a taxi or taxi stand.

No person, who is licenced under this By-Law, shall use deceit or falsehood, or
mislead any person in an attempt to induce that person to engage the services of
a taxi.

No person shall park or stand a taxi on property owned by the Corporation or on
a highway in the City for the purpose of soliciting a ride or fare unless such driver
is:

(a) taking on a passenger who has already engaged the taxi;
(b) discharging a passenger from a taxi;

(c) under the direction to remain by a passenger by whom the taxi is already
engaged and in the continuance of such trip; or

(d} in a loading zone, in the 100 block of Main Street East and Main Street
West, between 9:00 p.m. and 6:00 a.m.

No taxi owner or taxi driver shall operate, permit to be operated, or assist in the
operation of any Wheelchair Accessible Vehicle unless the Wheelchair
Accessible Vehicle:

(a) complies with R.R.O. 1990, Reg. 629, entitled Vehicles for the
Transportation of Physically Disabled Passengers, pursuant to the
Highway Traffic Act,



(b) complies with Canadian Standards Association Standards D409-M84
(Motor Vehicles for the Transportation of Physically Disabled Persons) or
D409-92 (Motor Vehicles for the Transportation of Persons with Physical
Disabilities,

(c) has been issued a valid Certificate, and

(d) is insured in accordance with sections 68, 69 and 70.

PART Il
EQUIPMENT
57. No taxi owner or taxi driver shall operate, permit to be operated, or assist in the
operation of any taxi unless the taxi is:

(a) equipped with an extra tire and wheel ready for use,
(b) clean and in good repair as to its exterior,

(c) clean, dry and in good repair as to its interior, and has sound and fit
upholstery, and

(d) s free from mechanical defects.
58. A Police Officer shall not be prevented from inspecting a taxi that is not engaged
for the purpose of ensuring compliance with these requirements.

59. A Police Officer may check taxis from time to time {o ensure compliance with
photo identification/licence card and tariff card requirements under this By-Law.

60. Every taxi owner shall have affixed to each taxi in respect to which they are
licenced, a taximeter which shall register distances traveled and compute fares to
be paid.

61. Upon request of the Chief of Police, every taxi owner shall submit any taximeter
for inspection, approval, and sealing by the Chief of Police.

62. Upon a change to the power train of the taxi, which may affect the taximeter,
every taxi owner shall advise the Chief of Police who may cause an inspection of
the taximeter

63. Every taximeter shall be:

(a) illuminated between dusk and dawn,

(b) attached to the taxi in a location and manner approved by the Chief of
Police,

(¢}  adjusted in accordance with the tariff prescribed by Schedule “B" of this
By-Law,

(d) tested by running the taxi to which it is attached over a measured track or
distance before being sealed,

(e) used only when the seal therein is intact or after due notice has been
given by the Chief of Police and authority has been obtained to operate
until the taximeter has been resealed,

{f used for not longer than twelve (12) months without retesting and
resealing,



10

(g) kept in good working condition at all times and not used when defective in
any way, and

(h)  any subsequent re-sealing in a licence year will be subject to a fee as set
out in Schedule “A” of this By-Law.

64. Every taxi owner shall, as a condition of the licence, display on the roof of every
taxi belonging to them an illuminated sign that:

(a)  bears the name of the taxi stand from which the taxi operates, and

(b) is connected to the taxi meter whereby the light on the roof sign shall be
caused to go out when the taximeter is in the recording position.

65. (a) Every taxi owner shall, as a condition of their licence, display a number
plate issued by the Chief of Police, bearing the number of the licence for
the current year on the rear bumper of the taxi cab.

(b) Such number plate shall not be sold, given or transferred to a different taxi
or taxi owner, without the prior approval of the Chief of Police.

(c) If a taxi owner no longer operates a particular motor vehicle as a taxi then
the number plate issued by the Chief of Police in relation to that taxi shall
be returned to the Chief of Police.

66.  Every taxi owner shall procure a policy of insurance and a certificate of insurance
endorsed to the effect that the Board shall be given at least five (5) days notice,
in writing, of any cancellation, expiry or change in the amount of the policy and
deposit a copy of the policy and certificate of insurance thereof with the Board.

67. Insurance policies shall insure the taxi owner and taxi driver of such taxi against
loss or damage resulting from bodily injury or death to passengers as well as
others and against damage to property in an aggregate maximum of not less
than two million dollars ($2,000,000.00) for all claims in any one (1) accident,
exclusive of interest and costs.

68. Insurance policies and certificates referred to in sections 67,68 and 69 of this By-
Law shall be deposited with the Board before the taxi owner commences
operation of the insured vehicle as a taxi and shall be kept in force by such taxi
owner during the period for which the licence was issued to them. The Chief of
Police, upon notice to the said taxi owner, may suspend the licence and seize the
number plate, in the event that the owner has not complied with this section.

69. Each taxi owner, who cancels, suspends or fails to renew their insurance, shall
notify the Chief of Police, in person, forthwith, when they do so and shall turn in
the number plate for said vehicle to the Chief of Police. The taxi will not be put
back in service until all insurance criteria as set out in sections 67, 68 and 69
have been met. Upon providing satisfactory proof of insurance, the number plate
will be returned to the owner.

PART IV
INSPECTION
70. For the purposes of this Part "MAJOR MECHANICAL DEFECT" means a
mechanical defect or defects indirectly related to any part or parts of the motor
vehicle involving or affecting the:
(@)  brakes or braking system;

(b) steering system;

(c) suspension system;



11

(d)  underbody;
(e) exhaust system, or
(f tires.

71. The Chief of Police, if he has reasonable grounds to believe a taxi is unfit, may
give a taxi owner or taxi driver written notice requiring such owner or driver at
their own expense, to submit the taxi for examination by an approved mechanic
within twenty-four (24) hours. If reasonable grounds exist that indicate that the
taxi is unsafe or dangerous, such examination can be demanded forthwith and
the number plate may be seized by the Chief of Police.

72. (a) Every taxi owner or taxi driver who receives notice from the Chief of
Police, either verbally or in writing, that a taxi is not in fit and proper
condition for use, shall within a reasonable time frame as allowed by the
Chief of Police, correct the identified deficiencies to the satisfaction of the
Chief of Police.

(b)  If deficiencies are not corrected within the time allowed by the Chief of
Police, the taxi owner or taxi driver shall take the said vehicle out of
service until repairs are made or deficiencies corrected. The number plate
will be removed, given fo the Chief of Police, and returned to the owner
once repairs are made or deficiencies corrected.

73. (a) Every taxi owner, or taxi driver, who fails to submit taxis for examination
by a mechanic, as required by this By-Law is guilty of an offence.

(b)  The Chief of Police may suspend the taxi owner’s licence and seize the
number plate, until the taxi is tested, inspected and approved.

74. When a licenced mechanic reports that a taxi is mechanically or otherwise
defective or due to a major mechanical defect has failed an examination, the taxi
owner's licence and number plate shall be seized by the Chief of Police, and
shall remain in their possession until such time as an approved and licenced
mechanic certifies that all defects are corrected and the taxi is issued a
certificate.

75. Where a report is made under section 76, of this By-Law, the taxi owner shall be
required to atiend before the Board to determine whether or not his licence
should be suspended.

76. A copy of any deficiency notice given to a taxi owner, or faxi broker may be sent
by ordinary prepaid mail and shall be deemed to have been received three (3)
days after being mailed.

PART V
RECORDS
77.  Every taxi owner and taxi broker shall keep a record of the date, time, origin and
destination of each trip, the name of the driver and the number of the taxi. Such

information shall be maintained for twelve (12) months and surrendered for
examination on request of any Police Officer.

78.  Every taxi owner and taxi driver, when requested, shall provide any Police Officer
with full information on the address of any house or place to or from which they
have driven any passenger and the description, nhame and address of the
passenger, if known.



12

PART VI

FARES
79.  Every taxi driver shall charge the rate or fare indicated in Schedule “B" of this By-
Law. That rate or fare is to be indicated on the taximeter. A taxi driver shall not

be entitled to payment if the rate or fare is not as indicated on the taximeter or if
the taxi driver has refused to show the tariff card.

80. The tariff in Schedule “B” shall not apply where the taxi owner or taxi broker is
operating under a valid contract between the taxi owner or taxi broker and a
recognized School Board or an organization which handles the transportation of
the physically or mentally disabled, which contract has been approved by the
Chief of Police.

81. Limousines that are not operated under radio dispatch and limousines engaged
for services of a minimum of four (4) hours prior to the start of the trip are exempt
from this By-Law.

82. When a passenger first enters a taxi, taxi drivers shall immediately place the
taximeter in a recording position and the taximeter shall remain so throughout the
trip. At time and place of discharge the fare charged shall be as indicated on the
taximeter and the taximeter placed in a non-recording position.

83. Every taxi driver shall take the shortest possible route to the destination desired
unless the passenger designates another route.

84. A taxi driver and passenger may, prior to the commencement of a trip, agree to a
flat rate in the event a trip extends beyond the limits of the City. In such case
however, the taximeter must be in the recording position at all times that the taxi
is within the limits of the City.

85. No taxi owner or taxi driver shall charge any fee to any passenger for:
(a) lost time through defect or inefficiency of the taxi;
(b}  the incompetency of the taxi driver thereof; or

(c) standing time at a call, when the taxi attends in advance of the time
requested by the cailer.

PART Vii
ENFORCEMENT AND PENALTY

86. Any person who contravenes any provision of this by-law is guilty of an offence
and on conviction is liable to the penalties as provided by the Provincial Offences
Act, R.S.0. 1990, c. P.33, as amended, or any successor thereto and the
Municipal Act, 2001, S.0. 2001, c. P.25, as amended, or any successor thereto.

87. A director or officer of a corporation who knowingly concurs in contravention of
any provision of this by-law by the corporation is guilty of an offence and on
conviction is liable to the penalties as provided by the Provincial Offences Act,
R.8.0. 1990, c. P.33, as amended, or any successor thereto and the Municipal
Act, 2001, $.0. 2001, c. P.25, as amended, or any successor thereto.

88. Any police officer, provincial offences officer, or employee of the City whose
duties include the enforcement of this by-iaw, is authorized to enforce this by-law
pursuant to the provisions hereof, the Municipal Act, 2001, S.0. 2001, c. P.25, as
amended or any successor thereof, and the Provincial Offences Act, R.S.0.
1990, c. P.33, as amended, or any successor thereof.



89.

90.

91.

92.

(@)

(b)

13

Any person who is authorized to enforce this by-law pursuant to Section
87 may enter on land at any reasonable time for the purpose of carrying
out an inspection to determine whether or not this by-law is being
complied with or a condition of a licence issued under this by-law is being
complied with or to determine if an Order by any court of competent
jurisdiction prohibiting the continuation or repetition of an offence has been
complied with.

For the purposes of the above-noted inspections, the person authorized to
enforce this by-law may:

(i) require the production for inspection of documents or things
relevant to the inspection;

(i} inspect and remove documents or things relevant to the inspection
for the purpose of making copies or extracts,

(i)  aquire information from any person concerning a matter relating to
the inspection; and

(iv)  alone or in conjunction with a person possessing special or expert
knowledge, make examinations or take tests, samples or
photographs necessary for the purposes of the inspection.

Any person authorized to enforce this by-law has the power to undertake
inspections pursuant to Orders made by a provincial Judge or Justice of the
Peace pursuant to Section 438 of the Municipal Act, 2001, 8.0. 2001, c. P.25, as
amended, or any successor thereto.

By-Law Numbers 06-2002, 06-2005, 04-2006, 02-2007 and 01-2010 of the North
Bay Police Services Board are hereby repealed.

By-Law Numbers 05/2010, 06/2010, 02/2011 and 02/2012 of the North Bay
Police Services Board are hereby repealed. Amendments are as follows:

(a)
(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(M

(9)

(h)

)

@)
(k)

Amend - section 13 —~ change reference to section 121(b) to 12(b).

Amend - section 26 (1) (a) to read: the taxi is ten (10) years of age (by
subtracting the “year date” from the current taxi licence year).

Amend - section 27. (d) to read: the taxi is ten (10) years of age (by
subtracting the "year date” from the current taxi licence year).

Amend - section 32 (1) (b) to read: 3 to 4 years of age — an inspection
every 6 months.

Amend - section 32 (1) (¢c) to read: 5 to 8 years of age — an inspection
every 4 months.

Amend - section 32 (1) (d) to read: 9 to 10 years of age — an inspection
every 3 months.

Amend - section 65 (a) to meet the Accessibility for Ontarians with
Disabilities Act and read: Every taxi owner shall, as a condition of their
licence, display a number plate issued by the Chief of Police, bearing the
number of the licence for the current year on the rear bumper of the
taxicab.

Amend - section 26, 27 and 69 when referencing sections 68, 69 and 70
to sections 67, 68 and 89.

Amend - section 68 when referencing sections 68 and 69 to read sections
67, 68 and 69.

Amendments - to Schedule B sections 1, 2, 6, 7 and 8.

New — Schedule B section ¢ - Clean-up fee of $50.00.



14

READ a first time this 13" day of May, 2014 .
READ a second time this 13" day of May, 2014 .
READ a third time and passed this 13" day of May, 2014

This By-Law is in force and effect on the 13" day of May 2014.

Denis O’'Connor Carol Miller
Chair Secretary



I5

SCHEDULE “A” TO BY- LAW NO. 20

Fees to be paid by taxi brokers, owners and drivers under the within By-Law are as
follows:

Taxi Broker — Original Licence

Taxi Broker — Renewal of Licence

Taxi Broker — Transfer of Broker's Licence

Taxi Owner's Licence for each vehicle

Renewal of Taxi Owner's Licence per vehicle
Change by Taxi Owner of vehicle during the term
of a licence

Taxi Owner — Transfer of Owner's Licence
Wheelchair Accessible Vehicle Owner's Licence
for each vehicle

Renewal of Wheelchair Accessible Vehicle
Owner's Licence per vehicle

Change by Wheelchair Accessible Vehicle Owner
of vehicle during the term of a licence
Wheelchair Accessible Vehicle Owner — Transfer
of Owner's Licence

Taxi Driver —Licence (includes phato)

Taxi Driver — Renewal of Licence (includes photo)
New Licence Applicant Test

Change of Stand By Taxi Owner/Broker

Change of Stand by Driver/Dispatcher
Replacement of photo identification/licence card
(loss, theR or change of stand or name) Driver/Dispatch
Replacement of number plate

Resealing of Taximeter in a licence year

& & =] e eh H|en (R |eh|en

$
$
$
$
$
$

All fees include HST

The fee payable for a Taxi Owner's Licence does not include the fee charged
for a taxi mechanical fitness inspection where specifically ordered by the Chief
of Police.

The fee payable by a Taxi Broker does not cover the licence fee for any taxi
vehicle owned by such broker. If they are also an Owner, they must pay the
Licence Fee indicated for the vehicles owned by them.




16

SCHEDULE “B"” TO BY - LAW NO. 20

THE FOLLOWING TARIFF OF RATES SHALL BE CHARGED FOR USE OF EVERY
TAXI OPERATING UNDER THE WITHIN BY-LAW. ALL RATES HAVE HS.T.
INCLUDED.

1.

For each trip originating within the City of North Bay there shall be a charge for
the first 100 meters or part thereof of actual transportation traveled a fare of
$4.20 and for each 51.42 meters or part thereof of actual passenger
transportation travel, a fare of $0.10, which is equivalent to $1.94 per km.

For each period of waiting, while the vehicle is fully stopped there shall be a
charged amount of $30.81 per hour, prorated per second.

Where two or more passengers are carried from a common starting point to two
or more destinations, the fare to be paid by each passenger shall be as follows:

(a The passenger first disembarking shall pay the tariff shown on the
taximeter at the point subject to any legitimate extras.

(b)  The taximeter shall be then reset. The passenger next disembarking shall
pay the tariff shown on the meter at their destination, subject to any extras
and so on in a like manner until all passengers have been discharged.

()  Whenever two or more passengers disembark at the same place, each
shall pay their proportionate share of the charge registered at the point
where they disembark.

Where a passenger enters a taxi, which is already engaged in carrying one or
more passengers, the occupants of such taxi shall pay the fare to the point where
such subsequent passenger or passengers embark. The taximeter shall then be
reset and the person or persons so embarking shall be responsible for the fare to
the common destination or to a point where one or more additional passengers
embark, whereupon the taximeter shall be reset. This procedure shall be carried
on until parties have reached their common destinations.

A taxicab engaged in carrying a passenger shall not depart from its direct route
to its engaged destination without the consent of the passenger being so carried.
If the taxi, with such consent, deviates from its route to pick up a passenger
otherwise than at the direction of the passenger then engaging the taxicab, the
taximeter shall forthwith be turned off and the passenger so carried shall be liable
to pay their fare only up to that point.

All transportation rates which are set out in this Schedule shall be amended on
an annual basis to reflect changes in the Consumer Price Index as published by
Statistics Canada from the year previous.

5TH

The changes as indicated in paragraph 6 shall take effect February 1 each

year.

In order to comply with the change in rates as set out in paragraph 6, taxi owners
shall have 15 business days from February 15™ to have their taxi meter
inspected and re-sealed.

Where a passenger enters a taxi and causes a situation where it must be
cleaned before the taxi can be operated again, the taxi owner is permitted to
charge the passenger a cleaning fee of no more than $50.00. This fee is not
associated as a transportation rate and shall not be subjected to provisions
related to the Consumer Price Index. Any attempts to collect outstanding
cleaning fees shall be deemed as a civil litigation process and will not involve the
North Bay Police Service.



FROM

NORTH BAY POLICE SERVICE

MEMORANDUM

22 April 2014
Chief Paul Cook

: Staff Sergeant R. Dubeau

SUBJECT: April 10, 2014 Taxi Meeting

A Public meeting was held on April 10, 2014 regarding the North Bay Police Services

Board Taxi By-Law. Ms. Karen Pendergast, the Traffic Administrative Assistant, took
minutes of the meeting.
Recommendations:

1. Change Section 13 — change 121(b) to 12(b).

2.

Change 26. (1) (a) to read “the taxi is ten (10) years of age (by subtracting the “year
date” from the current taxi licence year)".

Change section 27. (d) to read “the taxi is ten (10} years of age (by subtracting the
“year date” from the current taxi licence year).

Change section 32 (1) (b) to read “3 to 4 years of age — an inspection every 6
months”.

Change section 32 (1) (c) to read "5 to 8 years of age — an inspection every 4
months”.

Change section 32 (1) (d) to read “9 to 10 years of age — an inspection every 3
months”.

Change section 65 (a) to meet the Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities Act
and read “Every taxi owner shall, as a condition of their licence, display a number
plate issued by the Chief of Police, bearing the number of the licence for the current
year on the rear bumper of the taxicab”.

M2



Page 2 of 2

8. Change section 26, 27 and 69 “sections 68, 69 and 70" to “sections 67, 68 and 69".

9. Change section 68 "sections 68 and 69" to read “sections 67, 68 and 69".

10. Schedule B section to include paragraph 2 for the increase of Canadian Price Index.
For Consideration of the Board:

11.“Clean-up” fee of $50.00 added in the posted fares.



Report on Recommended Changes to the North bay Police Service Board
Taxi By-Law 05/2010

Attachments:

1. Taxi By-Law recommended changes

2. Analysis for changes to the Taxi By-Law
3. Minutes of April 10, 2014 meeting

4. Duties of Municipalities and Taxicabs — Accessibility for Ontarians with
Disabilities Act

5. Hara Associates Inc Sudbury Taxi Regulation analysis and Peer
Comparison

Submitted by:
Staff Sergeant R. Dubeau

(6, April 25, 2014



Analysis of Taxi By-Law No. 05/2010

Introduction:

A Public meeting was held at the North Bay Police building on April 10, 2014 regarding
Taxi By-Law No 05/2010.

The meeting was initiated due to the way that By-Law Section 26 and Section 27, the
age of the taxi vehicle was being interpreted differently by the Supervisors that have
been in charge of the Traffic Section over the last couple of years, The purpose was to
have the wording corrected to be clear, not “grey” and subject to interpretation.

The Service assisted Hara Associates from Ottawa in a report to Greater Sudbury City
regarding the Taxi industry. The company provided our Service with a copy of the
report. “Taxi Regulation Analysis and Peer Comparison”, and will be cited in this report.

Issues:

John and Katherine Strang, the owners of U-Need-A-Cab, suggested that there be a
task force put in place to look at replacing the present system of using the Canadian
Price Index (CPI) as the factor for the annual increase. Page 39 of the Hara Associates
Report suggests the CPI, or a Taxi Cost Index which is more challenging to maintain.
The final recommendation was to use the CPI for the annual increase. The CPl is
published by Statistics Canada annually and it is recommended that we keep this
system in place.

A second suggestion was to have the Certificate of Insurance and proof of insurance
showing every licenced driver is insured and that there be notification from the
Insurance Company if such insurance is cancelled at any time. The Insurance
companies were contacted and advised that since the North Bay Police Service is not
their client, they would not provide such documents unless requested by their clients.
The present By-Law covers insurance under Sections 26, 27, 67, 68 and 69 of the By-
Law. The insurance is confirmed annually and at the time a new taxi vehicle replaces
an old taxi. The recommendation is to not change the present system.

For consideration of the Board:
The final suggestion from Katherine Strang was to have a “Ciean-up” fee of $50.00

added in the posted fares. This would address the issue of when an inebriated
customer gets sick in the taxi.



Page 2 of 4

On Page 34 of the Hara Associates Report states “This is always a disaster. The
disincentive can be reduced by including a “cleaning fee" on posted fares (e.g., $50).
While it is not always possible to collect such a fee, it provides a quick standard for
settlement when the fee can be collected.”

Ottawa posts such a fee and Sudbury has recently adopted this rule. If the person does
not wish to pay this fee, the taxi company would still have to take the client to small
claims court to recuperate the cleaning cost.

| leave this to the Board for discussion and to decide, as it is only when a person does
get sick in their taxi vehicle and only if the person is willing to pay.

Concern:

A suggestion from Mr. and Mrs. Strang was to increase the drop rate which is currently
at $4.20. The companies are frustrated that this rate has not increased over the years.
Attempts have been made to explain to them that it increases with the CPI and is
measured by distance and not dollar value.

In 2009, the drop rate was $4.20 and the distance was 59.56 meters and travelling 5 km
cost $12.60 and in 2014 the drop rate remains at $4.20 but the distance is 51.42 meters
and travelling 5 km cost $13.90.

It is of note that the drop rate remains the same, with the distance decreasing to equal
the CPI increase. Looking at the chart on Page 37 of the Hara Associates Report, it
shows we have a high drop rate when comparing other cities used in the report, but we
are average when it comes to a 5 km trip.

The recommendation is to not change our present system at this time but to look into
adopting another system to regulate the increases as the present system will have the
drop rate at $4.20 but eventually, the meters to travel will be in the negative.

It is recommended that ancther public meeting with the Taxi owners can be held to
discuss the system used for rate increases and having accountants assist in selecting a
proper system that is fair to the Taxi industry and the public that utilizes the service..

Recommended Changes:

1. Change Section 13 to read 12(b) instead of 121(b).

This seems to have been a typing error as there is no Section 121 and relates to
Section 12(b).



Page 3 of 4

. Change Section 26(1) (a) to read “the taxi is ten (10) years of age (by subtracting
the “year date” from the current taxi licence year).

This issue was raised in 2007 to change the taxi vehicles age from 8 to 10 years
of age, however the By-Law is worded presently to read “less than 10 years of
age".

. Change Section 27 (d) to read "the taxi is ten (10 ) years of age { by subtracting
the “year date” from the current taxi licence year)”

This issue is similar to Section 26. It appears to have been raised in 2007 to
change the taxi vehicles age from 8 to 10 years of age, however the By-Law is
worded presently to read “less than 10 years of age”.

On Page 41 of the Hara Associates Report it states: “more broadly, the more
common approach is to extend vehicle age limits for accessible taxis as an
incentive. The impact on safety is moderated by the fact that, when a typical
adapted family van is used, the high maintenance costs usually limit the life span
of the vehicle in any event. Having a more flexible age limit for accessible vans
allows operators to find low kilometer used vans to offset the cost of customizing
them with a wheelchair lift."

. Change Section 32 (1) (b) to read "3 to 4 Years of age — an inspection every 6
months.

The existing By-Law only states how many certificates need to be submitted per
year, but there is no set time as to when the certificates are to be submitted.
Certificates could be provided all in one month and would comply with the
existing By-Law. The By-Law requires an amendment to specify when the safety
certificates are due for the vehicles.

. Change Section 32(1) {c) to read “5 to 8 years of age — an inspection every 4
months.

Same as Item 4), the existing By-Law only states how many certificates need to
be submitted per year, but there is no set time as to when the certificates are to
be submitted. Certificates could be provided all in one month and would comply
with the existing By-Law. The By-law requires an amendment to specify when the
safety certificates are due for the vehicles.

. Change Section 32(1) (d) to read “9 to 10 years of age — an inspection every 3
months.



Page 4 of 4

Same as tem 4), the existing By-Law only states how many certificates need to
be submitted per year, but there is no set time as to when the certificates are to
be submitted. Certificates could be provided all in one month and would comply
with the existing By-Law. The By-law requires an amendment to specify when the
safety certificates are due for the vehicles.

7. Change Section 65 (a) to meet the Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities Act
to read “Every taxi owner shall, as a condition of their licence, display a number
plate issued by the Chief of Police, bearing the number of the licence for the
current year on the rear bumper of the taxicab,”.

The Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities Act, 2005-0O.Reg 191/11 under
the Duties of Municipalities and Taxicabs states the "Duty of municipalities,
taxicabs” under “Section 80.(2), any municipality that licenses taxicabs shall
ensure that owners and operators of taxicabs place vehicle registration and
identification information on the rear bumper of the taxicab. In order to comply
with this Act, the By-Law must be amended.

8. Change Section 26 (1) (g), 27 (e) and 69 “Sections 68, 69 and 70" to “Sections
67, 68 and 69".

This change is needed to correct an error and omission regarding section
numbers.

9. Change Section 68 “Sections 68 and 69" to read “Sections 67, 68 and 69".
This change is needed for an omission regarding a section number.

10. Schedule B Section to include paragraph 2 for the increase of the Canadian
Price Index (CPI).

Similar to the Canadian Price index yearly increase for Section 1, the cost for the
period a taxi is waiting, while the vehicle is fully stopped should increase yearly.



NORTH BAY POLICE SERVICE

Taxi By-Law Meeting
April 10", 2014 at 10:00 a.m.

Attendance:

Staff Sergeant Rick Dubeau, Sergeant Dan Webber, Constable Joe Whitehead, Karen
Pendergast, Bart Krouse (Union Taxi), Nora Long (MAAC), Shari Hyatt (CLNB), Adam Miller
(MAAC), Nicky Neal (5-0 Cab), Katharine Strang (UNAC), John Strang (UNAC) and Paul
Lanouette (5-0 Cab).

Chairperson:

Chief Paul Cook

Minutes of Meeting

John Strang suggested that the meeting be started off by Staff Sergeant Dubeau speaking first on
the potential changes to the existing Taxi By-Law.

Staff Sergeant Dubeau spoke in relation to amendments to the By-Law as follows:
Section 13 be amended to read section 12(b) instead of 121(b) in order to correct typo.

Section 26 and 27 be amended to read that the year date for the vehicle to include end of the taxi
licence plate renewal, which would be February instead of December.

Section 32 be amended to have a set time for safety certificates. The existing By-Law only states
how many certificates per year, but there is no set time as to when the certificates are to be
submitted. By-Law requires amendment to specify when the safety certificates are due for
vehicles,

Section 65 be amended to “in a manner to be clearly visible on the rear bumper of the taxi
vehicle”, instead of “in a manner to be clearly visible”.

Schedule “B” Section 6 in relation to the CPI, Section 2 should read the same,



Minutes cont’d ... page/2

Discussion was open to the floor.

John Strang responded to Section 26 and recommended to change the wording to increase the
age of vehicles to 10 years and also to increase the age of the accessible vehicle to 10 years.

Section 67, 68 and 69 be amended to read that Insurance Certificates be submitted on a yearly
basis with safety certificate. It was suggested that this become mandatory and be enforced across
the board. It was recommended that the Certificate of Insurance and proof of insurance showing
every licenced driver is insured and that there be notification from the Insurance Company if
such insurance is cancelled at any time.

In relation to rates it was agreed that Schedule 2 should be included in Schedule 6. CPI does not
cover increases and there is approximately 16% off the top in government taxes. It was
suggested that there be a task force made including the taxi industry and the NBPS Traffic Office
to take a look at where it’s going. Staff Sergeant advised that a comparison would be done with
other cities to see where North Bay fits in compared to others.

Chief Cook advised that the Consumer Price Index (CPI) is reasonable on an annual basis and at
that time he suggested an annual By-Law meeting be held to discuss possible changes and
concerns.

Paul Lanouette spoke in relation to concerns on the cost of operation. Insurance for all drivers is
up by $4000 for two vehicles and the industry is down. He also spoke in relation to the life of
taxi vehicles and where to decide on expiry of that vehicle. Staff Sergeant Dubeau spoke as
previously, to make the end of the year to be February instead of December and to increase the
age of the vehicles to 10 years.

Chief Cook spoke in relation to insurance certificate and suggested that a process be put in place
for reporting and submitting proof of insurance, which would include a letter being received
from the insurance company if the insurance was to be cancelled for any reason.

Bart Krouse suggested that a 48 hour letter from the insurance company be made mandatory and
he was advised that the By-Law would be amended to reflect this.

Nicky Neal spoke and agreed with increasing the age of the vehicle to 10 years and to have that
year end February instead of December, the same time plates are up for renewal. Also agreed
that the Accessibility vehicles be 10 years, same as the other taxi vehicles, with proper safety
inspections due when required.



Minutes cont’d.....page/3

Paul Lanouette wished clarification on the By-Law amendment in relation to the age of the
vehicle. It was clarified that the By-Law would be amended to increase the age of vehicles to 10
years and in the 10™ year when plate renewal is received, the vehicle will be good to February
not December of that year. It was also clarified that safety certificates will be amended to read
that such certificates will be due on a quarterly basis.

Bart Krouse wished to discuss the “drop rate” and would like to see at least 5 cents added to this
rate, [t was suggested that there be an increase in the drop rate, per km rate and the wait rate and
drop rate to be included in CPI.

Katharine Strang advised that she has done research with comparators and suggested that a
clause be put in the By-Law that a “Clean-up” fee of $50.00 be added, which will help with some
of the damage to taxi vehicles during the normal course of business.

Bart Krouse spoke in regards to taxi vehicles downtown and police moving the taxi vehicles
along. He was advised that it has been reported that taxi vehicles are lining up and it is
becoming a traffic hazard issue leaving streets as one lane access to the public, which is also a
hazard to pedestrians.

John Strang suggested that there be mandatory taxi stands and he was advised that this is an issue
with the City of North Bay and not the North Bay Police Service. Chief Cook advised him to
write a letter to the City and he in turn will write a letter of support.

Nora Long wished to discuss Accessible Taxis. She was advised that the City has met with
Police and John Strang who holds the contract. She was advised that there are approximately 4
trips per day over a year. Most people are ambulatory and are asking for a parabus and there has
been no need for a wheelchair accessible vehicle. Originally there were 6 wheelchair accessible
plates and if they were not used on the vehicle, they were revoked. One exists now and that is
with UNAC. The needs of disabled persons are being met by fully accessible City transit which
is 100% accessible. It does not operate after 11:00 p.m. because there is no call for it. The
service is provided, but there is not enough business there for other taxi companies. John Strang
advised that he has purchased a new accessible vehicle which will be ready next week.



Minutes cont’d.....page/d

Adam Miller wished to discuss that there has to be 48 hours notice required for the parabus. He
was advised to bring this concern to the attention of the City and ask why there is so much notice
required. It was suggested that the Committee speak on behalf of the issues and concerns in
relation to the parabus, such as the notice required and the parabus being full. Taxi vehicles take
overflow, but are not able to accommodate. They were advised that the City has 6 parabus
vehicles that stop working at 6:00 p.m.

Paul Lanouette advised that the payback is not there for parabus vehicles for the taxi business.

Chief Cook advised that a report would be prepared in relation to this meeting and changes to the
By-Law. This report will be presented at the Police Service Board meeting scheduled for the
second Tuesday in May 2014.



Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities Act, 2005 - O. Reg. 191/11 Page 1 of 2
DUTIES OF MUNICIPALITIES AND TAXICABS

Duties of municipalities, general

78. (1) Any municipality that provides conventional transportation services shall consult
with its municipal accessibility advisory committee, where one has been established in
accordance with subsection 29 (1) or (2) of the Act, the public and persons with disabilities in
the development of accessible design criteria to be considered in the construction, renovation or
replacement of bus stops and shelters. O. Reg. 191/11, 5. 78 (1).

(2) Every municipality to which subsection (1) applies shall identify planning for
accessible bus stops and shelters, including any steps that will be taken to meet the goal of
accessible bus stops and shelters, in its accessibility plan required under Part I. O. Reg. 191/11,
s. 78 (2).

(3) Where a municipality has entered into arrangements with a person respecting the
construction of bus stops and shelters in its jurisdiction, the municipality shall ensure that the
person participates in the consultation and planning as described in subsections (1) and (2).
O.Reg. 191/11, 5. 78 (3).

(4) Municipalities shall meet the requirements of this section by January 1, 2013. O. Reg.
191/11, s. 78 (4).

Duties of municipalities, accessible taxicabs

79. (1) Every municipality shall consult with its municipal accessibility advisory
committee, where one has been established in accordance with subsection 29 (1) or (2) of the
Act, the public and persons with disabilities to determine the proportion of on-demand
accessible taxicabs required in the community. O. Reg. 191/11, s. 79 (1).

(2) Every municipality shall identify progress made toward meeting the need for on-
demand accessible taxicabs, including any steps that will be taken to meet the need, in its
accessibility plan required under Part 1. O. Reg. 191/11, s. 79 (2).

(3) Municipalities shall meet the requirements of this section by January 1, 2013. O. Reg.
191/11, 5. 79 (3).

(4} In this section,

“accessible taxicab” means an accessible taxicab as defined in section 1 of Regulation 629 of
the Revised Regulations of Ontario, 1990 (Vehicles for the Transportation of Physically
Disabled Persons) made under the Highway Traffic Act. O. Reg. 191/11, 5. 79 (4).

Duties of municipalities, taxicabs
80. (1) Any municipality that licenses taxicabs shall ensure that owners and operators of

taxicabs are prohibited,

(a) from charging a higher fare or an additional fee for persons with disabilities than for
persons without disabilities for the same trip; and

(b) from charging a fee for the storage of mobility aids or mobility assistive devices.
O.Reg. 191/11, s. 80 (1).

(2) Any municipality that licenses taxicabs shall ensure that owners and operators of
taxicabs place vehicle registration and identification information on the rear bumper of the
taxicab. O. Reg. 191/11, s. 80 (2).

(3) Any municipality that licenses taxicabs shall ensure that owners and operators of
taxicabs make available vehicle registration and identification information in an accessible
format to persons with disabilities who are passengers. O. Reg. 191/11, s. 80 (3).

http://www.e-laws.gov.on.ca’html/regs/english/elaws regs 110191 e.htm 3/26/2013



zcessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities Act, 2005 - O. Reg. 191/11 Page 2 of 2

(4) The information in subsection (2) shall meet the requirements of subsection 58 (3).
0. Reg. 191/11, 5. 80 (4).

(5) Municipalities described in this section shall meet the requirements in this section,

(2) by July 1, 2011, in respect of subsection (1); and
(b) by January 1, 2012, in respect of subsections (2) and (3). O. Reg. 191/11, s. 80 (5).

http://www.e-laws.gov.on.ca/htmi/regs/english/elaws_regs 110191 _e.htm 3/26/2013



City of Greater Sudbury

Taxi Regulation
Analysis and Peer Comparison

P .

Hara -
Associates



Sudbury Taxi Regulation

Analysis and Peer Comparison

Prepared for:

City of Greater Sudbury

By:
Hara Associates Inc.

Bayswater Square, 1066 Somerset Street West, Suite 406, Ottawa, Ontario, K1Y 4T3
613-722-5528, 613-482.4901 (fax), www.haraissociates.com/taxi

Hara Associates Reference: 1544
January 29,2014



TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.1
1.2
1.3
14

21
2.2

51
5.2
53
5.4
55

6.1
6.2

8.1
8.2
8.3
84

Taxi Numbers — Does Sudbury Have ENOUBHY ......cceisnierenserseienseascoseessessssrsssonssssscssuass 2

WHEN DO YOU HAVE ENOUGH TAXIS? ..onroriiinieniinisiniisiasiaesmeseeisenr o s ais st st st sab s e a1 aaa gnasass s sassassnnasnests 2
COMPARISON WITH OTHER CITIES: TAXIS PER CAPITA ..o et s st s 3
ESTIMATING SUDBURY TAXI DEMAND ....ocorvrircriiissiinsrarrssrsbsssssisssmesissasiareasinstin s snsetsstsatsassssssssiasssasnasns seses 4
OTHER EVIDENCE OF SUFFICIENT TAXE SUPPLY ...iotiiiainnimrniinsssrssnsssassissisenssnesarsisisnisisnsssrasssassnasansnsssrusassnsnes 7

ZOMIBS 1vvvrereesenessesossasessssassessossnssssassessnssssssassasstsossassneseressesssrnasssssantsasssssssssassssssssrassrasssns 7

COMPARISON TO OTHER CITIES...coviovieerrerrerisisssisissinsinsersssiossesessssessrendssasssteronsasiossastasssssassssnnes dssgsssssasntisas sasss
POTENTIAL IMPACTS OF MERGING ZONES

Managing TaXi NUMDETS .....cvecveeiiiserssesserssasessesssessensssasesssasssassnarsnssasassoscssssssassasssassers 17

The Waiting LiSt fOr TaXi LICBNSES ....veerersissssssssessssessnsserssnssassessssnssessessenssssresssssssssesns &2

IMProving RUFAl SEIVICE ... .civiricsiieseiarsrrssstrsnrrasrsstsstasssstssassssasssassnnsessssssnsssassassonsssansas 22

UNIQUE CHALLENGES FOR SUDBURY ..ocoiieiiniiiiiiiniienieriasasssssssssssssnsnssian s sssatsstsasssrostssbass s enss sssassss sssnasasses 22
REQUIRING COMPUTER-BASED GPS DISPATCH w.civiiirrsntiniris e s s s s nss s s s sranesgasssassssssssanesas 23
CENTRAL DISPATCH VERSUS THE INTERNET ....coevtiriniarissnsiinesmnsssnseasininessnarercssbabssssssassaisnsanssasnatsussmnensss sissnasens 24
CANCELLATION FEES FOR BOOKINGS VIA SMARTPHONE AND CREDHT CARD ACCOUNTS ...ocovninvnisisnrnnsenrnns 28
POSSIBLE INNOVATION: POSTED SERVICE AREAS.......cociiiverrrisessinsisiosssncsntasinsisissamrarsnssbassssnss sssntsssassssases 28

Accessible Taxi Service and AODA ......ccocerevsrenseorssssessssssessssnsassesssssrrasassasssssssassossssnnans 29

MUNICIPAL DUTIES FOR ACCESSIBLE TAXI SERVICE ...vvuvvevsnreseessessessesensinsissistrstssrons ssssssssmsssassassssassossnsnsossarss 29
ACCOMMODATING OTHER DISABILITIES AND THE AODA .....ucvovrrrisirsisearmssnsimssminssssssssessesssspassssssssrssssssssiass 30
IMProving Service at Bar CIOSING ......cocecerceevsresisesnercseniesssastsssenasssesnssssnsnssssissssastonssessen 32
OLRET ISSUBS ceoverrereresriesssncssrssseassessoassassssessscssssssssssssarsssssssasssnsssstessnsssasssnassnasonsssnnassnss S
DRIVER REQUIREMENTS ... cvevveessesessssssssossssesserrossstosssssssssssassrsassessssosseessessboeses st sbtossissesssnsssssss asrassadssbassassos 34
MANAGING METER RATES w.oviviirsisrerierensesssssrassrsssrasissresaressassas sassesssssrasrasestissas st ssssssssstsessessstnsasssesassasasssssness 36
LICENSE FEES -.vevereermeoeeeremmens basbassssssnsssssssossesssestastassessasesesssssssniansass sesiorsstenesossessassassbesbassassassssstsnissbsnsinssssusioss 40
VEHICLE AGE, INSURANCE, AND MANAGEMENT OF LICENSE RENEWAL ...cocovimiimiriirermeieissessssssrassesssssssassase 41

APPENDIX A: Peer Cities




Executive Summary

The City of Greater Sudbury was created in 2001 when the cities and towns of the former regional
municipality were amalgamated. A 2003 bylaw merged the former municipalities’ taxi regulations, and
established a system of two geographic zones. The urban core (Zone 1) carried forward from the old City
of Sudbury the common urban practice of limiting the number of licenses. The surrounding area became
Zone 2, with lower regulatory requirements intended to encourage any qualified operator to provide
rural and small community service.

In the decade since, Greater Sudbury has matured as a single municipality. City Council has requested
the zone system of taxis be re-examined. In particular, Council has asked that the feasibility of a one-
zone system be investigated. It has been noted that other regionalized municipalities in Ontario operate
their taxis in a single zone.

This report analyzes the potential merging of taxi zones. It also provides comment and
recommendations on other issues concerning Sudbury taxis. These include methods of improving rural
service and service to persons with disabilities, as well as such administrative issues as insurance and
driver record checks.

The report daws upon:

e Sudbury’s taxi regulation history, as informed by previous Hara Associates’ work in Sudbury
when the 2003 bylaw amalgamating taxi regulation was developed.

s Asurvey of current practice in peer Ontario municipalities selected for this purpose (Barrie,
Kingston, North Bay, Sault Ste. Marie Thunder Bay, and Timmins).

¢ Analysis of the factors determining likely taxi demand growth in Sudbury.

» Comparison with broader taxi regulation practices in North America. Most relevant for Sudbury
is the rapidity of technological change, which is affecting taxi service delivery throughout the
continent.

The report is also informed by stakeholder consultations conducted by City staff, and surveys of users
and taxi drivers conducted by Oraclepoll Research,

Merging Zones

It is recommended that Sudbury’s two zones now be merged into a single operating area, applying the
current rules and restrictions from Zone 1. Excluding the airport licensees, Zone 2 taxis constitute only
twenty of Sudbury’s 131 taxis. The open-entry and lower requirements for Zone 2 taxis have not
resulted in more rural taxis. Instead, numbers have declined. in 2002 there were 29 taxis operating in
Zone 2.! There are now just 20, only 14 of which are not focussed on the airport franchise. This is a small
proportion of Sudbury's total taxi fleet of 131,

Rule changes, economics, and consumer preference have resulted in the bulk of Sudbury service being
provided by taxis licensed for Zone 1. To a large extent, merger appears to have happened already.

! There were actually 49 licensed, but an estimated 20 were speculative licenses taken out in advance of the
municipal merger.

Hara Associates




ii Executive Summary

A full merger is expected to result in:

e« More efficient use of taxis and less deadheading. At present, if you are in downtown Sudbury
and a Zone 2 taxi drops off a customer in front of you — you may not take that now empty taxi if
your next destination is still downtown. The taxi must leave empty, and you must seek another
Zone 1 taxi. A similar problem happens rurally, although less visibly — a Zone 1 taxi may be near
your home and wanting to take you — but you cannot use them. The rural customer gets slower
service, and the Zone 1 taxi returns to the urban core - empty.

s  Greater incentive to serve the outer areas. A taxi taking a passenger from the urban core to a
smaller community would be able to book local fares after they get there.

¢ Improved service at large community events. With only 131 taxis, Sudbury can easily have large
events in either Zone 1 or Zone 2 for which all the fleet’s capacity is needed.

¢ Better handling of bar closing. Bar closing on weekends is a regular event where the combined
capacity of the Zone 1 and Zone 2 fleets is needed. At present, an empty Zone 2 taxi obeying the
rules must refuse bar patrons a trip home if they are going to Zone 1. This can lead to angry
incidents.

¢ Improved ability to provide professionally equipped fleets. Modern taxi dispatch systems
require significant investment in vehicles, equipment, and software. An integrated market
creates more room for larger operations, or the integration of smaller companies using shared
service dispatch companies.

Extending Zone 1 Rules to the Whole

Where rules differ, it is suggested that the more stringent rules of Zone 1 apply to the new, single zone.
Importantly, this includes setting a limit to the total number of taxis. Setting limits to taxi numbers is a
common practice for sound policy reasons. The taxi industry’s role as a residual employer makes it
vulnerable to excessive number of taxis when there is an economic downturn. The resulting periods of
low revenue per taxi drive good quality operators out of the market, and risk public safety with poorly
maintained vehicles.

Continuing to limit total taxi numbers will also respect historical investments made by Zone 1 operators
in expectation of continued limits, and support the increased equipment requirements that will be
necessary to modernize Sudbury’s fleet and provide equitable service to people with disabilities.

The extension of limits to the whole fleet will also benefit current Zone 2 operators with a more
protected market. The study recommends against suggestions for punitive or special penalties to
reclaim these benefits. Current Zone 2 operators will have to face the more stringent equipment
requirements of Zone 1, and participate in any modernization that is required of the fleet. Note also that
prior to amalgamation, some of the Zone 2 jurisdictions had their own taxi license limits. In part,
restoring the limits is giving back something that previously was removed.

Numbers of Taxis

For ongoing management of taxi numbers, the report finds that Sudbury’s current number of taxis is
within a normal range for cities with Sudbury’s demographic and income characteristics. To manage
numbers of taxis in the future, a revised per capita formula is recommended based on current numbers
of taxis and population. In the longer term, it is suggested that Sudbury begin to require monthly
volume and performance reports to establish the basis for more sophisticated management of taxi
numbers in the long run. Of particular concern is that a per capita formula will not capture increases in
taxi demand due to such factors as the aging population, higher costs of private car ownership, and
changing car ownership habits by all ages.

Hara Associates



Executive Summary iii

It is also recommended that Sudbury’s waiting list for new taxi licenses, now closed, be respected until it
is exhausted. Once exhausted, it should be replaced with a lottery among taxi drivers active in Sudbury
for at least the 24 months previous. Lotteries avoid giving individuals expectations that might complicate
further reforms, such as being at the top of a list. Putting the focus on experienced drivers encourages
the preferred owner-driver taxi model.

Rural Service and Modernizing the Fleet

The Sudbury taxi market sustains only a small fleet, one that is expected to serve a large geographic
area. The thin coverage creates problems for rural service, including identifying the closest taxi available
for dispatch from among several companies.

As an important first step, it is recommended that all taxis be required to participate in a modern
computer-based GPS dispatch service. Benefits include improved ability to identify the closest taxi
automatically in real time, better safety for passenger and driver, immediate retrieval of lost items,
improved performance monitoring for fleet managers and regulators, and electronic trip sheets (saving
drivers considerable time and aiding in investigation of complaints).

This does not mean that every small operator needs to have an expensive system. As with current bylaw
requirements for 24 hour dispatch, smaller firms can develop a relationship with larger firms. If cannot
reach a satisfactory arrangement locally, they can turn to dispatch service firms that use modern
telecommunication equipment to serve multiple cities and companies throughout Ontarioc.

Central Dispatch and Emerging Smartphone Apps

Traditional central dispatch is not recommended. Although having all taxis on one system, especially on
one computer screen, would help dispatch the closest taxi to a rural call, the disadvantages of such a
system outweigh the benefits. The City of Sudbury likely does not wish to be seen as responsible for any
failure of dispatch, or pay for the cost of providing such a system. it is preferable that competition
between companies determine when and how to upgrade dispatch systems, given the constant
improvement in technology.

The good news is that most of what central dispatch provides can be
achieved fairly quickly using the smartphone apps that are now rolling out in
larger cities across North America. These apps allow customers see available
taxis near them on a map display on their phone {or on their personal
computer). The press of a button can summon the nearest one.

The less good news is that there is more than one business model behind
these apps (a list of web sites is provided}. Some of these business models
encourage unlicensed drivers. Others bypass traditional taxi dispatch in ways
that are controversial among traditional taxi companies that provide the taxi.
Regulators in affected cities are grappling with these problems. Some have
even found themselves in a costly, litigious, and time consuming adversarial
position vis a vis the app services.

A two-pronged regulatory approach is recommended. The first is to Hailo Smartphone App Showing
amend the bylaw so that Sudbury has some control over the type of app Available Taxis

that is used dispatch licensed (or unlicensed) vehicles in the city. The

second is to issue a request for information {(RFI), for proponents who would provide a central app to
Sudbury at minimal cost to the City. Potential respondents include local taxi operators who may want to

Hara Associates



iv Executive Summary

provide their own apps, or team with companies offering the type of app that works in partnership with
taxi companies.

Additional Options to Improve Rural Service

Additional options to improve rural service are discussed, including the constructive use of cancellation
fees, allowing companies to declare their service areas in exchange for a duty to serve rural areas.

Serving Wheelchair Users, and Accommodating Other Types of Disability

The Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities Act (AODA) sets a number of requirements for
municipalities and for taxi operators. These are separate from the AODA requirements for public transit.
Because taxis and private sedans are often used to meet the AODA requirements for public transit, there
is a risk that these become confused with the AODA requirements for the taxi industry itself.

Municipalities are required to consult with the disability community and produce a plan and a timetable
to achieve an equitable level of accessible taxi service. Sudbury is still completing this process.

Separately, taxi operators themselves are responsible for meeting accessibility requirements for other
forms of disabilities. This applies to all taxi operators, regardless of size.

To aid the industry, and to serve citizens with sight
and hearing disabilities, it is recommended that
Sudbury plan to take advantage of the Passenger
Information Monitor (PiM). A PIM is a screen in the
back of the taxi facing the customer to which a
credit card swipe is attached. PIMs enable all
customers to swipe their own cards in the back
seat, and offer real time clearance of the card, GPS
trip display, a means of registering customer
feedback, tourist information, as well as
accommodation of visual and auditory disabilities.
The sound, programmability, and touchscreen of a
PIM enable mechanisms like the “triple tap” which
turns on features such as a voice readout of the
meter.

Passenger Information Monitor showing real-time trip
progress ona map

Formal accessibility standards for using the PIM are still being developed. Because PIMs are integrated
with the credit card system, they can be obtained at subsidized rates or for free. PIM implementation
should be planned over the medium term to work with the normal equipment renewal cycle. A
necessary precondition for PIMs is the general adoption of GPS based computer dispatch.

Drive Abstracts and Vulnerable Sector Checks

It is recommended that the screening requirements for taxi drivers be upgraded in two ways. First,
applicants should provide driver abstracts. Sudbury is alone among its peers in not requiring this.
Second, the requirement for criminal record check should be replaced with the more stringent
vulnerable sector check. The latter includes pardoned convictions, family court restraining orders,
criminal charges still pending, and the circumstances of previous contact with the police.

These requirements pose additional costs on applicants, but benefit public safety. Vulnerable sector
checks are often needed in any event for school contracts and other social service contracts. The advent
of digital finger-print recognition has reduced the processing delays that been of concern in the past,

Hara Associates



Executive Summary v

Meter Rates

Sudbury's meter rates are compared with other cities and found to be in the upper middle of peer cities
(Figure E.1). ltis recommended that future rates be reviewed on an annual basis, replacing the current
formula based exclusively on gas prices with a broader index capturing other costs as well. Either the
Consumer Price Index or the development of Taxi Cost Index is recommended. Sudbury’s smaller peers
use the convenience of the CPI, while best practice in larger cities is to develop a cost index based on the
local cost of taxi operations.

As a general indication, the CPI has increased 5.9% since meter rates were last adjusted in 2010 to
accommodate HST harmonization, or 7.0% if you measure from the previous 2008 meter rate
adjustment to refiect industry costs. Note that the CPI will not have captured any recent jump in
Sudbury taxi insurance prices, and that the net impact of HST harmonization was less than the 8% given
the industry due to the introduction of HST input credits on fuel and other items. Applying a 5.9%
increase to meter rates would increase the 5 kilometer fare to $14.93 - leaving Sudbury’s relative
ranking among other peer cities unchanged.

Other Issues

Sudbury and Thunder Bay are among the tightest jurisdictions on age of taxi vehicles, indicating some
flexibility if Sudbury wishes to relax requirements in this area. Relaxing requirements would also open
the door for potential use of longer lasting purpose-built taxis that offer alternative approaches to
accommodating a mix of wheelchair passengers and other passengers. If Sudbury merges zones, it
would be consistent with peer practice to adopt the higher $2 million third party liability requirement
for the combined area. The practice of staggering renewal dates was correlated with the size of
available staff among peers. As a larger municipality within this group, Sudbury may wish to consider
smoothing staff workflow by staggering renewal dates. A variety of methods for improving service at
bar closing are also suggested.

[ Figure E.1: Meter Rates for a 5 Kilometer Fare (Distance Only)
——— S N
gig l ez 51649 $15.50 -
$14 | 513,15 : ;
512
$10 | 924
38 |
54 ]
$2 |
s0 | _— =2
Timmins North Bay Sault Ste.  Thunder Bay Barrie Kingston and
(Estimated) Marie Loyalist
{(minimum County
rate)

Hara Associates




Sudbury Taxi Regulation - Analysis and Peer Comparison

The City of Greater Sudbury was created in 2001. Among the challenges of amalgamating several
municipalities was combining different taxi regulations. The former City of Sudbury followed the
common urban practice of limiting the number of taxis permitted to operate. The rights associated with
these limited licences had accumulated a value, At the time, the worth of a Zone 1 licence was
estimated at $30,000, although evidence discussed in this report suggests the value is significantly less
today.

At the time of merger, the surrounding municipalities were following a mixture of polices. Some took
the approach characteristic of small communities and rural areas—to encourage service, they allowed
any qualified applicant to obtain a taxi license. In these municipalities, there was no limit on the number
of taxis. Without limits, there was no value to these licenses beyond the value inherent in the vehicle,
equipment, etc. Three municipalities in addition to the City of Sudbury, set limits to the number of taxis
(Valley East, Nickel Centre, Capreol}, but in none of these had licenses accumulated significant
independent value.

The compromise, established in bylaw in 2003, was to establish a two-zone system for taxis. Zone 1 was
the urban core represented by the former City of Sudbury, while the balance of the new city was
designated a single Zone 2. The number of taxi licenses was limited in Zone 1, but open to any qualified
entrant in Zone 2. The airport was recognized as an independent entity within Zone 2 {now termed Zone
2 “plus airport” or Zone 2A), and was, in part, under its own management with respect to taxis.

Now, a decade later, Greater Sudbury has matured as a single municipality. City Council has requested
the zone system of taxis be re-examined. In particular, Council has asked that the feasibility of a one-
zone system be investigated. It has been noted that other regionalized municipalities in Ontario operate
their taxis in a single zone. The advantages of a single zone include a better capacity of the fleet to meet
peak demands such as bar closing on weekend nights, and high attendance events held at locations
outside the urban core. However, concern about maintaining rural taxi service remains.

This report is intended to assist the City in making decisions on zones and other taxi bylaw matters. it is
based on:

« Sudbury’s taxi regulation history, as informed by previous Hara Associates’ work in Sudbury
when the amalgamated bylaw was developed (Greater Sudbury Taxi & Limousine Study, Hara
Associates 2003).

e A survey of current practice in peer Ontario municipalities {Barrie, Kingston, North Bay, Sault
Ste. Marie Thunder Bay, and Timmins).

o Analysis of the factors determining taxi demand growth in Sudbury, through application of
Hara Associates’ taxi demand model.

o Comparison with broader taxi regulation practices in North America. Relevant to some of
Sudbury’s issues is the rapid technological change occurring throughout North America in the
delivery of taxi service. Taxi equipment, and the way people call for a taxi, is changing because
of mobile internet connections and smartphone apps. These in turn are affecting how the taxi
industry is organized, and how regulators ensure good public service.

Hara Associates




2 Sudbury Taxicab Regulation -Analysis & Peer Comparison

The report is also informed by stakeholder consultations conducted by City staff, and surveys conducted
for the City by Oraclepoll Research. Oraclepoll surveys of Sudbury residents and taxi drivers included
replication of baseline questions established in the Hara Associates 2002/03 report. This study provides
analysis and recommendations on:

« Zone structure. Feasibility, methods, and impacts of moving to a single zone structure.

e Numbers of taxis. Adjustments to the number of taxi licenses for the contemplated single tier
structure.

e Service to outlying areas. Options to ensure service levels in outlying areas are maintained in
the context of a single zone structure. Options to be considered include standards for dispatch
equipment and taxi companies and/or the potential centralization of dispatch operations.

e Bar closing. Options for improving service to the downtown at bar closing.

e Declaration of value. Whether the city can require the value of licenses to be declared when
taxi licenses rights are transferred between license holders.

« Licensing fees. Current annual licensing fees compared to other municipalities.

e Meter rate update method. Meter rate calculations compared to best practices in other
municipalities.

In addition, the report provides commentary on comparative practices for:
e Driver application requirements
e Age of vehicle
s [nsurance coverage
s Administration of license renewals

s Methods of allocating new taxi licenses (e.g., waiting lists or alternatives).

1 Taxi Numbers - Does Sudbury Have Enough?

Before analyzing the impact of zone merger, it is helpful to assess whether Sudbury's current number of
taxis are adequate to meet customer demand. If supply is tight, the industry is profitable and the costs
of change are easier to absorb. The flexibility to issue more licenses to meet unfilled demand can be
used to solve a number of problems, such as clearing Sudbury’s current waiting list for Zone 1 taxi
licenses.

Unfortunately, analysis suggests that Sudbury has sufficient taxis to meet present demand. This section
reviews the evidence leading to this conclusion.

1.1 When do you have enough taxis?

In simplest terms, there are too many taxis when the supply of taxis exceeds demand by customers.
However, customer demand is not a constant. There are peak and off-peak times. For example, no city
has enough taxis to meet demand at the moment that bars close on a weekend night. Severe weather
also produces shortages of taxis, even when a city may be otherwise oversupplied. Under normal
circumstances, we expect the number of taxis to be sufficient to meet demand during an average peak
period, omitting extremes. This ensures that customers can usually count on being able to obtain a taxi
at any time of day during the week, other than known times such as bar closing, without excessive
delay.

Hara Associates



Sudbury Taxicab Regulation - Analysis & Peer Comparison 3

In a well-designed system, taxis wait for customers, rather than customers waiting for taxis. We expect
that during average peak periods, an efficient system will average a few more taxis than customers to
absorb random variations in demand. Since taxi shifts cover peak and off-peak hours, adequate capacity
in peaks means that we expect to see excess taxis in off-peak hours, even in an efficient system.

1.2 Comparison with other cities: taxis per capita
Sudbury has 131 total taxis as of the time of this report. These include:

s 111 taxis licensed for Zone 1 {the urban core). These may pick up in Zone 2, provided the trip is
coming back to Zone 1. These include 8 wheelchair accessible taxis who may also provide
wheelchair service on request to all zones.

e 14 taxis licensed to Zone 2. These may pick up in Zone 1, provided they are coming to Zone 2

e 6Zone 2 plus airport. These are the only taxis entitled to pick up at the airport under the
current “closed stand” airport taxi contract.

Six Ontario municipalities were selected for a peer comparison to Sudbury. Selection was based on
population, size, and separation from the continuous urban agglomeration of Toronto and southwestern
Ontario. Descriptions of each jurisdiction are provided in Appendix A.

Table 1: Peer Municipality Taxi Licensing

City Population Number of Taxis formula Over Formula?
Census 2011*
Timmins 43,165 60 60 taxis x
North Bay 53,651 79 {91 authorized) 91 taxis x
Sault Ste. Marie 75,141 36 None Not Applicable
Thunder Bay 108,355 90 1:1500 v
Barrie 136,063 199 1:1500 \J
Kingston and .
Township of Loyalist 139,584 e 1:800 v
1:1000
Sudb 160,274 131 v
urv {Zone 1 only)

¥ Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 98-316-XWE. Released October 24, 2012 (Barrie revised on September 9, 2013).

Table 1 summarizes taxi numbers and the approach to taxi limits in each jurisdiction. Of note is the
following:

e Limits to taxi numbers is the norm. Even among smaller municipalities, setting limits to the
number of taxis is the norm. Only Sault Ste. Marie has no explicit limit. New entrants must
receive approval of the Police Services Board. Qualified new entrants are welcome according to
the current officer in charge.

o Per capita formulas typical for larger peer cities. The four largest cities in the group, including
Sudbury, all have per capita limits built into their taxi bylaw. Formulas range from one taxi per
800 population in the regional taxi authority of Kingston and the Township of Loyalist, to one
taxi per 1,500 population for Barrie and Thunder Bay.

Hara Associates



4 Sudbury Taxicab Regulation -Analysis & Peer Comparison

s Larger peer municipalities have more taxis than their per capita limit. The four largest
municipalities also have more taxis licensed than provided for by their per capita formulas. In
Sudbury’s case, the recent addition of former airport licensed taxis to Zone 1 has taken Zone 1
taxis to above the one taxi per 1,000 formula for the Zone 1 boundaries. This is a relatively
unusual situation, and may be related to stagnant economic growth in parts of Ontario.
Normally, adjustment of taxi numbers tends to lag behind urban growth

» Only Sudbury has a zone system. This difference may be related to geography, and is analyzed
further in the section on merging zones.

Figure 1 compares Sudbury to peer cities on a taxis per capita basis. The difference in per capita taxis
between cities is quite wide — there is no “normal”. Numbers vary according to both history and
geography. Sudbury’s 8.2 taxis per 10,000 people (for all zones combined) is substantially lower than
four of the cities, but matches Thunder Bay and exceeds Sault Ste. Marie. Interestingly, although Sault
Ste. Marie has no limit on the number taxis, it has the lowest number of taxis per capita.

Figure 2 compares Sudbury taxis per capita to some of Canada’s larger municipalities. Here again there is
a wide variation driven by individual city circumstance. For example, prairie cities are spread out
geographically and tend to have high levels of private household car ownership. As a result, their per
capita taxi requirements tend to be lower. The same might be said of Mississauga, where a substantial
portion of the population commutes to neighboring Toronto in private vehicles.

1.3 Estimating Sudbury taxi demand

The taxis per capita comparison shows there is a wide variation in the numbers among cities. To better
account for factors other than population that affect taxi demand, Hara Associates maintains its Taxi
Demand Model. It is a proprietary regression-based model that estimates the demand for taxis as a
function of:

s population
cost to the customer (meter rates)
propartion of commuters
proportion of low income population
length of winter
local cost of car ownership

By accounting for all these factors rather than simply population, the Demand Model has demonstrated
itself to be a statistically valid predictor of the number of taxis required by a municipality. As a statistical
model, it does not generate a single estimate, but provides a high-low range within which 90% of cities
with Sudbury’s characteristics are expected to fall. Falling outside this range could be cause for concern.
The model also provides a central, or “best”, estimate.

Figure 3 shows the results for Sudbury over the period 2003 to 2013. The solid green line is taxi supply -
the number of authorized licenses. The combined zone fleet begins at 130 vehicles after the inception of
the new bylaw, expanding to a high of 139, and then declining to 126 in 2005 due to the closure of ABC
Taxi. In 2006, application of the bylaw formula for population growth resulted in the issue of new taxi
licenses for Zone 1, bringing the total to 134, Records have not been consolidated for 2007 to 2012;
however, there were 127 taxis in total in 2012. In 2012, the airport decided to award its taxi stand to a
single contractor. To accommodate this, the city issued a net of four more Zone 2A plates to the new
operator bringing the combined fleet to a total of 131 taxis — approximately where Sudbury stood a
decade previously. To offset the impact on taxi operators who were not successful bidders for the
airport contract, former Zone 2A licenses were converted to Zone 1 plates by motion of Council. This last

move did not affect the totals for combined zones, although it is reported to have impacted the revenue
of the other Zone 1 licensees.

Hara Associates



Sudbury Taxicab Regulation - Analysis & Peer Comparison 5

Figure 1: Taxis Per 10,000 Population
Peer Ontario Muncipalities

25 | {
20 |

|

I
10 ‘ 8.2
5 |
0! __

Timmins North Bay®*  Sault Ste.  Thunder Bay Barrie Kingstonand  Sudbury
Marie Loyalist

*North Bay excludes seven licenses privately held but not in service,

Figure 2; Taxis Per 10,000 Population
Other Selected Canadain Muncipalities®

30

25

20

15 |

15” Illllll

2 L 2 Qé’
\Q? «\‘ & & & & ga & § s‘z
0 ) "l’;b o Ky Qer K o‘s Qﬁ\ (‘0
‘ob@ “'\{s“’\ \!‘0 = K A ,gi‘ 4’&‘\

*Source: Taxicab Regulation in North America, Hara Associates {2010).

Hara Associates



6 Sudbury Taxicab Regulation -Analysis & Peer Comparison

The red lines in Figure 3 show estimated taxi demand using the Demand Model. The solid red line is the
central estimate, Sudbury’s population growth over the period has been positive, but small. Movements
in demand are largely driven by other factors. Estimated taxi demand increased from 2003 to 2007
largely due to the rising cost of private vehicle ownership for Ontario residents. Meter rates were
adjusted fairly regularly over this initial period, but in 2008 there was a substantial rise that increased
the real cost of taxis to users. At the same time, the recession beginning that year lowered the cost of
operating a private vehicle, beginning a decline that reached bottom around 2009. From 2009 to 2011,
the recovery and rising fuel prices again made taxis a competitive alternative to private vehicle
ownership, reinforced by conservatism in adjusting meter rates.

Figure 3: Sudbury Taxi Demand and Supply
{Hara Associates Demand Model)
200
Y PP A
250 | gttt e e A
A A
200 b y
A A... 170
2 T
Biso 130 136 27 1
100
S0
0 i L
2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
Year
so-qp-+ 90% Lower ——Taxi Demand  ---&-- 90% Higher  —— Actual Number of Plates

Final estimated taxi demand for 2013 is a best estimate of 106 taxis, with a range between 70 and 159.
The confidence interval is wide because the model recognizes that Sudbury’s smaller population is at the
low end of the range of cities on which the mode! was developed, resulting in greater uncertainty
around the central estimate. However, the difference between Sudbury’s 131 taxis and the best
estimate of 106 is partly because the model is focussed on double-shifted taxis of larger cities, whereas
many Sudbury taxis are single-shifted, especially in Zone 2. When taxis are single-shifted, there are more
taxis in total. Thus, the 106 estimated demand for taxis is very close to the actual number of Sudbury
taxis once single shifts are accounted for. It is also close to the current 111 taxis licensed for Sudbury’s
urban core (Zone 1).

According to the Taxi Demand Model, Sudbury’s taxi demand today is not very different from that of
2003. Adjusting for the significant presence of single-shifted taxis, Sudbury’s present number of taxis is
well within the estimated requirements for cities with the same population and other demographic
characteristics as Sudbury. The model findings suggest that at present, Sudbury has an adequate number
of taxis.

Hara Associates



Sudbury Taxicab Regulation - Analysis & Peer Comparison 7

1.4 Other evidence of sufficient taxi supply

In addition to reviewing Sudbury’s demographics over time, actual events in the recent evolution of
Sudbury’s taxi industry were examined. Particularly significant is the decline in taxi numbers with the
closure of ABC in 2005 — a firm with Zone 1 licenses.

In 2002/2003, Sudbury stakeholders reported that zone plates had value as high as $30,000. Had plate
values increased since then, this would be suggestive of a developing shortage of supply (resulting in
busy taxis and higher plate value). Available evidence suggests that instead, plate values have fallen.
Direct data on the value of the license is not publicly available since the bylaw makes them non-
transferable as a separate asset. However, the rights to plates are transferable as part of the sale of a
business, especially when incorporation is involved. The bylaw recognizes the transfer of corporate
ownership by requiring notice of substantive changes.

In this context, it is surprising that a holder of multiple Zone 1 plates like ABC would go out of business in
a way that resulted in a net reduction of taxi plates. if taxi business volume warranted an evaluation of
$30,000 per plate for the right to operate, the normal result would have been to sell the business to
another operator — with no reduction in the overall active fleet serving Sudbury.

The historical drop in Zone 1 plate counts over the past ten years suggests that, at times, the actual
worth of Zone 1 Sudbury plates approached zero. Given that Sudbury’s population has not changed much
during the period, this corroborates the conclusion that Sudbury is not short of taxis at present.

2 Zones

Sudbury’s current two-zone system was originally recommended to preserve the value of the former
City of Sudbury licenses that had accumulated to City of Sudbury operators. Preservation of rural service
was also a consideration, but for different reasons than those currently put forward. The balance of the
new city (now Zone 2) was left open to any qualified operator to encourage qualified operators to
provide rural service.

This section compares the general structure of Sudbury to other cities, and then considers the potential
impact of merging zones.

2.1 Comparison to other cities

The six Ontario cities selected for peer comparison do not have zone systems. However, Sudbury is
significantly larger geographically and has a different population distribution. Figure 4 compares each
city’s size and road density using the same map scale. Municipalities are indicated in orange with red
lines for the road network. Also shown is Ottawa, an Ontario municipality that has been mentioned in
Sudbury consultations as an example of a large merger of municipalities that moved to a single taxi
zone,

Sudbury covers a larger area than most of its peers. Only Ottawa and Timmins are comparable in size.
Timmins, with a population less than one-third of Sudbury’s, has most of that population concentrated
around its urban core, as shown by the clustering of the road network. Thus, its practical service area is
closer to that of a smaller community. In contrast, Sudbury has a more dispersed population, with rural
development and population centres in its northern half, as well as the urban core in the south.,

Hara Associates



8 Sudbury Taxicab Regulation -Analysis & Peer Comparison

Figure 4: Comparative Size and Road Density of Municipalities

gl T TR 2 LI

Sault Ste. Marie

Thunder Bay
e T

North Bay Timmins

Adapted from Statistics Canadu, Census Subdivision Boundary File, 2013, Statistics Canada Catalegue ro. 92 162 X, Boundary

Files, 2011 Census. Statistics Canoda Catalogue no. 92 160 X, and Road Network File 2013. Statistics Canoda Catalogue no. 92
500-X. Responsibility for accurocy is Hora Associates’.

Hara Associates




Sudbury Taxicab Regulation - Analysis & Peer Comparison 9

Figure 5: Two Cities with Taxi Zones
Comparative Size of Sudbury and Wood Buffalo {(Fort McMurray)} Alberta

AR e R ey & Fl s i o
e s R R R AR PR
Ll i A : WL L 'y . o : L : . W kL 1

Regional Muncipalitv of WoodBuffalo . Sudbury and Peer Municipalities

Adapted from Statistics Canada, Census Subdivision Boundary File, 2013, Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 92-162-X, Boundary
Files, 2011 Census, Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 92-160-X, and Road Network File, 2013. Statistics Canoda Catalogue no. 92-
500-X. Responsibility for accuracy is Hara Associotes’.

Sudbury’s size and population distribution mean a zone system may make more sense than it does for
peer municipalities. For smaller municipalities, taxis in the urban core are closer to the periphery,
resulting in dispatch waits that may still be within the 15 to 20 minutes that customers expect. From a
taxi driver’s perspective, the extra five or ten minutes travel to the customer may still mean a welcome
trip, so long as the call does not come at peak demand. Even in busy and well-designed taxi networks,
taxis may spend more than half their time empty. This is an intentional result of taxi regulation — taxis
wait for customers, not customers for taxis.

For a city the size of Sudbury, dispatch times to the periphery from the core are longer. Calls to the
periphery are also more frequent because there are other population centres within the municipality.
This puts Sudbury in an unhappy middle compared to peers. Timmins is large, but its population is
concentrated around its urban core and calls to the periphery are infrequent. In Ottawa, a zone system
is not needed for the opposite reason — its periphery is well populated. Ottawa’s population is close to
one million, packing more than five times Sudbury’s population into an equivalent area. In addition, the
federal government’s National Capital Commission established a wide “green belt” around the urban
core where development was forbidden. This has led to the population being accommodated in large
satellite communities on the other side of the green belt and closer to the periphery of the municipality.
Thus, a call for a taxi from a rural area in the far west of Ottawa can usually be met within 15 to 20
minutes by a taxi already in the large western community of Kanata. The high density also means multi-
lane expressways run in several directions across the entire area, speeding the transfer of taxis from
local centres to rural callers,

The fact that Sudbury's peers do not have a zone system should not affect the assessment of whether a
zone system is right for Sudbury. Sudbury is uniguely large, with concentrations of population outside the
urban core that are different from its peers.

Hara Associates




10 Sudbury Taxicab Regulation -Analysis & Peer Comparison

The example of Fort McMurray

There are municipalities that have zone systems similar to Sudbury. One is the Regional Municipality of
Wood Buffalo. Located in northern Alberta, it includes Fort McMurray as its urban core. The municipality
encompasses a large part of Northern Alberta, including areas that in the winter can be accessed only by
ice roads that are rebuilt seasonally on lakes and frozen ground.

Wood Buffalo taxi regulations define three geographic areas, equivalent to Sudbury’s zones, First, there
is the urban core of Fort Murray and the nearby airport. Second is a “rural service area”. Third is the
“rural service area connected by ice road”. The meter rate is the same for all service areas, but
requirements for frequency of inspection and other regulations differ for each area. In addition, Fort
McMurray establishes flat rate fares for taking taxis from Fort McMurray to areas outside the urban
core. These flat rates are determined by a map with fare “zones” (a different use of the term than
Sudbury’s), running in approximate concentric circles around Fort McMurray. The map is adjusted for
actual distance along the highway network.

Fort McMurray and Sudbury share common elements that lead to consideration of a zone system. Both
are geographically large, and have concentrations of population away from the urban core. However,
distances in Wood Buffalo are greater than in Sudbury. The distance from Capreol to High Falls is
roughly 88 kilometers, and covers most of Sudbury.? An equivalent distance across Wood Buffalo by
highway, without including the area connected by ice road, is about 250 kilometers. Figure 5 compares
Sudbury to Wood Buffalo at the same map scale.

Another difference between Sudbury and Wood Buffalo is the size of the taxi fleet. Wood Buffalo’s
population is less than half of Sudbury’s but it has 350 taxis compared to Sudbury’s 131. The large fleet
services the traffic to and from the work camps. Wood Buffalo does not set limits to the number of taxis,
as its needs are highly variable because work camp activity varies with oil prices. When prices rise above
the threshold justifying new development of the oil sands, work activity increases.

2.2 Potential impacts of merging zones

Merging the two Sudbury zones into a single zone would mean that every licensed taxi would be able to
pick up and drop off anywhere in the greater city, excluding privately managed properties. Privately
managed properties include the airport, and any shopping malls or hotels that choose to locate taxi
stands on their own property and restrict access to companies they approve.

On the positive side, having a single zone would include these advantages:

o More efficient use of taxis. At present, if you are in Zone 2 and there is a Zone 1 taxi in front of
your house, you cannot use it unless you are going to Zone 1. You have to call a Zone 2 cab while
the Zone 1 taxi may go back empty.

¢ Less deadheading. This is the same issue from the taxi driver’s perspective: going home empty.

s Greater incentive to serve the outer areas. Currently, a Zone 1 taxi that takes a fare out to Zone
2 must decide whether to wait for a fare going back to Zone 1, or go back empty. With merged
zones, drivers could also take a fare originating within Zone 2. This increases the possibility of
additional trips and creates an incentive for accepting calls to outlying areas.

e Improved service at large community events. With only 131 taxis, Sudbury can easily have large
events in either Zone 1 or Zone 2 where all of the fleet’s capacity is needed. With a single zone,
all taxis can come and take customers where they want to go.

? As estimated by Google Maps on clear roads and posted speed limits.
Hara Associates




Sudbury Taxicab Regulation - Analysis & Peer Comparison 11

Better handling of bar closing. A regular example of a large event is the hour of bar closing on
Friday and Saturday nights in Zone 1. In theory, the streets may be full of bar patrons seeking a
taxi home, while Zone 2 taxis have to refuse many of them because they are not going to the
right area. This can lead to some confused and angry incidents, which, in turn, discourages taxi
drivers from coming out to serve this crowd. Other measures to help with bar closing are
discussed further below.

Improved ability to provide professionally equipped fleets. Modern taxi dispatch systems
require significant investment in vehicles, equipment, and software, as well as management that
is familiar with these items. An efficient fleet size to spread the overhead load is often thought
to be 100 taxis. Sudbury as a whole barely has more than this. An integrated market creates
more room for the growth of larger operations, or the integration of smaller companies with
shared service dispatch companies.

These advantages must be weighed against any impacts on:

rural service quality
overall service quality, including the capacity to require better equipment

fairness to current industry stakeholders.

Little impact Expected on Rural Community Service

There are two potential concerns about impact on rural service:

Gravitation of taxis towards the core. A common concern in these situations is that once zones
are merged, current Zone 2 taxis would leave their current customers for the greener pastures
of the urban core. This concern has been raised by the industry, as it was when the zone
structure was being considered in 2002/03.

Barriers to entry for new rural service providers. Rural taxi service often begins with a
member of the community offering taxi service as a source of part-time income. Some of these
operators grow into full-time operators or multi-car services. If such operators had to pay an
existing operator to acquire a license {or buy a business as a legal transfer under the bylaw for
Zone 1), this would discourage most new entrants. Having two zones allows for different
standards and a lower barrier to entry. In addition to not having limits on licenses, vehicle year
requirements or equipment requirements can more readily be relaxed in Zone 2. This is
especially important if consideration is being given to imposing higher equipment standards on
Sudbury taxis— such as modern GPS-based dispatching, real time credit card swipes in the
backseat, or accessibility features for those with hearing or vision disabilities.

On analysis, neither of these concerns appears significant for Sudbury.

Regarding gravitation of taxis to the core: Yes, there would be some movement of taxis from outer
communities to the core, but only to the extent of equalizing the distribution of service. If every taxi
moved to downtown Sudbury, none would be making enough money. The taxis with developed rural
business would find it attractive to switch back to their old turf. In addition, there is the offsetting
benefit of former Zone 1 taxis being able to stay and pick up fares within rural communities whenever
they a trip takes them there. It is possible the net impact on rural services would be positive.

Consider the case of Hamilton. Like Sudbury, Hamilton is a regional municipality created at about the
same time out of the former Hamilton and largely rural surrounding communities. The same fear of loss

Hara Associates



12 Sudbury Taxicab Regulation -Analysis & Peer Comparison

of rural taxi service was expressed in advance of merger. Nonetheless, Hamilton elected to go with a
single operating area. A follow-up report 18 montbhs later had this to say:

Originally a controversial issue during the consultation process, this regulation has been
implemented with great success. The fear from the industry that elimination of the existing six
borders of the former municipalities prior to amalgomation would harm the industry has been
unfounded. Industry stakeholders believed that the elimination of borders would reduce the on-
street value of toxi plates, particularly in the former City of Hamilton and would reduce the
service levels in the rural areas and former municipalities. This has not been the case. Plate
values have increased from a pre-amalgamation value of approximately $65,000 - 575,000 to a
current street value of approximately $100,000 - 5110,000. Qur records indicate that service
levels have not dropped in the former area municipalities or rural areas as was the concern
raised prior to the creation of the Bylaw. Taxi drivers are now able to pick up fares in all six of the
former municipalities, which they were prohibited from doing prior to implementation of the
new rules. This regulation has resulted in better service to the public and has created an
improved working environment for the taxicab drivers as dead heading is eliminated. There are
still some concerns raised by taxicab operators in the former City of Hamilton who believe that
there are too many taxis operating in the downtown core, however, statistics to support this
concern have not been submitted to staff. The taxi drivers have advised staff that demand for
taxicab use has decreased by 20% to 30% in the City; they do not feel that this is a result of the
Bylaw but a trend that the taxi industry is currently experiencing.’

Has merger already happened?

Another reason that impact on rural service may be minimal is that the practical merger of zones may
largely have happened already. There are now less than half as many Zone 2 taxis as there were in 2003,
despite the open availability Zone 2 licences. In 2003 there were between 29 to 49 taxis licensed to Zone
2, depending on whether licenses that may have been taken on a speculative basis before the merger
are counted. Today there are 14 outside the airport franchise — less than half the conservative estimate
of 29. Even counting airport taxis as part of Zone 2 would leave 20 today, down from between 29 and 49
in 2003,

One probable reason for the Zone 2 decline is the wide availability of Zone 1 taxis for trips into the urban
core of Zone 1. Meanwhile, the number of Zone 1 plates has risen from 102 in 2003 to 111 today,
including accessible taxis.

In percentages, Zone 2 taxis are only 10.7% of Sudbury's taxi fleet today. Zone 1 taxis, including
accessible, are 84.7% of the fleet, and airport franchise taxis are the remaining 4.6%.

It should be noted as well that there currently is no bylaw staff to enforce taxi zones at night. This raises
the question of whether the zones are being respected in practice. Even in the day, enforcement is
challenging because it is not enough to see a Zone 2 taxi picking up a passenger in Zone 1. Zone 2 taxis
are allowed to pick up fares downtown, provided their passenger is returning to Zone 2. Passengers
whose taxis are stopped to check on their destination may not appreciate the intervention. In the
Oraclepoll of drivers commissioned this year by City staff, drivers were asked “In what area of the city do
you typically drive?”

3 Taxi Industry Bylaw No. 03-128 Review (PD01120(c))(City Wide). Report by the Building and Licensing Division to
the Planning and Economic Development Committee of Council, December 10, 2004.

Hara Associates




Sudbury Taxicab Regulation - Analysis & Peer Comparison 13

e Only 16% of drivers identified “within the boundaries of the old City of Sudbury”, although 69%
were licensed to Zone 1. In contrast, in 2003, 88% responded “within the boundaries of the old
City of Sudbury”.

e 69% of drivers responded “all over”, or no specific area.’

Interestingly, too, driver opinion was unusually split on the proposed merger of zones. While almost half
(48%) opposed merging zones, 36% were favourably inclined. This is interesting because only 31% of the
sample identified as driving Zone 2 taxis.

The decline in Zone 2 licenses, combined with known enforcement gaps and driver survey responses,
suggest that the merger of zones has already gone a fong way to completion. This in turn means that any
impact on rural service has likely already happened.

Low barriers to entry have not helped Zone 2 service after ten years' opportunity

The declining numbers of Zone 2 licenses also means that the concern over low barriers to entry for new
rural operators is not relevant for Sudbury. After ten years with unlimited entry in Zone 2, any potential
supply expansion in Zone 2 has had an opportunity to occur. Instead, the number of Zone 2 taxis has
declined. Either customers are willing to wait for a full-time taxi dispatched from Zone 1 rather than
using a part-time local rural supplier, or the combined availability of current Zone 1 and Zone 2 taxis in
rural areas is enough to serve the market, or both.

Zone 1 rules? Or Zone 2 rules?

If the zones are merged, which zone’s rules will apply? The choice of entry management rules makes a
significant difference to the ability of the industry to retain experienced drivers and good quality
dispatch companies. The principal choice is:

« Zone merger with Zone 1 rules. Zone 1 rules apply to the combined area. The number of taxis
remains limited in some way, either through the formula approach used for Zone 1 now, or an
alternative method.

¢ Zone merger with Zone 2 rules. Zone 2 rules apply to the combined area. Any qualified
operator may obtain a taxi license and total taxi numbers are ruled by demand and supply. This
option has free-market virtues, but leaves Sudbury vulnerable to the declines in service quality
that have historically motivated cities to close off the number of taxi licenses. The value of
Zone 1 licenses would fall to zero, since they would no longer be in limited supply.

Most municipalities limit the total number of taxis for good public policy reasons. The creation of value
to plates is a necessary side effect of limiting the number of taxis. Plate value can get out of hand if taxi
numbers are not well managed. The public policy objective to limiting the number of taxis is to protect
the quality of public service and safety on the streets, from the excessive number of taxis that otherwise
occur during economic downturns. This results from the industry’s role as an alternative employment
for many who are unemployed. Allowing new operators precisely when taxi demand is falling tends to
drive out career drivers and eliminate taxi companies trying to provide quality service. There is not
enough revenue per taxi to sustain them. The resulting low maintenance of vehicles also tends to
increase the risks to other cars and pedestrians during these periods. Fights and other disturbances
occur at public taxi stands as drivers struggle over too few fares.

* The two 69% figures are coincidental in the report.
Hara Associates




14 Sudbury Taxicab Regulation -Analysis & Peer Comparison

If zones are merged, it is in the long-run interest of customer service and public safety to extend some
form of entry management to ail taxis. This could be the application of Zone 1 rules limiting the number
of taxis, or one of the other methods identified in this report.

Impact on plate values and industry stakeholders

From the industry’s perspective, the choice between Zone 1 and Zone 2 approaches to entry
management has significant consequences. Zone 1 operators are particularly concerned about the value
or potential value of their plates, although the value is likely much lower than the $30,000 per plate
often cited. There are also fairness issues. These include:

o Zone 1 plate holders include established businesses that have invested in their business under
the assumptions of a certain level of profitability.

e There may be individual Zone 1 plate holders, such as long time drivers, who saved for many
years to purchase a taxi business in Zone 1 inclusive of the plate value, or who regard the plate
value as a critical part of their retirement savings.

Thus, the choice of rules on merger has these alternative impacts on plate holders:

e Zone merger with Zone 1 rules will result in a 15% reduction in plate value for Zone 1, and
windfall gain for Zone 2. The extra revenue supporting plate values in Zone 1 would now be
shared among the whole fleet of 131 taxis, instead of the 111 taxis now licensed for Zone 1.
This proportionate reduction means a loss in plate value on the order of 15%.° Zone 2 plates
would go from having no intrinsic value, to matching the zone 1 plate value.

The estimate is only approximate. Variation around these dollar estimates depends on how peak
demand time profiles match between the airport, Zone 2, and Zone 1. For example, if airport
peak demand matches Zone 1 peak demand, then airport taxis will have trouble availing
themselves of extra Zone 1 revenue, and thus the impact on Zone 1 plate holders could be as
low as 11% of plate value (and the gain for Zone 2 plate holders that much more).

s Zone merger with Zone 2 rules will result in Zero Plate Value for all. Plate values drop to zero,
now and forever. Any extra profitability in the industry will attract new entrants until it is
eliminated, and there is no longer intrinsic value to the license itself. The expansion in taxi
numbers may appear to be an increase in service levels, but will be more than offset over time
as the influx of poor quality operators during recessions drives out good providers.

From the perspective of Zone 1 plate holders, the two approaches are between losing a little, and losing
more. Neither is attractive and Zone 1 plate holders have expressed opposition to merging zones. On a
relative basis, keeping Zone 1 plate limits is much kinder to Zone 1 plate holders, leaving them with
significant plate value that may recover with future economic growth.

For Zone 2 plate holders, there is the potential one-time windfall gain if Zone 1 limits are applied to the
new regime, compared to very little gain if entry remains open.

For industry stakeholders in both current toxi zones, carrying forward the Zone 1 approach of entry limits
is clearly more rewarding than applying Zone 2 open-entry rules to the new zone.

5 The new share would be 111/131 of the old share.
Hara Associates




Sudbury Taxicab Regulation - Analysis & Peer Comparison 15

Proposal to restrict Zone 2 rights after merger

Because of the potential windfall gain to Zone 2 plate holders, some Zone 1 holders have suggested
there should be special restrictions on Zone 2 plates after a merger. For example, one proposal is to
restrict the transfer of former Zone 2 plates after merger, so that they are retired once the current
operators cease operation.

This proposal would slowly shrink the taxi fleet and add value back to the remaining licenses from Zone
1. Zone 2 holders would get the windfall benefit during the life of their operation, but lose it when they
cease to operate the business themselves. This would seem to split the pie my more evenly between
Zone 1 and Zone 2 operators, however, there are several drawbacks to this proposition:

e Lowers service quality by shrinking the fleet. Under this proposal, all current Zone 2 licenses
would eventually disappear, until the Zone 1 operators inherited all of both Zone 1 and 2 as
markets. This would mean a net reduction in the fleet serving the whole of Sudbury from 131
to 111.

« Lowers service quality by removing incentives for Zone 2 operators. One of the reasons an
operator provides good service and maintains their assets is so that the business can be passed
on or sold at its cessation. If the business cannot be sold, there is an incentive to let it run down
over time, with consequences for service quality.

« Plate values are not an entitlement. While there is often a desire to respect the historical
investments made by plate holders, plate value is not something the municipality guarantees
to holders. It is a result of a joint monopoly created by the municipality to ensure consistent
good service over time. There is no municipal duty to maintain plate value.® This is especially
true with the wording of Sudbury’s bylaw, which makes it clear that plates are non-transferable
and helong to the municipality.

¢ Norequirement for horizontal equity. All plate values, for both Zone 1 and Zone 2, would be a
windfall outcome from the policy to limit plates. The main objective of this policy is to preserve
long-term service quality. Concern that the windfall should fall equally among different parties
should not drive the choice of options.

We also note that managing taxi numbers is not new for Zone 2. Prior to regionalization, three of the six
municipalities merged into Zone 2 had plate limits in place (Nickel Centre [including Garson], Valley East,
and Capreol}. Plate holders in these areas lost their protection when Zone 2 was created.

Proposal to Remove Zone 1 Rights from Former Airport Taxis

Sudbury’s present 111 Zone 1 taxis include twelve plates that were issued to former airport taxis who
were squeezed out when the airport moved to a closed taxi stand served by a single franchise. Thisisa
sore point for the older Zone 1 operators, who claim their revenues have fallen as much as 10% as a
result.

Leaving aside the merits of having originally issuing the Zone 1 plates to the airport operators, the
present situation is difficult to reverse. Having given consideration to the former airport operators,
taking that consideration away can result in net harm, as long term business and personal decisions may

® Under common law governing the rights of the crown to regulate and tax, the municipality’s responsibility is to
set meter rates at a level that allows a just and reasonable rate of return to real capital invested (e.g. the taxi,
equipment, etc.}. The rate base does not include an artificial asset like the license, beyond the renewal fees paid
directly to the city. In fact, the existence of plate value is an indicator that profits in the industry are above the just
and reasonable criteria, in that people are willing to pay simply for the right to enter the industry.

Hara Associates




16 Sudbury Taxicab Regulation -Analysis & Peer Comparison

have been made predicated on having the Zone 1 plate. For example, if the former airport operator
had borrowed money for a better vehicle, perhaps financed through a mortgage on their home —must
they now liquidate at a loss?

A further issue is the relative claims of the new and old Zone 1 operators. Their claims both rest on the
same thing — award by Council through Bylaw provisions. Council explicitly does not take responsibility
for plate value, or for any associated higher revenue that is implied. The basis in law to treat the new
and old Zone 1 plate holders separately is not clear now that they are one group.

We note that the merger of zones would side-step the oirport issue- since all plate holders will be part of
the merged zones regardless of their path to get there.

Impact on accessible taxi service and modern upgrades for all taxis

Sudbury’s eight wheelchair accessible taxis were put into service in exchange for receiving Zone 1 plates.
It is likely that these vehicles would not exist had the Zone 1 plates not had value.

Providing accessible taxi service is more costly, but the meter rate is the same. The 2005 Accessibility for
Ontarians with Disabilities Act {AODA} made the principal that wheelchair users should receive the
equivalent service at the same price paid by others requirement.

The higher cost of wheelchair service comes from the higher cost of the vehicle and the higher cost in
time it takes the driver to embark, secure the passenger and mobility device, and to disembark. There is
also more deadhead time since, with only eight taxis covering the municipality, the average distance to
the address of any accessible taxi request is longer. The cost of the typical custom altered van is on the
order of $30,000 more than the usual used sedan acquired for taxi service. Thus, even if Sudbury Zone 1
plates were worth $30,000, the exchange would only cover the initial cost of providing the vehicles
{(which have been replaced at least once since the service began). The incentive of the plates and
community good will must both be credited.

The net result is that plate value was used by Sudbury to achieve accessible taxi service without having
to subsidize it directly. There may be a requirement for further such action. AODA regulations for taxi
service require that municipalities achieve accessible taxi service that is equivalent in quality and
response times to general service. While there is no deadline, there is a requirement that a plan and
timetable be set in consultation with an advisory committee of people with disabilities. Municipalities
across Ontario are in the process of expanding their accessible fleets. Toronto is considering
implementing 100% accessible taxis over time. While some AODA requirements are directed at private
businesses, AODA also places responsibility for accessible taxi service on the municipality.

In general, the existence of plate volue provides a means for cities to achieve service improvements
without loading the municipal tax base. This also applies to requiring upgraded in-taxi equipment, and
upgraded dispatch systems discussed elsewhere in this report.

Zone structure recommendations
With variations, options for zones fall into three broad approaches:

A. Status quo — two zones. This keeps the current zone system. The status quo option includes the
former airport taxis in Zone 1 because that the change to the Bylaw that gave them their status
did so without restriction or mention of temporary status. As discussed above, reversing the
award is both guestionable and difficult.

B. Merged zone with Zone 1 entry rules. This merges zones and carries forward the Zone 1
approach of limiting the number of taxis, either by formula or by alternative method.

Hara Associates



Sudbury Taxicab Regulation - Analysis & Peer Comparison 17

C. Merged zone with Zone 2 entry rules. This merges zones into a single operating area, with the
current Zone 2 approach of letting any qualified entrant acquire a taxi license.

Under any of these options, there are possible improvements in service quality discussed in further
sections of this report.

Recommendation 1: Merge Zones. Hara Associates recommends that, in 2014, the two taxi zones be
merged into a single operating area. There are net gains in fleet efficiency and
service quality. The net impact on rural service is likely to be positive.

The Sudbury taxi market has become integrated to the extent that merging taxi zones make sense.
Advantages include fleet efficiency from less deadheading, and improved ability to handle large civic
events and clear the streets at bar closing. The larger integrated market will better support larger fleet
sizes with improved ability to bear the financial cost of modern dispatch systems and modern fleet
equipment. Rural service is more likely to improve than decline.

The fear of all taxis gravitating to the urban core is not well founded in principal, and is contrary to the
reported experience of municipalities in similar situations. Instead, the increased incentives to accept
Zone 2 calls, and stay in the former Zone 2 to accept more local calls, will likely mean improved service.

The decline in the number of active Zone 2 taxis to less than half their former number also indicates the
direction of customer preferences, and the degree to which zone merger has aiready taken place on a
practical basis. The latter observation is reinforced by the challenges of enforcing the zones under
current pickup rules, low reported adherence to zone areas by drivers, and the absence of resources for
night shift enforcement of the zones.

Recommendation 2:  Keep Zone 1 Entry Management in the Merged Area. One of the two zone
regimes must be carried forward into the new merged zone. Hara Associates
recommends limiting the number of taxis, consistent with the general approach
of Zone 1 now, and consistent with the approach of most larger cities. Properly
designed, entry management preserves long run service quality, while
minimizing excessive growth of plate values.

There is also the benefit of respecting and preserving a good portion of the
current Zone 1 plate values, and preserving plate value as a tool for financing
accessible service and other service improvements without loading costs on the
tax base. The method of limiting plates can be either the traditional population
formula, or alternative approaches identified in this report.

3 Managing Taxi Numbers
Whether zones are merged or not, there is the question of how taxi numbers should be managed in the
future. Approaches fall into these broad categories:

e Fixed number. Regulations set a fixed number of taxis. A change in the number may occur only
when a crisis in the industry brings a review back to council.

¢ Per capita formula. Sudbury uses this approach at present. Zone 1 taxis are limitedto a
maximum of one taxi per 1,000 population.

Hara Associates



18 Sudbury Taxicab Regulation -Analysis & Peer Comparison

e  Multi-factor formula, A formula for taxis is based on multiple variables influencing demand
(usually including population). The typical approach is to take a history of taxi trip volume in a
city, and perform a statistical analysis correlating changes in trip volumes with other factors,
ranging from public transit use to hotel bookings to airport trip volumes. An Ontario example is
Mississauga. Mississauga’s formula includes taxi trip volumes taken from sample trip sheets, a
variety of economic indicators, and the value of taxi plates themselves. When plate values rise,
the formula indicates more taxi licenses should be issued.

e Public convenience and necessity. A public body is mandated to hear applications by those
wishing to add new taxi licenses. Applicants must show the additional taxis meet the test for
public convenience and necessity, a phrase with considerable history in case law. Current taxi
license holders may intervene and object. A variation on this approach is reverse onus, where
the burden of proof falls on any interveners to demonstrate why the new entrant is not needed.

¢ Service standards criteria. The quality of service is monitored. If it takes too long to get a taxi,
more taxi licenses are indicated until service quality is restored. Direct application of this
approach requires that taxi companies have modern computer dispatch systems that collect the
needed data, and that the regulator require regular reporting. A typical service standard
specification might be “80% of dispatched taxis should arrive within 15 minutes”. An older
similar approach is to set a number of trips per taxi per shift. When taxis get busier than this
average number of trips, poorer service is assumed, and more taxi licenses are issued.

s  Entry-price management. Instead of setting a specific number of taxis, the municipality sets a
higher dollar cost of entry for anyone taking out a new license that adds to the fleet.

The Australian state of Victoria recently implemented this approach on the advice of its Special
Commission of Inquiry on Taxi Industry Reform. Motivating the inquiry were concerns about taxi
service quality, combined with the fact that current taxi license holders were collecting $30,000
per year from taxi drivers for the lease of the taxi license.” That flow of money supported a
$475,000 street value of the taxi plate. The commission recommended that the limit on taxi
numbers be removed and replaced with a publicly available lease of $20,000 per year for new
licenses. The expected compromise was that the number of taxis would expand with the
effectively lower lease price, and as a side benefit, the additional leases would be paid into the
public purse. Plate values were expected to decline to $250,000 to $300,000, protecting a
portion of the value but with a net improvement in taxi numbers and service to customers. The
State of Victoria accepted these recommendations, with the modification that the $20,000
license renewal would be indexed to inflation — effectively protecting the remaining plate value
from inflation.?

Implementing such a system for Sudbury would involve more modest numbers. For example, if
existing taxis renew their licenses annually for 5200, anyone adding a new license to the fleet
would be in a different class, and be required to pay (say) $2,200 for renewal into the future.
The price difference {in this example $2,000) is set at a level that deters excess entry, while still
being low enough to attract new taxis if there is enough new business to warrant fleet
expansion, This frees the municipality from having to set and update an explicit number — the
market decides, but the industry is protected from excessive entry.

? Final Report — Customers First — Service, Safety Choice. Taxi Industry Inquiry, State of Victoria, Australia,
September 2012. Units are Australian dollars.

® Government Response — Taxi Industry Inquiry Final Recommendations. State of Victoria, May 2013.
Hara Associates




Sudbury Taxicab Regulation - Analysis & Peer Comparison 19

The most common approaches in Canada and the United States are either to set a fixed number or use a
per capita formula. Of the Ontario peer cities selected for comparison, Timmins and North Bay use a
fixed number, while Thunder Bay, Barrie, and Kingston and Loyalist County all set taxis per capita in their
bylaws.

Sault Ste. Marie is the only exception among the peer cities. It maintains an open entry system. Any
qualified applicant can obtain a license, subject to approval of the Chief of Police, with appeal to the
Police Services Board. Despite being open entry, Sault Ste. Marie has the lowest number of taxis per
capita among the peers (Figure 1 above). There are 36 taxis serving a population of 75,000 — around one
for every 2,000 citizens.

Choosing a method

In choosing a method for managing taxi numbers, these factors should be considered:

o Simplicity. Simpler formulas are easier for city staff to maintain, and to explain to new staff
when there is a change in personnel. The industry also benefits from simplicity. A simpler
formula means transparency of process and improved ability to plan the future of one’s
business. The per capita formula has this virtue.

e Responsiveness to changes in demand. Per capita formulas do not do well in ensuring there will
be new taxis to meet increased demand. Although population numbers are a major determinant
of taxi demand, there are other significant factors. Current concerns are the aging population,
and associated increases in transportation for persons with disabilities. Taxi demand tends to
rise as the population ages — as the baby boom generation is doing. This is reinforced by social
trends. Increased concern over drunk driving has caused those in their later earning years to
choose a taxi more often when going out for an evening’s entertainment. At the same time,
younger generations are postponing car ownership because of the rising costs of vehicle
ownership and because of environmental concerns. Separately, the aging population has caused
social agencies and public transit to experience higher volumes of requests for accessible transit.
This in turn has caused agencies to seek more cost-effective ways of delivering accessible
transit. These agencies are increasingly using taxis to meet a portion of their shared ride
requirements due to the lower costs of operation, the efficiencies of taxi dispatch systems, and
the efficiency of drawing from the general pool.

For the City of Calgary, Hara Associates recommended a population formula modified by the
percentage of the population age 65+. The modification was estimated based on the growth
over time from taxi trips subsidized by Access Calgary, the public transit service for people with
disabilities. Access Calgary uses a significant number of taxis, and has also experienced an
increase in its client base and trip volume as the city’s population has been aging.

e Responsiveness to future civic growth. Should Sudbury’s economy expand in the future, it is
likely that taxi demand may increase at a faster pace than actual population. Ideally, a formula
or regulatory process will be able to respond to such occurrences rapidly.

« Administrative burden. Implementing any formula can involve a significant administrative
burden. Changes in the number of taxis routinely go to council even in the presence ofa
formula. There must also be a consultative process to meet council’s requirements, When plate
values are at stake, industry resistance is usually strong whether an increase in the number of
taxis is warranted or not. All of this creates significant administrative burden.

Hara Associates




20 Sudbury Taxicab Regulation -Analysis & Peer Comparison

One consequence of the administrative burden is that formulas contained in bylaws are rarely
implemented as a matter of routine. Reviews are postponed because of industry resistance and
administrative cost. Without expansion of the taxi fleet, plate values rise creating a political fact
that is difficult to reverse in subsequent years. This is the common story that leads to high plate
values in so many cities, with associated higher prices and poorer service.

o Vulnerability to regulatory capture. “Capture” is said to occur when the regulator begins to
advocate and manage in the industry’s interest, without sufficient care for users and net public
benefits. Without a strong customer stakeholder presence, it is easy for any system of managing
plate numbers to be captured - so that the fleet is expanded only gradually to capture revenue
opportunities for the industry, while keeping supply tight and preventing new taxi firms from
entering the market.

Regulatory capture is a particular concern for public convenience and necessity regimes.
Requiring entrants to go through a contested hearing process adds a significant obstacle to
launching a business — giving strong advantage to incumbents. This has proved an issue even in
reverse onus regimes where the burden of proof falis on those who wish to prove a new entrant
is not needed. The state of Colorado attempted a reverse onus reform for taxi regulation;
however, the State’s regulator and the courts had trouble implementing the change. The result
has been a decade long court fight over an application by Mile High Taxi (a group of disaffected
senior drivers who wanted to start their own company). In Ontario, the use of public
convenience and necessity regimes has been in decline, notably with the deregulation of inter-
city trucking licenses. British Columbia does use a modified public convenience and necessity
regime, but has a single senior body that is responsible for doing so for the all the municipalities
in the province, the B.C. Passenger Transportation Board.

« Data availability. More complex approaches require historical data on trip volume, meter
utilization and/or dispatch performance. Sudbury does not collect this information at present.
Reforms in regular data collection from the industry would build a history that would expand
future choices.

o Appetite for reform. The focus of Sudbury’s current concern is the zone system and immediate
improvements to service. Given the immediate issues, there may be reforms that would be
theoretical improvements that in practice would distract from achieving consensus on the most
urgent required changes.

Given the above, two methods are not recommended for Sudbury. Multi-factor formulas require more
historical data than Sudbury now collects. In addition, only Lockerby Taxi has the modern dispatch
software that generates such data easily. For the same reason, service standard criteria cannot be
applied without established data generation of dispatch response time and regular data collection by
the city. These options may exist in the future given modernization in eguipment requirements
discussed further below.

A publig convenience and necessity regime is also not recommended for Sudbury. The administrative
cost of the associated hearings is high, even if handled by a committee of council. In addition, these
regimes tend to protect incumbents (capture) unless there is significant ongoing investment in
administration and research. This level of resourcing is more appropriate to a provincial organization or
a very large city.

Hara Associates



Sudbury Taxicab Regulation - Analysis & Peer Comparison 21

This leaves the two simplest options, carrying on with a per capita formula, or moving to price-based
entry management. Price-based entry management is a leading edge practice for which there are few
extant examples within the taxi industry. It also addresses issues that have not yet materialized for
Sudbury, given that Sudbury is well supplied with taxis and plate values remain moderate.

Hara Associates suggests renewing the per capita formula as the preferred immediate solution for
managing taxi numbers in Sudbury. For a per capita formula, we must set a ratio. The present bylaw sets
a ratio of 1 taxi per 1,000 population for Zone 1, which is estimated to be 88,447 - indicating 88 taxis.?
At 111 taxis, the actual number of Zone 1 taxis is above the formula limit.'* Applying the current
formula would eliminate 23 Zone 1 taxis, a 20% reduction in the fleet.

Analysis of taxi demand in this report finds that overall taxi supply today is adequate for Sudbury and
consistent with very little growth in demand over the last decade. If today’s supply is adequate, a 20%
reduction in the Zone 1 fleet would have a negative impact on service. Under the current system, such a
reduction would likely be made up by an expansion in Zone 2 taxis, whose numbers are not limited. In
effect, this would reverse the trend of the last ten years where the total number of taxis stayed stable,
but the Zone 1 fleet increased while the Zone 2 fleet declined. The net effect would be the withdrawal of
rural service by Zone 1 taxis, and a loss of the efficiencies of a free roaming fleet that have been realized
to date from the de facto partial merger of zones. A decline in the quality of rural taxi service would
likely result.

A preferable solution would be to freeze the present status quo in a revised per capita formula. Doing so
should probably exclude the twelve most recent taxis converted from Zone 2 to Zone 1. These
conversions were an administrative solution for Zone 2A taxis exciuded from the airport after the airport
closed its taxi stand to all but a single supplier. Excluding the twelve conversions, would mean a
reference level of 99 taxis for Zone 1, instead of the present 111. Dividing into the Zone 1 population of
88,447, results in a ratio of one taxi per 893 people.

If the zones are merged, a different ratio is more appropriate. The rural population relies more heavily
on private vehicles and makes less use of taxis. Again taking the status quo as a reference point, the 131
total taxis today! divided by the total municipal population of 160,274, results in an overall ratio of one
taxi per 1,262 people.

Thus we have two population ratios that preserve the status quo, one for merged zones {one taxi per
1,262 population), or the alternative for just Zone 1 if the zones are not merged {one taxi per 893
population).

Recommendation 3:  Revised per capita formula. Hara Associates recommends that Sudbury adopt a
revised population ratio formula to manage taxi numbers in the immediate
future. These recommended ratios maintain the status quo for current taxis and
current populations:

» One taxi per 893 population in Zone 1 if the zone system is maintained.

e One taxi per 1,262 population if the zones are merged to a single
operating area.

? Geographic Attribute File, 2011 Census. Statistics Canada Catalogue number 92-151-X. Calculated from a
summation of Census dissemination blocks.
1% |ncludes eight accessible taxis.

" we include the twelve conversion to Zone 1 for this purpose, since they are part of the total
Hara Associates




22 Sudbury Taxicab Regulation -Analysis & Peer Comparison

Recommendation 4:  Better data for long-term management of taxi numbers. To support better
management of taxi numbers in the longer term, Hara Associates recommends
that the Chief Taxi Inspector be empowered to require monthly reporting of trip
volume data and dispatch performance data from the industry, consistent with
other dispatch system and equipment recommendations in this report.

4 The Waiting List for Taxi Licenses

Under the current bylaw, there is a waiting list for Zone 1 taxi licenses. When the city issues a new Zone
1 license under the current population formula, it goes to whoever is at the top of the list. Few new
Zone 1 licenses have been issued since Sudbury’s amalgamation. Those at the top of the list have been
on it for quite a while, and likely have high expectations of receiving a potentially valuable operating
license. In compiling the list, there were no restrictions as to who could be listed; those on it may or may
not have a past or current connection with industry. The list is now closed.

Today, the actual value of a spot on the waiting list is not high. Given the age of the list and the low rate
of expansion of Zone 1 licenses since the list was established, even those at the top have no guarantee
of a license within their working lives if the current system is maintained. For those who do finally get a
license, its value is likely significantly less than the $30,000 mentioned in the 2002/03 report (see
previous discussion).

It should also be noted that the City of Sudbury is not under any obligation to compensate those on the
waiting list for any consequences of taxi regulation reform. The bylaw makes it explicitly clear that the
licences belong to the city, and are not transferable. Thus, any consideration to the waiting list is a
matter of council's voluntary care and concern.

Recommendation5: Treatment of waiting list. Hara Associates recommends that the waiting list be
respected for those presently on it, and then eliminated or replaced with a
lottery among interested Sudbury taxi drivers who have been licenced
continuously for the previous 24 months or more.

The lottery system is recommended to replace a waiting list for these reasons:

s Lotteries avoid creating a highly invested group (such as those at the top of the current list),
whose presence complicates any future reforms to taxi regulations.

¢ Having the focus of a lottery be on drivers rewards taxi drivers for their service, and promotes
the owner-driver model. Drivers who have their own taxi license typically provide better
service through their increased commitment and lower turnover in the industry.

¢ The requirement for at least 24 months continuous activity as a driver ensures that the lottery
is limited to drivers who have already made some commitment to being a Sudbury taxi driver.

The waiting list approach is very common among municipalities. It is usually enacted as a quick solution
when limits on the total number of taxis are established. Its virtue is transparency and a form of
fairness. However, it creates issues later on by raising expectations that cannot be met given the slow
expansion in the number of taxi licenses issued.

5 Improving Rural Service

5.1 Unique challenges for Sudbury

Merging the zones into a single operating area will help improve rural service through more efficient
utilization of the fleet. However, these challenges will remain:

Hara Associates



Sudbury Taxicab Regulation - Analysis & Peer Comparison 23

+ Locating the closest taxi. Sudbury’s small taxi fleet covers a large geographic area. For anyone
in a rural area, the difference between the closest taxi, and the second closest taxi, can mean a
considerable difference in response time. Since the fleet is divided among multiple companies,
including independent operators, there is no way of knowing who to call. One might call one
company, when another company’s taxi is much closer.

e Getting the taxi to come. A taxi company may have difficulty finding a taxi willing to go ocut to
the rural area, especially if the actual trip is not to the urban core. Like most cities, Sudbury
does not compel taxis to serve dispatch fares.’? From the company and driver perspectives, the
fixed meter rate may not justify a long drive out in some circumstances. Cities usually only
compel taxis to accept rides in the case of street hail and taxi stands, where the driver must
accept the first customer to make a request. Dispatch is treated differently for many reasons,
including the deadhead time to get to the address. Municipalities also have a duty in law to
ensure that the rates they set cover the costs of operation.

it should be noted that in consultations, some Sudbury industry stakeholders stated it was their
avowed policy to serve all their customers, and to take the good fares with the bad.
Nonetheless, it must be recognized that practice varies from driver to driver as it is they who
are largely responsible for managing their own time in a manner that ensures they have
enough business to generate sufficient income for themselves.

o Trust. A driver making a long deadhead drive to get to a customer may find by the time they
arrive that the customer has found other means of transportation. The risk of no-shows
increases reluctance to accept fares that are a considerable distance from a taxi’s current
location.

There are a number of other ways to improve rural service. Some involve changes to the rate structure;
others may require bringing all Sudbury taxis up to a modern equipment standard for dispatch.

5.2 Requiring computer-based GPS dispatch

Sudbury’s ability to serve rural communities, and meet other service objectives, would be enhanced if
the fleet were modernized. Modern taxi fleet dispatch systems keep track of vehicles using Global
Positioning System (GPS) in real time. They also track their status (e.g., is the meter on?}. If desired, calls
can automatically be routed by the computer to the closest available car, although most taxi companies
keep a human operator to oversee system performance and troubleshoot. The position of all cars and
status, and the trip assignment process, is displayed on a computer screen for the dispatcher. Alerts for
dropped calls, etc. are triggered automatically. The system also collects details on each trip, including in
more advanced systems, a GPS crumb trail of the route taken. Whether this data is retained is a matter
of choice in system design. Fleet managers are provided with a set of standard performance summaries,
and may customize their systems to obtain additional information. Dispatchers also get real time
summary reports flashing on screen, which may or may not be retained by the system. Dispatch trip
records —a requirement of Sudbury’s bylaw — can be automatically recorded and generated replacing
manual records.

Since Sudbury is covering a large area with a relatively small fleet, it is important that the most effective
technology be used to dispatch the fleet efficiently. This capacity is a prerequisite for other options for

"2 The regional authority of Kingston and Loyalist Township is an exception — however longer distances in this area
are connected via the major 401 highway.

Hara Associates



24 Sudbury Taxicab Regulation -Analysis & Peer Comparison

improving rural service discussed further below. Computer-based GPS dispatch also offers these
advantages:

¢ Improved passenger and driver safety. The positions of vehicles are known in case of trouble —
an important feature for rural service. Vehicles can be equipped with a hidden trouble button
that enables drivers to alert dispatch if their safety is threatened. The dispatcher will
automatically know the location of the car. A separate trouble button can be put inside the
trunk (in the event the driver is locked in the trunk). The GPS trail also protects both passengers
and drivers by providing a record that allows a given taxi to be identified, along with the point
of origin and/or phone number associated with a given trip.

¢ Better lost and found. A passenger who leaves something valuable in a taxi may not remember
the taxi number — but if they know where and when they were dropped off, it is relatively easy
to identify the right taxi quickly and have them look in the back seat and bring the item to the
customer.

s Performance monitoring and improved regulatory oversight. Municipal authorities can
request or require fleet performance reports. The main difficulty is getting standardized
reports from different systems, but good systems are all programmable so that fleet managers
can specify reports in the formats and metrics they (and/or the regulator) desire.

The financial impact of requiring GPS dispatch on small taxi operators is not as big as might be imagined.
The alternative for small companies is to contract out the dispatch, while keeping a separate phone
number and brand name identity. This allows smaller operations to provide the same level of service as
larger companies. Dispatch need not even be in the same city. In Ontario, for example, the firm Coventry
Connections handles dispatch for taxi fleets from Fort Erie to Ottawa to Ajax. Local firms may also make
cooperative arrangements to share dispatch services based within Sudbury. The cost of installing in-taxi
equipment (modern integrated meter and GPS dispatch display) is on the order of $650 per taxi more
than the older style equipment. A staged implementation over three years could include this costin the
normal cycle of equipment renewal.

Recommendation 6:  GPS computer dispatch. Hara Associates recommends that all Sudbury taxis be
required to have GPS/computer dispatch, with allowance of up to three years to
come into compliance.

This provision will improve dispatch efficiency, and provide greater safety for drivers and passengers.

Equally important — providing GPS location as part of the taxi dispatch system is critical to retaining
regulatory and public safety control over the provision of taxi services, given the advent of smartphone
app and internet-based dispatching services discussed further below.

5.3 Central dispatch versus the internet

GPS computer dispatch might be even more helpful if the dispatcher had all taxis from all companies
displayed one screen, so that the closest taxi could be identified for a rural call.

One idea raised during stakeholder consultations was to create a central dispatch shared by all Sudbury
taxi companies. With all taxis under one dispatch, it would be easier to identify the closest taxi. The City

of Thunder Bay recently announced it was investigating this option, although they had not yet elicited
industry response.

Central dispatch, in the classical sense of a telephone line and a dispatcher, is not normally
recommended. While it offers a solution to improving rural service, it also has these disadvantages:

Hara Associates



Sudbury Taxicab Regulation - Analysis & Peer Comparison 25

e Removes dispatch from competition. Quality of dispatch service is one of the ways that taxi
companies compete. These systems are constantly improving. Competitive pressure puts the
decision of when to upgrade the GPS dispatch in the hands of the marketplace. The city does not
have to decide how far to go, or when to upgrade.

o Users hold the city accountable. With a mandated central dispatch, the city itself will be held
accountable for any poor system performance. Sudbury residents will do this even if the city
subcontracts a single industry supplier.

e Forcing firms to work with a competitor. Sudbury has a number of taxi companies. Forcing
them to accept one of their competitors as a provider, without alternatives, may raise
substantive objections. At present only Lockerby Taxi is equipped with a GPS computer dispatch
system as described above. If all the companies voluntarily came together on a proposal, it
would be better, but still effectively block new competitors.

e Who pays and how much? Taxi companies collect their revenue from drivers for a bundle of
services that include dispatch. With a central dispatch, what is the role of the company? Who
will pay for the service, and how much will they have to pay? It is likely that the City would not
want to undertake either the expense, or the added administrative burden of managing these
issues.

Coming soon anyway - smartphone and internet dispatch

A rather different phenomenon is underway in the private sector that performs much of the function of
central dispatch. Many large cities, including Toronto, are experiencing the growth of taxi dispatch
services distributed via smartphone apps. This is happening with or without regulator participation,
although regulators may have strong concerns about how they are implemented.

At their best, the smartphone apps provide a much improved customer experience. Those with both a
smartphone and a credit card {an increasing proportion of the population) can call a taxi at the press ofa
button on their phone. Home or office computers can also be used. The closest taxi and estimated time
of arrival are displayed automatically prior to finalizing the call. The position of the taxi relative to the
user is usually shown on the smartphone screen (Figure 6). Continuous updates, including text messages
from the driver are included ("I have arrived at your driveway”).

These systems draw upon the real time GPS coordinates and availability status of all the taxis on the
system. To work, a driver may simply have a GPS enabled smartphone of their own, or the app may
work from GPS enabled dispatch systems that are part of the taxi. The previously recommended GPS
dispatch for taxis is not necessary for some approaches, but is necessary for the approaches that many
regulators and municipalities prefer.

Because these services work using smartphones, they are proliferating with or without taxi company
consent (some bypass the companies), and often without regulator consent. Visitors to Sudbury may
arrive with an app already installed on their phones (e.g. Taximagic, Uber, Hailo, Flywheel, or RideScout).
They will check these apps on their phone when seeking a taxi. In Sudbury, they will likely see none
available — but that may not be the case for long. At this stage, these companies are rolling out their
services on a city-by-city basis. However, the technology and business model do not require this process.
The companies are simply being careful in order to protect their brands. One service, Hailo, has
announced its intention to add “Hailo Anywhere” to its service. Any new entrant that wants to get
ahead of earlier players may also simply extend its service without caring or checking on the status of
vehicles and drivers who sign up on their phones.

Hara Associates



26 Sudbury Taxicab Regulation -Analysis & Peer Comparison

Figure 6: Sample Smartphone Displays of Taxi Location and Availability

Source: Home web-pages — Hailo, Taximagic, January 2014

Once this type of service is made available by any of these app companies, individual drivers will be able
to register using their own smartphones. Visitors to Sudbury who arrive with the app on their phones, or
residents who install the apps, will instantly be able to use them.

The apps are a good thing from a customer service perspective, but raise many regulatory questions.
Depending on the forms that are allowed, there is increased risk of unlicensed operators, Some services
(e.g., UberX, Lyft, SideCar) actively promote the provision of service by unlicensed drivers - who are
difficult to police since they are in unmarked cars and connect over the internet using a service that may
be based in another city, country, or continent.

These services began only a few years ago, but are expanding rapidly. They are a street reality now in
Toronto, Montreal, and many large North American cities. A great deal of time is being spent by
regulators trying to decide the best approach to the phenomenon. It is in the best interest of the City of
Greater Sudbury to develop and implement a policy at an early stage that will guide how they emerge

locally. In cities where they are well established, they account for as much as 30% of trips, and are
growing rapidly.

While they may appear similar to the user, there are distinct business models, each with its own
implications for public safety and convenience:

¢ Independent services that work with licensed vehicles, These apps work directly with driver
smartphones and bypass companies, but restrict their operation to licensed taxis and

limousines. Examples are Uber and Uber Taxi (www.uber.com) and Hailo (www.Hailo.com), both
of which include Toronto among the cities they serve,

¢ |ndependent services that work with unlicensed (and possibly uninsured} drivers. Often
promoted as being a “shared-ride” service, it is generally recognized that the bulk of these
services are provided by people driving for the income, not sharing a ride for a downtown trip

Hara Associates




Sudbury Taxicab Regulation - Analysis & Peer Comparison 27

they are taking anyway. Examples are Lyft (www.lyft.me ), SideCar (www.side.cr ), and UberX
{www.uber.com). Note that Uber has multiple services and is active in more than one category.

s Services that work through taxi company dispatch. These firms provide the same service but
work in cooperation with taxi fleets. The use feeds from GPS dispatch systems. Examples are
Taximagic (https://taximagic.com/en_CA) and Flywheel (www.flywheel.com).

e Taxi company apps. To counter the threat to control of their fleets, taxi companies are
implementing their own apps. They may write their own from scratch, or get a “white-box”
software version and add their brand name. Lockerby Taxi suggested they were taking this
approach during Sudbury consultations.

e Aggregators. These are web services that integrate data from other sources, including all of the
above. Thus, an aggregator might display data taken from Hailo and Taximagic and individual
taxi companies on its own screen {much like aggregator online shopping sites that draw on other
shopping websites). Aggregators are an even more recent phenomena in this rapidly changing
area. They do not necessarily limit themselves to taxis. For example, RideScout attempts to
display all passenger modes, so that GPS bus location will help you choose between abus anda
taxi depending on your circumstances.

Apps and central dispatch for Sudbury

For Sudbury, the taxi apps offer an interesting possibility. Sudbury could effectively have central dispatch
within weeks by selecting one of the apps, and requiring that oll taxis use that app. The most rapid
implementation involves a smartphone on the driver’s end using one of the more popular operating
systems {e.g., Android, Apple, etc., but not Blackberry at this time). Most taxi drivers have such phones
already — and GPS capability is included with many models. Downloading an app onto one’s phone takes
just a few minutes. The rest of the e-dispatch system is up and running now on the internet. From the
perspective of the app, it is just adding taxis on the display of existing electronic maps.

The innovation available to Sudbury is to designate one of these apps as compulsory, so that all taxis
would appear on the same screen of a Sudbury rural caller, or any caller, seeking a taxi.

The main obstacle is that a policy choice is required as to which type of app to designate. Sudbury taxi
companies would likely be opposed to providers that bypassed their own dispatch systems through
smartphones on the driver’s end — the very solution that offers the most rapid implementation. For
greater local control, it might be preferable to designate an app that integrates with local taxi dispatch.
Implementation time would be longer, as integration with taxi dispatch systems is an additional step.
Additional implementation time would be required if a local app, such as the one being developed by
Lockerby, were to be used. The established apps that work with dispatch systems already have packaged
solutions for the most common brands of dispatch equipment.

Recommended approach for Sudbury

A full resolution of this issue is beyond the scope of this study. The market situation is also transforming
very quickly, even as regulators around the world grapple with the issue. It is recommended that
Sudbury take steps immediately to prepare for the change, to take advantage of the service

improvements that smartphone apps offer, and to be sure change happens in the way that Sudbury
wants.

Hara Associates



28 Sudbury Taxicab Regulation -Analysis & Peer Comparison

Recommendation7:  Preparing for dispatch by smartphone and internet. Hara Associates
recommends that Sudbury recognize the potential benefits and risks to public
safety of taxi dispatch via smartphone apps. To this end, we suggest that:

a) Sudbury require taxi and limousine operators and drivers to use only
dispatch services (including via smartphone utilities) that are licensed by
Sudbury or approved by the Chief Taxi Inspector.

b) That Sudbury issue a request for information (RFi) inviting proposals for an
internet application that would allow Sudbury taxi users to identify available
taxis closest to their location and request service using either a smartphone
or a computer.

The first measure is necessary to ensure continued control of Sudbury’s fleet from within Sudbury. Since
operators of smartphone apps are not necessarily located in Sudbury (or even in Canada), the main
point of leverage is locally licensed drivers and operators. The phrase “licensed or approved” reflects
that it may be difficult to get the best functioning world apps to apply for licences in Sudbury’s relatively
small market. The business model of these apps is based on internet dissemination to all the world's
municipalities, without necessarily seeking business licences in each of the world’s many jurisdictions.
Sudbury's jurisdiction is over the licensed drivers, vehicles, and local brokers. Sudbury may wish to set
out a list of apps approved for use. Selection might be based on the mode of operation and whether the
apps restrict themselves to licensed local taxis and limousines. We note that apps that integrate with
taxi dispatch work with local partners. They rely on those local companies to resolve licensing issues.

The request for information is open-ended given the changing situation. It is possible that there will be
na interest from the major apps, given their business models. However, local companies or consortiums
may form to provide a solution of their own, or propose a solution using one of the established app
services.

5.4 Cancellation Fees for bookings via smartphone and credit card accounts

A common feature of the new smartphone taxi dispatch services is charging a cancellation fee. Far from
penalizing customers, a cancellation fee can be advantageous to them. A $10 cancellation fee, tied to a
credit card account for automatic collection, ensures that drivers know a customer is serious, and will be
there when the taxi arrives. This avoids the tendency of customers in poorly serviced areas to phone
more than one taxi company and take the first one that arrives, This practice undermines the trust of
individual drivers, making them less likely to accept such calls.

Sudbury may wish to consider allowing for a cancellation fee of up to $10 for dispatch calls booked
through smartphone or credit card accounts only. Customers booking using traditional methods would
be free of such charges {which are also difficult to collect outside the automated processes represented
by the new technologies).

The point of allowing such charges is to improve rural service. It allows rural users the option of booking
through internet or smartphone, and gaining better service through the guarantee offered to drivers
who accept the call,

5.5 Possible innovation: posted service areas

Another possibility for improved service involves allowing companies to post a dispatch surcharge for
long distances, in exchange for a duty to serve such calls. At present, a company whose main business is
in the urban core might decline to dispatch a taxi to a remote part of the municipality. The alternative
permits the company to post a dispatch fee of, say, $5 in addition to the meter, for responding to calls
to outlying areas. In return for this privilege, companies would be expected to serve when called.

Hara Associates



Sudbury Taxicab Regulation - Analysis & Peer Comparison 29

From the perspective of rural taxi users, this option has a mixed impact. The cost of a taxi might rise,
subject to competition between taxi companies, however they would gain the right to a dispatch taxi
and guaranteed service (barring weather events).

From an administrative perspective, taxi companies could be required to post their offerings, and an
associated map of the home area they serve at regulated rates. Posting should be formally with the
Chief Taxi Inspector, and on the web in a manner approved by the Chief Taxi Inspector. Hara Associates
suggests that the minimum unit for “home” territories be areas equivalent to the old municipal
boundaries, again based on approval by the Chief Taxi Inspector.

Hara Associates is agnostic on this proposal. We are not aware of any other jurisdiction that has tried
this approach. It is mentioned as a logical follow-on to a proposal made during consultations under the
two-zone system that Zone 1 taxis be allowed to charge a dispatch fee to serve Zone 2.

A possible outcome of this arrangement is that companies might compete for rural business by taking
them as home zones and advertising this fact.

The arrangement recognizes the size of Sudbury, and that it may not be practical for smaller firms to
serve the whole of the city with only a few taxis. By truthful disclosure about their realistic operating
area, customers might also be better served. Customers might also be better able to identify which
company is committed to serving their neighborhood.

6 Accessible Taxi Service and AODA

6.1 Municipal Duties for Accessible Taxi Service

The Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities Act (AODA) requires municipalities to establish “the
proportion of on-demand accessible taxicabs required in the community”” in consultation with its
Accessibility Advisory Committee,** and to establish a timetable for meeting this goal. Sudbury is still
completing this process.

In addition to ensuring equitable accessible taxi service, municipalities are also required under the AODA
ensure that:'

e Fares charged to person with disabilities are the same as for of other customers, and that no fee
is charged for storing mobility aids or mobility assistive devices.

e Vehicle registration and identification information is on the rear bumper of the taxi." This
identification must be consistently shaped, coloured, and positioned using a high colour contrast
background, with the “appearance of solid characters”.

o That taxis have vehicle and identification information available in an accessible format to people
with disabilities who are passengers {e.g., braille or other solution).

Sudbury may want to amend its present bylaw (and practices) to incorporate these AODA requirements.
For example, Section 14 of the bylaw requires the taxi to post the plate on the back of the vehicle, but
allows some discretion as to where it is placed. AODA regulations call for the plate to be in the same
place on the bumper for all vehicles. This makes for easier identification by those with vision or cognitive

3 section 79, integrated Accessibility Standards (regulation under AODA).

" Municipalities with population greater than 10,000 must establish such a committee. This may be fulfilled by
continuing the existence of any such committee that pre-existed the AODA.

15 Section 80, Integrated Accessibility Standards {regulation under AODA).

'® The regulations specifically refer to the bumper.

Hara Associates




30 Sudbury Taxicab Regulation -Analysis & Peer Comparison

disabilities. Similarly, there is a bylaw requirement for drivers to post their credentials for passengers to
see, but no requirement for the vehicle to carry credentials in alternative media format.

6.2 Accommodating other disabilities and the AODA

AODA regulations also set standards for service that fall directly on the taxi industry. The municipality is
not itself responsible for meeting these requirements. However, Sudbury may want to assist the
industry and Sudbury residents by anticipating equipment requirements in its regulations. In particular,
there are accommodations for those with vision and hearing disabilities that might be included in future
planning.

Requirements for taxi service providers under AODA

The Accessibility Standards for Customer Service apply to all goods and service providers in Ontario,
including taxi service providers."” Rather than setting technical standards for all the different service
industries, the standards have a general requirement that, “Every provider of goods and services ...
shall use reasonable efforts to ensure that its policies, practise and procedures are consistent with the
following principles . . . .” The principles include that service be integrated with service given to others,
and that “persons with disabilities be given an opportunity equal to that given to others to obtain, use,
and benefit from the goods and services”.

AODA places this requirement on all service providers, regardless of size. Companies with more than 25
employees have additional requirements to document their procedures.

Passenger Information Monitors (PIMs) and sight and vision disabilities

There is a relatively new piece of taxi equipment
that offers significant benefits to all taxi users, and
offers new accommodation to those with sight or
hearing disabilities. It is commonly termed the
passenger information monitor or PIM {(sample
photo at right.)

PIMs offer a bundle of services and equipment
central to modernizing the passenger experience. A
PIM takes the form of a screen in the back of the
taxi facing the customer, attached to a credit card
swipe. They enable all customers to swipe their own
cards from the back seat, and offer real time
clearance of the card, GPS trip display, a means of
registering customer feedback, tourist information, Passcnger Information Maonitor showing real time trip
as well as accommodation of visual and auditory progress anamap.

disabilities.

The customer credit card swipe is a feature strongly valued by all users. Customers generally prefer to
handle their own cards rather than have someone else swipe them though unknown devices. In the
absence of a PIM, drivers may use their own credit card clearing devices attached to their smartphones

' Municipal requirements for taxis fall under a different AODA regulation; Integrated Accessibility Standards.

AODA is explicit that multiple standards and regulations may apply to the same business. Taxis must meet bath
sets of requirements, where relevant,

Hara Associates



Sudbury Taxicab Regulation - Analysis & Peer Comparison 31

in order to bypass credit card processing charges by their taxi company {www.squareup.com, for
example, charges 2.75% while charges via a typical taxi company range from 5% to 7% of the fare).
Security on driver provided devices may not be good, and such transactions are occasionally flagged for
validation by credit card exchanges, causing temporary inconvenience in using the card elsewhere.
Because the equipment is still relatively new, its possibilities for accommodating disabilities are still
being explored, and standards are just being developed. For persons with sight or vision disabilities, a
PIM offers a potentially convenient method of using a taxi that is empowering in that it enables a user
with disabilities to use the taxi in a manner similar to other users. A good quality PIM is programmable
with audio and a touch sensitive screen. This means access features can be included to provide voice
{e.g., announcing the meter fare and distance for those who cannot see it easily}, or text for those who
cannot hear well. For those with hearing disabilities, the real time display of the route and other screen
features may also be helpful. For example, one feature now offered is the “triple tap” which turns on
features such as a voice readout of the meter.

Pioneered by New York and Boston in 2004, the equipment is now provided on a competitive basis from
a number of suppliers, including Creative Mobile Technologies, VeriFone, Wireless Edge, and TaxiMagic.
To function, the dispatch system must already be a GPS real time computer dispatch, as recommended
previously. For efficient upgrades, taxi companies usually install PIMs concurrently with upgrading their
dispatch systems and providing their drivers with upgraded displays.

Because the PIM is bundled with credit card processing, it often is provided to taxi companies for free,
or at a subsidized rate. Arrangements vary depending on competitive bids and the proportion of fares
on credit cards. As with all businesses, there is a hidden credit card charge paid by the business.
Automation means that the percentage fee is competitive, or occasionally better, than the percentage
charge for the older credit card systems they replace; 5% is typical when the equipment is provided for
free. Alternatively, the rate can be 3.5%, with a fixed monthly fee per taxi to cover bandwidth charges.

Drivers typically resist customer use of credit cards because of the fees. However, experience shows that
a properly implemented PIM can result in higher tips due to the automatic calculation of tip percentages
and the menu choices for quick picks {10%, 15%, 20%) — similar to devices is now used in many
restaurants. If desired, the regulator can also address driver concerns by allowing passengers to be
charged a small service fee for use of the clearance system. Ottawa currently allows a charge of $1.50
for use of either a credit or a debit card.

Hara Associates suggests that the City of Sudbury consider the introduction of PIMs in planning for future
improvements in taxi service, thereby accommodating people with sight and vision disabilities, and
assisting taxi operators and brokers in meeting their obligations under the AODA.

Other general benefits of a PIM are:

¢ Quicker payment to drivers. The automatic clearance process usually puts payments directly
into the driver's bank account. Depending on negotiated terms, drivers can receive credit the
next banking day although there may still be a delay of three to five days by the credit card
system. This is an improvement over the 30 days that drivers now have to wait in some cities..
The real time clearance of cards means the PIM provider experiences only a small risk in
providing credit in advance of credit card company clearance.

* Regulator convenience. More controversially, PIMs make it convenient for the regulator to
collect a small fee per trip, either to improve enfarcement or to finance programs such as the
expansion of accessible taxi service. Since the PIM tracks all trips via a connection to the meter,

Hara Associates



32 Sudbury Taxicab Regulation -Analysis & Peer Comparison

PIM providers can net the per-trip fee out credit card receipts and remit the funds to the city.
Experimentation with this is guite recent. In 2013, Washington D.C. implemented a 25% per
trip fee in the drop rate on the taximeter, collected via the PIM providers. Because each taxi
takes quite a few trips in a year, a small fee per trip can provide substantial annual funds.

7 Improving Service at Bar Closing

Another concern for Sudbury is achieving adequate service on Friday and Saturday nights for popular
locations in the urban core, particularly at closing hour, when large numbers of patrons are out on the
streets seeking rides. This creates an occasionally challenging situation for law enforcement, whose job
includes dispersing the closing crowd and clearing the street. The current zone system complicates
matters in that theoretically, Zone 2 taxis can only take customers from the core back to Zone 2, leading
to fare refusals. During the consultations, some drivers reported this sometimes leads to violent
negative reactions by disappointed bar patrons who see an empty taxi and want the ride.

The shortages have been systemic enough that some unlicensed operators have begun to offer taxi
service, marking their cars with temporary yellow emergency lights purchased at hardware stores. While
providing some relief for the situation, the operation of unlicensed taxis in the dark creates cbvious
public safety risks. There are good reasons why regulators license taxis, and require clearly identifiable
vehicles and drivers who have had a criminal record check.

All municipalities face the challenge of bar closing. The problem can be more severe in cities with a high
post-secondary student population, as in Sudbury, or in cities experiencing a significant resource boom
such as in Alberta. To some extent, the situation is unavoidable, since there is not enough business
during the rest of the week to support a fleet of taxis capable of transporting all clients home precisely
at closing time.

There are a number of techniques in common use to assist with this problem. Many focus on providing a
safer environment for taxis to pick up fares during this period. Some drivers do not feel safe dealing with
the nighttime crowd, resulting in only a portion of the taxi fleet serving the entertainment district at
closing. The traditional treatment where bars move the customers out onto the street, and the police
seek to disperse the crowd, does not necessarily lead to an attractive environment for the working taxi
driver.

Options for Sudbury to consider include:

e Merged zones. Cities may invite out of jurisdiction taxis to come in to clear away bar patrons.
Vancouver police have done this in past years — announcing non-enforcement of the geographic
boundaries so that taxis from surrounding municipalities can help clear out the Gastown district
on weekend nights. Sudbury would achieve the same thing by merging Zone 1 and Zone 2.

» Driver option to require advance payment at night. Drivers face the risk of bar patrons not
having sufficient funds at the end of the trip. This is a safety concern as well as a commercial
concern. Even when a driver does not insist on payment, there can be preemptive aggression
and violence from the passenger. An alternative is to allow drivers the option of requiring an
estimated cash fare in advance. The meter is still run during the trip, and the driver collects or
refunds any difference. Thunder Bay allows drivers this option on any night shift between 8 p.m.
and 8 a.m. Having the right to do so posted, along with the meter rate, reduces customer
resentment when this option is exercised.

When fares are paid by credit or debit card, the driver should be prepared to refund the
difference in cash if their in-taxi system is not capable of refunds. This requirement is no
different from having a sufficient amount of change for cash fares — provided the initial fare
estimate is accurate. The approach becomes more convenient when credit cards and debit cards

Hara Associates



Sudbury Taxicab Regulation - Analysis & Peer Comparison 33

are cleared in real time from the taxi. Real time clearance is a common feature of the
recommended upgrade to computer dispatch, and of installing PIMs as discussed above. This is
another safety aspect of modernizing Sudbury’s taxi fieet.

Supervised space for taxi pickup. In an unsupervised environment, bar patrons may get into
fights over a taxi (or even inside the taxi if they enter from opposite doors). More drivers will
show up if there is an orderly process or space for them to take passengers. This can be tackled
a number of ways:

o Dedicated taxi stand curb space at night. On Friday and Saturday nights, there can be a
dedicated curb space in the key entertainment area(s) where taxis can stand, and
customers can go to get their taxi. Kingston, for example, has a 10-car space in the key
entertainment area patronized by university students. For this strategy to be effective, it
is helpful if there is ticketing and/or towing to keep the space clear after a certain time
{say 10 p.m.), and if police extend their presence and interest in the area as part of their
management of closing time. The City of Edmonton has a couple of such spaces on their
Whyte Avenue district, and have tow trucks on hand to clear the stand of the vehicles of
anyone who ignores the signs.

o Temporary stands in front of key establishments. A variation of this approach is to
work in cooperation with key entertainment establishments that normally staff their
doors with security staff (i.e., bouncers). The city designates spaces in front of the
establishments as nightstands, and there is a cooperative relationship between private
security staff and the police to extend supervision into this space. Calgary takes this
approach as part of its integrated strategy to revitalize its downtown.

o Supervised “runs”. An alternative to stands is to dedicate certain street(s) in popular
areas as pick-up areas, and ensure police presence in these areas. Taxis will respond to
the presence of supervised areas by cruising the designated street, and bar patrons will
learn to come to that street to be picked up.

Coordination with police. All these approaches work better when the police and taxi services
function as partners solving a common challenge. This is helped by a conscious decision to do
s0, since an individual officer may experience dealing with taxi issues as a distraction from the
main business at hand, rather than taking into account the long-run impact of better taxi supply
making the job easier. Cooperation works both ways. In Sault Ste. Marie, where the police are
also responsible for regulating taxis, there is telephone contact between the police and the taxi
dispatchers to help manage the flow. Bar patrons who are still on the street are often patient
when they know that the police officers is in touch with the taxi situation, and that cars are on
their way back for a secand round of customers.

Fare incentives. Money is not always the issue with taxi service. For night service, safety is the
highest issue. However, money can help motivate supply in some circumstances. This is
particularly true when taxis are single shifted. Drivers with their own plates may not choose to
employ a second driver in their vehicle (it is like sharing an office}, or may prefer to work days.
There is also the question of vehicle type. A multi-passenger van can move more passengers,
especially to common points — such as university students sharing a taxi back to residence.
Possible fare reforms that might help service at closing include:

o Night premium. Edmonton experienced improved taxi supply at night after adding a $3
surcharge from 11 p.m. to 4 a.m.

o Flate rate per person. A flat rate per person could be designed that made use of vans
rewarding for runs between the main entertainment area and post-secondary

Hara Associates



34 Sudbury Taxicab Regulation -Analysis & Peer Comparison

residences. This would also facilitate advance fare collection. The net effect could be a
more accessible fare for students (and others) at the same time as higher income for
drivers who operate vans. The fee should be such that the meter is still more reasonable
for smaller parties.

o Interior cleaning fee. A different issue occurs when an inebriated customer gets sick in
your taxi. This is always a disaster. It is one reason why some drivers avoid this part of
the trade. The disincentive can be reduced by including a “cleaning fee” on posted fares
{e.g., $50). While it is not always possible to collect such a fee, it provides a quick
standard for settlement, when the fee can be collected. Ottawa posts such a fee.

Choosing among the above approaches varies based on local preferences by residents, the industry, and
police services.

8 Other Issues

A number of other issues were identified for comment. The analysis below is based on the comparison
with Sudbury’s peer cities (Appendix A}, and best practice in the broader taxi regulatory environment.

8.1 Driver requirements

Table 3 compares requirements for a taxi driver license between Sudbury and the selected peer cities.
Certain requirements are widespread but not universal, such as a letter of intent to employ from an
owner or broker. Other requirements, such as conducting criminal record checks and retrieving MTO
abstracts are essentially universal, but are implemented differently. Still others are unique to a single
jurisdiction. For example, North Bay is unique in having the discretion to request medical certificates.

All the peers, except Thunder Bay and Sault Ste. Marie, require prospective drivers to present a letter
from the broker or taxi owner that intends to hire them once they are licensed. This is generally done to
put some of the burden of screening applicants on the taxi companies and to ensure that drivers do not
go through the licensing process if they are seen by the industry as unemployable. Interestingly,
Thunder Bay and Sault Ste. Marie are also the only two jurisdictions that have specific limits on the
number of demerits a driver may have on record. In the other jurisdictions, regulators look for
egregiously bad behavior but otherwise rely on the taxi owners and the insurance market to screen out
poor, but not criminally dangerous, drivers. Thunder Bay and Sauit Ste. Marie both regulate taxis via
their police boards.

Criminal record checks are also performed by each jurisdiction. Most perform a more comprehensive
form of check referred to as a vulnerable sector check. These include information otherwise absent from
a standard criminal record check, such as pardoned convictions, family court restraining orders, criminal
charges still pending, and the circumstances of previous contact with the police. Generally, the
municipalities surveyed have a great deal of discretion in determining what constitutes reasonable
grounds for refusal of a license. Some go further, and give explicit (but not all encompassing criteria)
that will result in refusal. The joint taxi authority of Kingston and Loyalist County requires that there be
no criminal convictions in the past three years and no unpardoned convictions for violent crime. Sault
Ste. Marie and North Bay view any unpardoned convictions as unacceptable. Sudbury requires an
absence of federal convictions within the past five years while Thunder Bay sets the bar at three years.

Hara Associates



Sudbury Taxicab Regulation - Analysis & Peer Comparison 35

Table 3: Driver Licensing Requirements

Vulnerable

Letter of

MTO Criminal Maedical
Jurisdiction Sector intent to Test? Training?
Abstract? | Check? aining certificate?
Check? employ?
Timmins v v v v x x x
y Vv
eoeraph First aid/ CPR y
North Bay v v v v geograpny course for
and . On request
Accessible
landmarks L.
taxi drivers.
v
Sault Ste. v
Marie — 9 \/ * * Written X X
demerits
v \
v Written, First Aid/
Thunder Bay Max 8 v v x meter rates | CPR course x
demerits and for accessible
geography taxi drivers
v
Geography
Barrie A v X v Based * X
Driving
Test
Kingston \/
& . v v v v Written or x x
and Loyalist
Oral
v
Self-study
v course, MTO
L) x v x v Written training for x
Accessible
taxi drivers

All of the municipalities, except for Timmins require that drivers pass a test on geography and/or the
bylaw. These tests vary in form, but are all based on knowledge the driver is expected to acquire for
themselves, None of these jurisdictions has a formally taught training program, except for what may be
required of accessible taxi drivers.

North Bay is the only one of the cities to incorporate medical requirements into its bylaw. A medical
certificate can be requested by the North Bay Police Services Board, if they have reason to suspect that
an individual might be medically unfit to operate a taxi.

Police services charge a higher service fee for vulnerable sector checks, but historically, the main
drawback to these checks has been the delay in licensing they cause. This disadvantaged both the
applicant, and taxi companies that are short of drivers.

Such a delay is not likely to be a problem for Sudbury, however, because of the technologies available to
its police force. Vulnerable sector checks and criminal record checks draw from the same national police
databases, but a greater assurance of identity is typically required in the course of a vulnerable sector
check. For a basic criminal record check, some police forces verify identity by fingerprint only when the

Hara Associates




36 Sudbury Taxicab Regulation -Analysis & Peer Comparison

individual’'s name and age is similar to that of someone with a criminal record. For a vulnerable sector
check, however, it is the usual practice to seek greater assurance by verifying every applicant’s identity
against fingerprint records. Until recently, fingerprint identification was done manually by off-site
experts, which took considerable time. Today, with digital fingerprint imaging and searching, this can be
done fairly quickly. Police forces across Ontario are now installing digital capacity {in one peer city the
machines were present but not yet operating). For Sudbury, however, the digital fingerprint capacity is
already in place. Timmins, for example, reports that it sends applications to Sudbury’s police to obtain
quick service,

Recommendation 8:  Vulnerable Sector Check. Sudbury should upgrade its criminal record check to
include vulnerable sector checks, consistent with peer practice. The higher
degree of assurance is worthwhile for public safety, and needed in any event for
school contracts or social service contracts. The introduction of digital finger-
print recognition has significantly reduced the delay in identification that used
to occur with these more stringent checks.

Another area where Sudbury varies from peer practice is a check of Ministry of Transport driver
abstracts. Sudbury is alone in not requiring the presentation of the abstract, although only two peers
set an actual demerit point guideline in the Bylaw. The rest exercise judgement by case, since taxi
drivers will accumulate more demerit points than the average driver by virtue of being on the road as an
occupation.

Recommendation9: MTO Abstracts. Sudbury should require the provision of driver abstracts as

part of its application and renewal process for taxi drivers, consistent with the
practice of its peers.

8.2 Managing Meter Rates
Policy Objectives and the Law

Cities regulate meter rates primarily to protect consumers. In the absence of regulation, passengers
would not be able to assess a fair price given the variable nature of the service in terms of both distance
and quality of vehicle and driver. Regulated rates on meters provide a convenient set guide, and avoid
situations of haggling or exploitation {as on a lonely street late at night).

considered. The broader framework of common law places duties on governments when regulating the
price of any product or service; prices must be set high enough to allow firms in the industry the
opportunity to make a fair and reasonable rate of return on their investment. To do this the cost
conditions of the industry must be considered. Cities typically change taxi meter rates in response to
changes in industry costs.

Another relevant consideration is the value of a taxi plate within jurisdiction. When people are willing to
pay to enter an industry, it is evidence that returns to capital are higher than generally available — so
that the regulator’s duty to permit just and reasonable returns is met. Thus the fact that Sudbury’s
plates have positive value is evidence that— the duty in law is met.

In the presence of plate value, cities generally still manage meter rates on a relative basis, respanding to
industry costs. A well-managed rate provides a predictable environment in which all industry
participants can plan for the future. If rates are left unadjusted while costs rise, service is disrupted
while industry players resolve who is bearing the burden, and stakeholders do not make the needed
long run investments in equipment and service.

Hara Associates



Sudbury Taxicab Regulation - Analysis & Peer Comparison 37

Table 4: Meter Rates

Drop Per KM Per hour | 5km Fare ELILL Formula
Jurisdiction Drop Fare (no
Distance cost cost (no time) for Update
time)
$36.0
) (charged
Timmins $3.60 100m $1.75 instead of $12.18 $64.68 b
distance)
North Bay $4.20 100m $1.92 $34.41 $13.62 571.26 C‘IJ’I
$11.25-
Sault  Ste. _ $1.50- .
Marie >=53.90 100m $2.50 $30.00 516;2;;mn $56.25 x
Thunder Bay $4.,15 62.5m $2.50 $45.0 $16.49 $91.49 X
Barrie $3.25 100m $2.50 $30.00 $15.50 $90.50 C‘II’I
Kingston and
Loyalist $2.85 77m $1.30 $27.70 59.24 548.20 X
v
Sudbury $3.50 250m 52.23 7 $14.10 $81.07 Local gas
prices

Although rates are set for the benefit of the consumer, the concerns of the industry also must be
considered. The broader framework of common law places duties on governments when regulating the
price of any product or service; prices must be set high enough to allow firms in the industry the
opportunity to make a fair and reasonable rate of return on their investment. To do this the cost
conditions of the industry must be considered. Cities typically change taxi meter rates in response to
changes in industry costs.

Another relevant consideration is the value of a taxi plate within jurisdiction. When people are willing to
pay to enter an industry, it is evidence that returns to capital are higher than generally available — so
that the regulator’s duty to permit just and reasonable returns is met. Thus the fact that Sudbury's
plates have positive value is evidence that~ the duty in law is met.

In the presence of plate value, cities generally still manage meter rates on a relative basis, responding to
industry costs. A well-managed rate provides a predictable environment in which all industry
participants can plan for the future. If rates are left unadjusted while costs rise, service is disrupted
while industry players resolve who is bearing the burden, and stakeholders do not make the needed
long run investments in equipment and service.

Sudbury Meter Rates Compared to Peers

Determining whether Sudbury’s current meter rates reflect recent changes in taxi operating costs
requires on-site engagement with Sudbury stakeholders that is beyond the scope of this study. The cost
of operation in each city is different. For example, taxi insurance rates have risen sharply in some parts
of Ontario, less so in others. However, we can comment on where Sudbury stands in relation to its
peers.

Hara Associates




38 Sudbury Taxicab Regulation -Analysis & Peer Comparison

Figures 7 and 8 compare Sudbury's meter rates for short-haul (5 kilometer} and long-haul (35
kilometer).?® The range of meter rates is quite broad. Sudbury falls in the upper third. Rates in
Thunder Bay and Barrie are higher, while rates in the other four peer cities are lower.

r i .h Figure 7

Meter Rates for a 5 Kilometer Fare
{Distance Only)

zig [ 31699 $15.50

{ 513.62 $14.10
$14 | 513.15 - -
s12 $11.25 5
$10 | $9.24
$8 i
$6 | !
$4 |
s2 |
50 L— - - . st Bk

Timmins North Bay Sault Ste.  Thunder Bay Barrie Kingston and  Sudbury

{Estimated) Marie Loyalist
{minimum County
rate)
| Figure 8
Meter Rate for a 35 kilometer Fare
{Distance Only)
5100 SO050
$90 : -
580
570
$60
$50
540
$30
s20
$10
$0 :
Timmins North Bay Sault Ste.  Thunder Bay Barrie Kingstonand  Sudbury
(Estimated) Marie Loyalist
(minimum County
rate}

' Distances are calculated based on the rate per meter, rather than “on the nickel”. This avoids distortion The
Timmins meter rate is estimated — the mast recent published rate was adjusted upwards 8% for HST
harmonization, but a record is missing from City electronic records.

Hara Associates




Sudbury Taxicab Regulation - Analysis & Peer Comparison 39

Managing Meter Rate Adjustments

A different question is how meter rates are reviewed and adjusted. Only two of the peers, Barrie and
North Bay, undertake regular review of their meter rates. Both do so by increasing the meter rate by the
previous year’s general rate of inflation as measured by the Consumer Price index (CPI} published by
Statistics Canada. The other jurisdictions carry out their reviews at the request of their local taxi
industry. Sudbury has provisions in its bylaw for meter rate adjustments to occur as often as every three
months, based solely on the fluctuation in gas prices observed at any three local gas stations.

Recommendation 10: Replace method for meter adjustment rates. Sudbury’s reliance exclusively on
gas prices to adjust meter rates should be replaced by an index approach
capturing additional important cost elements. While gas prices have been a
source of volatility in the past, the rising cost of insurance has been the biggest
concern for Ontario taxi operators more recently.

some form of indexation is highly desirable, it allows the industry to form sensible expectations about
future rates. It allows consumers to do so as well. This helps avoid large and infrequent rate increases
that lead to sticker shock and cause customers to avoid taxis. Regular adjustment also allows individuals
who are considering giving up car ownership a more stable framework in which to budget for that
choice.

Ideally, an index would be representative of the costs of providing taxi service. However, there are two
common approaches. Smaller municipalities, such as those in the peer comparison, tend to use the CPI
because of its convenience. The disadvantage of the CPl is that itis built around a household budget, not
a taxi's. Gas, insurance, and vehicle operating costs are included, but have a lower weight than is
realistic for taxis..

A more sophisticated approach involves developing a taxi cost index (TCl) based on local taxi operating
costs Larger municipalities do this, including Toronto and Ottawa. Provincial agencies, such as the B.C.
Passenger Transportation Board, also use a Taxi Cost Index. A TCl is like the consumer price index. It still
can use convenient published data from Statistics Canada, but it gives more appropriate weight to gas,
insurance, and other costs relating to operating taxis.. The disadvantage of a TCl is that it is more
challenging for municipal staff to maintain. Errors can be made by those unfamiliar with the formula or
the data sources.

The cheice between a TCl and the CP1 is one of accuracy versus convenience. Over time, Hara Associates
has found that providing a spreadsheet tool that includes step-by-step instructions has helped
municipalities update their indexes without assistance. Either TCl or CPl would be an improvement over
the Sudbury’s current reliance exclusively on gas prices.

Whichever method is chosen the end practice is similar. If the CPI has risen 2% since the previous year,
then meter rates can be raised 2%, subject to stakeholder consuftation (sometimes the industry will
decline). The TCl is the same — an annual review based on % increase in the TCl. The major difference
is that a Taxi Cost Index requires the initial step of development in consultation with Sudbury operators
on their costs, while the CP is less accurate but already made.

Hara Associates



40 Sudbury Taxicab Regulation -Analysis & Peer Comparison

Applying the CPI

While a TCI based on costs is more accurate, it is possible to apply the CPI to Sudbury’s taxi meter
rate history to see what present rates might be under this rule.

Sudbury last adjusted meter rates in July 2010. Rates were increased 8% to accommodate HST
harmonization. The previous increase was in late June of 2008. The Consumer Price Index has
risen 5.9% since 2008, or 7.0% if you measure from 2008.'° The choice of baseline is problematic.
From one perspective, the industry has not received an adjustment for operating costs since 2008,
since the 2010 adjustment was to accommodate a tax. However, the net impact of HST
harmonization was less than the 8% meter rate increase given the industry. Harmonization also
lowered the costs of fuel and other inputs by providing an HST tax credit in place of the provincial
sales tax that was eliminated.

Applying a 5.9% increase to meter rates would increase the 5 kilometer fare to $14.93 - leaving
Sudbury’s relative ranking among other peer cities unchanged.

8.3 License fees

Licensing fees in the peer group vary widely, as does the estimated amount of revenue they generate
(Tahle 5, Figure 9). The tables show that Sault Ste. Marie has the lowest licensing revenue at less than
$5,000, while Barrie leads the pack with more than $180,000 of licensing revenue. Sudbury’s total
estimated licensing fees are similar to North Bay's, a city with 52 fewer taxis. The only peers that collect
less money than Sudbury to fund taxi regulation are Sault Ste. Marie and Thunder Bay, where their
respective police services boards have been moving to divest themselves of the taxi regulation
portfolio.

If the current regulatory budget is felt to be insufficient, Sudbury has considerable leeway to increase
contributions from the taxi industry. Doubling of license fees would make Sudbury’s combined fees per
taxi equivalent to the average of the peer group. Increased per vehicle fees are one way of achieving
this. Sudbury’s driver license fees also are among the lowest among its peers, although we note that
requiring a vulnerable sector check would impose additional fees on drivers.

[

Figure 9
$5.500 Annual License Renewal Costs
$2,000
$2,000
$1,500
$1,000
542%.40
500 28 328
: 5168110585 526“559 $106100g5 514752 Jﬁ 2"‘?-135 5125‘2
So e __- . IR ER

Timmins North Bay  Sault Ste, Thunder Bay Barrie Kingston and Sudbury

Marie i - Loyalist
mBroker mOwner {1 vehicle} = Driver County

19 Based on seasonally adjusted CPI for Canada to December 2013, Statisics Canada Table 326-0022, series
v4160914, An Ontario CPi series is also available, but on a seasonally unadjusted basis. Seasonally adjusted is

preferred sine fuel and other prices vary seasonally, and the comparision is between a July start date and a
December end-date.

Hara Associates



Sudbury Taxicab Regulation - Analysis & Peer Comparison 41

Table 5: Licensing Fees

. Taxi Brok Taxi O Taxi Driver
Jurisdiction | Taxi Broker e Taxi Owner e A Taxi Driver .-
Renewal Renewal Renewal
Timmins 5390 $160 $180 5110 5110 585
$645.72 per $263.66 per $96.85
North Bay $1614.28 $285.19 o oo p (+$26.91 $509.19
taxi taxi .
testing fee)
Sault Ste. $300 + 5100 | %50 + 550 for
Marie ) LY for each taxi each taxi S 325
Not Not . . $77 (+543 $77 (every
LT ) Applicable Applicable $147 pertaxi | 5147 per taxi test fee} three years}
Barrie $421.98 $421.98 5400.88 per | $400.88 per $337.59 $337.59
taxi taxi
Kingston and $3,500 $2,000 $600 per taxi | $250 per taxi $140 $135
Loyalist
$200 for zone
520%:‘:: the | 7 ndzone2 | $25 (+$50 for
Sudbury $200 $125 + airport each sitting of 525
$500 for each
i $100 for zone the test)
additional 2

8.4 Vehicle age, insurance, and management of license renewal

Table 6 compares peer jurisdictions on policy for vehicle age, insurance, and management of renewal of

licenses.

For vehicle age, Sudbury and Thunder Bay are among the tightest jurisdictions, limiting the age of a taxi
to seven model years for a regular taxi. The others use ten years, although Sault Ste. Marie and North
Bay require older vehicles to be inspected more frequently. For accessible taxis, there are two different
philosophies in play. One is to use a longer age limit as an incentive to provide accessible service and in
consideration of recovering the higher vehicle cost {Thunder Bay). The other is to have a tighter
restriction, possibly in consideration of the greater consequences of mechanical breakdown. North Bay
applies a slightly tighter restriction {eight years instead of ten), while Kingston and Loyalist Township
permit only three model years. Note that as of the end of 2013, Kingston and Loyalist Township have yet
to put accessible taxis into service.

More broadly, the more common approach is to extend vehicle age limits for accessible taxis as an
incentive. The impact on safety is moderated by the fact that, when a typical adapted family van is used,
the high maintenance costs usually limit the life span of the vehicle in any event. Having a more flexible
age limit for accessible vans allows operators to find low kilometer used vans to offset the cost of
customizing them with a wheelchair lift. Another point to consider is that purpose-built taxis, such as the
MV-1, the Transit Connect, or Nissan NV200, are intended to operate for much longer than a family

van.®

Regarding insurance, three of the six peers match the $2 million third party liability required by Sudbury
for its Zone 1 taxis. In addition, Kingston and Loyalist County require $2 million for its accessihle taxis,
compared to $1 million for other taxis. The rest require $1 million coverage, except for Thunder Bay.
Thunder Bay is silent on the subject — implicitly requiring the provincial minimum of $200,000.

0 production of the MV-1 has been a stop and start process. The company recently changed hands, and at the
time of writing is taking orders once again.

Hara Associates




42 Sudbury Taxicab Regulation -Analysis & Peer Comparison

If Sudbury chooses to merge zones, it would be consistent with practice in smaller jurisdictions to
extend the Zone 1 requirement of $2 million to all taxis, dropping the lower $1 million requirement for
current Zane 2 operators.

A final administrative question identified for this study, was practice in other jurisdictions on license
renewal. Is it preferable to renew all licences on the same expiry date? Or is it preferable to stagger
them throughout the year? Among the peers, only Thunder Bay and Barrie stagger license expiry over
the year. Choice will be affected by whether there is dedicated counter staff available to handle the
renewal process as part of their daily routine. Thunder Bay and Barrie are among the larger of the peers.
Smaller jurisdictions may prefer to deal with matters in bulk in order to focus available expertise and
avoid a constant call on staff. The three smallest jurisdictions (Timmins, North Bay, and Sault Ste. Marie)
are all police supervised and have chosen to manage expiry in bulk during a single month of the year.
The Kingston and Loyalist Township Taxi Commission serves a large population, but stands serparte from
either municipality — resulting in a small office.

As a larger municipality in this group, and with bylaw office staff available to manage renewal, Sudbury
may prefer to smooth out its workflow by staggering renewal dates. If vulnerable sector checks are

adopted, having staggered renewal dates also will avoid management having to handle a large number
of discretionary decisions all at once.

Table 6: Vehicle Age, Insurance, and Expiry Dates

Third Party
Police Staggering of Renewal
Jurisdiction Vehicle Age Liabili
Jurisdiction e 8 ty Dates?
Insurance
Cannot enter service No. All licenses expire on
Timmins Yes after 5 model years. $2 million Jan. 31. Renewals staggered
Maximum 10 years. within Jan.
10 model years — with No. Vehicle l .
increasing inspection °|' te dlc F'; flt;zr;se;r?x?re
p et ) ves by age Sl Iic:rsmsesa zx ire Ia;st J:e of
(8 for accessible P v
. March.
taxis)
5 vears, after which No. All expire March 30,
Sault Ste. Marie Yes : tr 'ins action $1 million with grace period for
e renewal until April 15",
7 years and 600,000 None. Provincial . MIKE('I.
- A Vehicles all expire Aug. 31.
Yes (In kilometers. legislation .
Thunder Bay o - . ) . Driver staggered by
transition) {No limit for accessible minimum is o
) individual start date and
taxis) $200,000
have 3 year term
Barrie No None $2million Yes: Renewa! SIOCEIOE
issue anniversary
Kingston and 10 years $1 million No. All licenses expire Dec.
Loyalist No (3 years for accessible {52 million for 31. $50 surcharge if not in
Township taxis) accessible taxis) by Dec. 15
7 years, 52 million
Sudbury No (6 years for airport) {51 million airport No. All licenses expire Aug.
{10 years for and rural operators 31.
accessible) in Zone 2)

Hara Associates




Appendix A

Peer Cities




Appendix A - Peer Cities

Six cities were selected, in consultation with City representatives, to be comparable to Sudbury in terms
of population and shared Ontario jurisdiction. They were:

» Barrie
e Kingston and Loyalist Township
s North Bay
e  Sault Ste. Marie
e Thunder Bay
¢+ Timmins
This appendix provides descriptions of each jurisdiction. Comparative tables appear in the main report.

Authorities in each of these cities kindly agreed to be interviewed and review draft descriptions of the
Bylaw and practices. Responsibility for errors and omissions is Hara Associates’,

Hara Associates



A-2 Appendix - Peer Cities

Barrie
Jurisdiction Served: The City of Barrie
Name of regulator: Department of Building and By-Law Services
Population (2011 census): 135,711
Taxi fleet (by type): 199 total
4 accessible
Number of limousines:
Taxis per 10,000 Population: 14.6
Drivers: 300
Plates Transferable? No
Market value of plates/medallions: N/A
Medallion/taxi license lease value:
Meter Rate —
-S kilometers {drop and distance only): $15.50 (10% discount for senior citizens)
-35 kifometers (drop and distance only): $90.50 {10% discount for senior citizens)

In Barrie, taxi regulation is handled by the Department of Building and By-Law Services. This depariment
is responsible for enforcing most bylaws in the city. The power to pass and amend bylaws regulating the
taxi industry rests with the city council.

Licencing Regime

After an industry open house in November of 2011 and a staff review terminating in early 2012, Barrie
enacted a new licence formula of 1 taxi per 1,500 residents. This was accompanied by the enactment of
a moratorium on the issuance of new plates until the ratio is met; currently, there is one taxi for every
682 residents. There is no formal process in place to issue new licences, when they become available.

The moratorium on new licences was accompanied by a prohibition on the transfer of existing licences.
There is no exception laid out in this bylaw. If a licence holder dies or the ownership of a licence holding
company changes, their licences are forfeit.

Barrie’s bylaw outlines two separate classes of taxi vehicle licences, A and B. In their definitions they
carry different requirements for safety equipment; however, later bylaw amendments effectively
impose the more stringent requirements of Class B on all taxis.

Taxis in Barrie must be operated in association with a taxi company. Taxi companies are required to
provide dispatch service and must police their drivers and staff to ensure that cell-phones are not used
to respond to calls for service. Taxi drivers may not service business for any company aside from the one
they are associated with.

Vehicle Age and Insurance

Taxis must carry at least $2,000,000 of third party liability insurance. There is no restriction on the age of
vehicles used for taxi service.

Licencing Requirements

Hara Associates




Appendix - Peer Cities A-3

All prospective drivers must pass a test on the geography of the City of Barrie. This test requires them to
take a by-law enforcement officer to three locations in the city without consulting a map. They do not
have to score perfectly to pass the test, but they should demonstrate a reasonable level of familiarity
with the city.

Aside from the test and having a valid Ontario driver’s licence, class G or higher, there are no strict
guidelines for the licencing of taxi drivers; however, if the issuer of licences determines that it would not
be in the public interest to grant an individual a licence, they can refuse to do so.

In order to inform their choice as to whether or not to grant a licence, Barrie requires that all
prospective taxi drivers provide them with a driver’s licence abstract and submit to a criminal record
check. These documents are requested at the time of initial application and at each annual renewal.

Individuals who are denied a licence have the right to appeal. This appeal must be filed in writing within
15 days of the refusal. A hearing is then held, at which the Corporate Services Committee of City Council
makes a final ruling on whether to grant the licence. If the Corporate Services Committee desires, it may
impose conditions on the granting of a licence, This procedure also applies to suspensions and
revocations.

Before they grant a licence to a taxi company the issuer of licences must be satisfied that a prospective
company will be able to provide 24 hour service from a staffed location that is readily accessible to the
public. They also have to provide records of all the vehicles and drivers working with their company and
must ensure that these drivers do not service calls from any other companies.

Accessible Taxis

Barrie has no special regulations for accessible taxis. The only additional regulations that apply to them
are those imposed by the province. Interestingly, though Barrie has no provision for the issuance of
wheelchair accessible taxi licences in its bylaw, the four taxi companies within Barrie each operate an
accessible taxi.

The Airport

Barrie shares an airport with the neighbouring City of Orillia. The airport stand appears to be closed,
with only two of the four Barrie companies operating there. Two Orillia based companies also operate at
the airport.

Meter Rate

Since 2012 the meter rate has been set at:
e 53.25 for the first 1/10 of a kilometer.

e $0.25 for each additional 1/10 of a kilometer or part thereof.

Meter rates are updated based on Consumer Price Index inflation. There is a 10% discount for any
passenger paying cash who can present a Senior Citizen’s card.

Bar Closing and Entertainment District

Hara Associates



A-4 Appendix — Peer Cities

Administration

All licences expire each year on the anniversary of their date of issue. Licence fees are increased

annually by the amount of the previous year’s rate of Consumer Price index inflation. The fees for 2013
are:

e $421.98 for a taxi company license
e $400.88 for each taxi vehicle license

e $337.59 for a taxi driver license

Hara Associates



pe

Appendix - Peer Cities A-5

Kingston Area Taxi Commission (KATC)

Jurisdiction Served: The City of Kingston and The Township of Loyalist
Name of regulator: The Kingston Area Taxi Commission
Population (2011 Census) 139,584 (Kingston: 123,363, Loyalist: 16,221)
Taxi fleet (by type): 209

Number of limousines {2011): Not regulated

Taxis per 10,000 Population: 15.0

Drivers: 2,570

Are Plates Transferable? Only upon death of the plate holder

Market value of plates/medallions: $15,000 - 525,000

Medallion/toxi license lease value:

Meter Rate -

-5 kilometers {drop and distance only): $9.24

.35 kilometers (drop and distance only}: $48.20

The City of Kingston and the Township of Loyalist share a taxi regulating agency, the Kingston Area Taxi
Commission (KATC). The KATC is comprised of seven members, 5 members of the public, a councillor
from Loyalist, and a councillor from Kingston. These committee members are appointed for a term of
one year. The KATC writes, passes, and enforces all by-laws relating to taxi licencing in its jurisdiction.

Licencing Regime

The current by-laws cap the number of taxis, with 209 standard taxis currently in service and no
provisions for the issuance of additional plates. There is an additional allowance in the commission’s by-
laws for the issuance for three accessible taxi plates as part of a pilot program, while Kingston works its
way towards AODA compliance. Given that a cap of 1 plate for every 800 residents was established in
1996 and the current ratio sits at 1 for every 750, it is unlikely that additional standard taxi licences will
be issued in the near future (except in the event of a plate holder’s death, discussed below).

Plates issued by the KATC are only transferrable when the plate holder dies. The decedent's family can
choose to take over the operation of the taxi themselves; however, they are also permitted to offer the
rights associated with the plate for sale, as part of the transfer of the business to third parties. In this
case the Commission notifies the top ten individuals on the waiting list and collects sealed bids that are
passed on to the estate administrator. Anyone who has maintained a valid taxi driver or owner licence
for the past 24 months is permitted to bid. The estate may accept any bid, including one from someone
not on the waiting list. If the family does not operate the business itself, and sells to a person not on the
waiting list, then a single new plate will also be issued to the waiting list (regardless of the number of
plates in the estate).

When new plates are issued by the KATC, they are first offered to individuals and companies on the
official waiting list. Aside from those on the list prior to July 21, 2010, maintaining a spot on the waiting
list necessitates holding a valid taxi owner or driver licence. Kingston’s waiting list stands out in allowing
the multiple listing of a single name. The only restriction is that a name cannot appear more than once
every 15 names. The waiting list is currently closed.

Hara Associates




A-6 Appendix - Peer Cities

Taxi owners, drivers, and brokers are all licenced by the KATC. Brokers provide dispatch service for
vehicles they may own and for plate holders or lessees who operate under their brokerage. While the
bylaw wording focuses on brokers dispatching taxis they do not own, in practice all dispatch operations
are expected to have a broker license. All owners and drivers, except independent operators
grandfathered in from before 2005, are required to maintain an association with a broker.

Plate leasing is explicitly regulated by the KATC, and all lease agreements must be filed with the KATC.
Lease agreements require that the plate holder provide the vehicle and that responsibility for insurance,
maintenance, and safety inspections is explicitly the responsibility of either the lessee or lessor. No
subleasing is permitted and all parties to the lease must hold a taxi owner, driver, or broker licence.

Vehicle Age and Insurance

The age of standard taxi vehicles is limited to 10 years (12 if they were licenced prior to March 28, 2007}.
Accessible taxis, meanwhile, may not be older than 3. Each standard taxi vehicle must carry at least
$1,000,000 of 3" party liability insurance and accessible taxis must carry at least $2,000,000 of the
same.

Licencing Requirements

Bylaw requirements for taxi drivers, brokers, and owners include:
o No criminal convictions in the past 3 years
e No unpardoned convictions for violent crime

Drivers must also have a good driving record without suspensions in the past 2 years. The failure to
meet any of these requirements results in the automatic rejection of the application. The only option
open to an individual that fails these criteria is to request a hearing hefore the Commission. The
Commission’s decision is final and it can impose conditions on the granting of a licence.

Drivers, plate owners, plate lessees, and brokers must submit to a vulnerable sector check at their own
expense, when they are first licenced. These checks are conducted using the fingerprints of the
applicant. Simpler criminal record checks are required of all licensees upon annual renewal.

There are no specific rules for the approval of a driver’s abstract aside from a lack of suspensions in the
past two years. Generally drivers with a high number of demerits face such prohibitive insurance rates
that they are priced out of the industry. As a result, the KATC has no plans to implement a demerit
requirement at this time.

All prospective owners and drivers are required to demonstrate knowledge of the permitted meter rates
and the geography of the region. This is assessed by the administration of a written test, after they
complete a self-study course.

Accessible Taxis

Currently, the KATC has not issued any licences for accessible taxis nor are there any operating within its
jurisdiction. There is, however, a pilot program in the works that would licence up to 3 accessible taxis in
the region. The first accessible taxi is anticipated for the spring of 2014.

Hara Associates



Appendix - Peer Cities A-7

The pilot program accessible taxis will be required to be no more than 3 years old and carry $2,000,000
in third party liability insurance (twice the amount required of standard taxis). Safety certifications for
the vehicles must also verify that they meet all the requirements of Highway Traffic Act Regulation 629.

The owners of accessible taxi plates will be required to keep at least one accessible vehicle in service at
all times. Additionally they are required to make detailed quarterly reports to the KATC. These reports
will be used to guide further policy. They and their drivers must also give priority to serving calls for
accessible taxi service.

Accessible taxi drivers will be required to complete a course covering how to care for and safely
transport disabled passengers. They are not permitted to charge a higher rate than those charged to
able bodied passengers, nor are they allowed to charge for the storage of mobility aids.

Airport
The airport is an open stand.
Meter Rate

The current meter rate is:
e 52.85 for the first 77 meters

e 50.10 for each additional 77 meters or part thereof

There are additional surcharges of 50.50 for each passenger after the first {except children under 12
accompanied by a parent or guardian), $2.00 for requesting a van, $0.50 for using the luggage storage
area, and $2.00 {or prior agreed amount) for transporting large items like bikes and skis. There is also a
vehicle cleanup fee of $80.50 if the passenger causes an “unusual sanitary accident” in the taxi.

Bar Closing and Entertainment District

Bar ciosing is a salient problem during the school-year, due to the high population of university students
in the region. The central entertainment area currently allocates a stretch of parking space, large
enough for 10 vehicles, for use as a taxi stand during late night hours. At present, the area is designated
by signs but is not explicitly supervised at night (e.g. no scheduled tow-trucks or similar}. Parking of
private vehicles in the space is an issue. The Commission’s taxi inspector patrols some evenings, issuing
tickets. Kingston's bylaw officers will also do this from time to time. The Commission is working towards
better coordination with the police in this area.

Administration

All licences expire on the 31* of December. Applications for renewal not received by December 15™ are
subject to a surcharge of $50. All renewals require a criminal record check, but not a vulnerable sector
check.

e Broker licence renewals cost $2,000
e Vehicle licence renewals cost $250
e Driver's licence renewals cost $135

Hara Associates



A-8 Appendix - Peer Cities

There are detailed standards in the by-law both for driver dress and for quality of service. A specific
dress code is laid out for drivers, outlining the kinds of clothing they are permitted to wear, Drivers,
owners, and brokers are all required to provide service on a first come first served basis to customers.
They cannot refuse a call unless the customer owes them for a previous fare or unless they can provide
documentation of a prior engagement that would be compromised.

Hara Associates



Appendix - Peer Cities A-9

Sault Ste. Marie
Jurisdiction Served: The City of Sault Ste. Marie
Name of regulator: Sault Ste. Marie Police Services Board
Population (census 2011} 75,141
Taxi fleet (by type): 36 total
3 accessible
Number of limousines: 16
Taxis per 10,000 Population: 4.8
Drivers:
Plates Transferable? With permission.
Market value of plates/medallions:
Medallion/taxi license lease value:
Meter Rate —
-5 kilometers (drop ond distance only): $11.25-16.15 (minimum drop)
-35 kilometers {drop and distance only): $56.25-91.15 (minimum drop)

Aside from passing new by-laws, the Sault Ste. Marie Police Services Board (SSMPS8) is responsible for
administering all aspects of the city’s taxi regulation regime. They issue licences and enforce the city’s
regulations. The SSMPSB is additionally responsible for overseeing limousines, hotel shuttles, and
specialized wheelchair accessible services.

Licencing Regime

Sault Ste. Marie is unusual in having an open entry system. 5o long as an applicant meets all the
required criteria and the SSMPSB finds that granting the licence would not be against the public interest,
any interested party can receive a plate. Currently there are 36 taxis in Sault Ste. Marie, including three
accessible taxis. Though anyone could conceivably add more taxis to the system, numbers have
remained relatively stable for many years; the market appears to have settled at an equilibrium.

In order to facilitate the continuity of the business in the event of a broker or taxi owner’s death, the by-
law permits the estate to operate the business for up to six months while arranging for another party to
take up the licences. Whoever the licences are transferred to must meet the same requirements as
anyone applying for a new licence,

The by-law provides for the licencing of owners, brokers, and drivers. A broker’s licence is required to
dispatch vehicles not owned by oneself. Broker's licences only permit a certain number of vehicles to be
dispatched by that broker and any changes to that number must first be approved by the SSMPSB. All
taxi brokers and owners must provide 24 hour service, including dispatch.

Vehicle Age and Insurance

Sault Ste. Marie has a soft limit on the age of taxi vehicles. Vehicles older than 5 model years may be
licenced, so long as they undergo a safety inspection overseen by the Chief of Police or his designated
agent. All vehicles-for-hire in Sault Ste. Marie are required to have at least $1,000,000 in third party

liability insurance,

Licencing Requirements

Hara Associates




A-10 Appendix - Peer Cities

By-law requirements for taxi drivers include:
¢ No unpardoned criminal record
e 9 or fewer demerit points on the driver’s record

e No convictions in past three years for the unlawful sale or purchase of liquor

In addition, the chief of police or their designated agent can refuse a licence if they feel that granting it
would be contrary to the public interest. If a licence is refused, the applicant can request a public
hearing before the SSMPSB.

Criminal record checks are carried out based on the name and birthday of the licensee. No fingerprints
are taken, though the by-law does provide for it. All drivers must undergo a criminal record check
annually as a condition of the renewal of their licence.

Aside from the conditions laid out above, all applicants for a new driver’s licence (whether it be for a
taxi, limousine, hotel shuttle, or wheelchair service), must take a written examination. The examination
covers road signs and the duties of drivers under the by-law. The applicant must score at least 80% on
the exam to pass. If they fail, they must restart the licence application process from the beginning.

Accessible Taxis

Sault Ste. Marie does not licence accessible taxis in a different way from standard taxis. There are no
additional requirements for vehicle standards or driver training separate from those imposed by
provincial regulations.

Sault Ste. Marie also licences a separate class of wheelchair accessible services. The vehicles operated by
these services can only be used for the transportation of passengers requiring wheelchair accessible
service and their companions. They are split into two categories, basic wheelchair service and enhanced
wheelchair service. Basic service covers point to point transportation and enhanced service includes
door to door service. These services have separate tariffs from those of taxi services. These tariffs are
calculated using the straight line distance between two the pickup and drop-off location on a 1:20000
scale map of the region. A Skm basic fare is $23.00. The enhanced service fare for a S5km trip is $35.50.
These are both significantly higher than the equivalent taxi fare.

A recent by-law amendment prohibits brokers, owners, and drivers from charging customers with
disabilities more for the same trip than customers without disabilities; however, it is unclear as to how
this affects specialized transportation providers. Sault Ste. Marie is currently investigating whether its
bylaw complies with AODA and intends to take steps to ensure that it does.

Airport
The airport is a closed stand. Multiple companies operate there, but some are excluded.

Meter Rate
Since 2011, the meter rate has been set at:

e A minimum drop rate of $3.90 for the first tenth of a kilometer (there is no maximum).

Hara Associates



Appendix - Peer Cities A- 11

s $0.10 for each additional fifteenth to twenty-fifth of a kilometer or part thereof.

There is no charge for additional luggage carried inside the vehicle. Meter rates are adjusted based on
requests to the SSMPSB and its own resultant investigations.

Bar Closing and Entertainment District

Bar closing is a challenge in Sault Ste. Marie, as it is in many other jurisdictions. One way that the
SSMPSB helps to lessen the problem is by estabiishing direct communication between the officers on
the street and the taxi dispatch companies. This allows officers to ensure that sufficient taxis are on the
way to clear out the area in a timely manner. Furthermore, it allows them to manage the expectations
of those on the street, by telling them when vehicles will be arriving.

Administration

All licenses expire at the same time each year, March 30™, and may be renewed up until April 15™. In
order to avoid a massive crush of paperwork at the end of March, the SSMPSB staggers renewals
throughout the month. All licensees failing to renew before March 30" have to pay the late renewal
rate.

e Vehicle licenses are $50 annually {$100 for late renewal or a new license}.
e Owner and broker licenses are $100 annually ($400 for late renewal or a new license).

= Driver's licenses are $25 annually {50 for late renewal, $15 for a new license).

All taxi brokers and owners must provide 24 hour service, including dispatch.

Hara Associates



A-12 Appendix - Peer Cities

Sudbury

Jurisdiction Served: The City of Greater Sudbury
Name of regulator: City of Greater Sudbury Bylaw Enforcement Department
Population {2011 census): 160,274
Taxi fleet (by type): 131 total
103 zone 1
8 accessible
14 zone 2
6 zone 2 + airport
Number of limousines:
Taxis per 10,000 Population: 8.2
Drivers:
Plates Transferable? Yes, with the vehicle
Market value of plates/medallions: >$30,000 zone 1
S0 zone 2
Medallion/taxi license lease value:
Meter Rate -
-5 kilometers (drop and distance only): $14.10
-35 kilometers (drop and distance only): 581.07

In Sudbury, taxi, limousine, and shuttle regulations are enforced by the Bylaw Enforcement Department.
The regulations themselves are the responsibility of the City Council. The Planning Committee used to
be responsible for handling appeals related to licencing issues, but this responsibility has recently been
given over to a specialized body, the Hearing Committee.

Licencing Regime

Currently, the City of Sudbury is split into three zones. Zone 1 has the same boundaries as the former
city of Sudbury. Zone 2 covers the rest of the city, except for the airport (the airport itself has special
rules discussed in their own section). Zone 2 + airport covers zone 2 and the airport. Taxis are only
permitted to pick up fares that originate or terminate within the zone for which they are licenced.
Accessible taxis are an exception to this rule, as they are permitted to pick up disabled customers
anywhere in the city; however, they are treated as zone 1 taxis when serving customers who do not
require their extra capabilities.

Zone 1 plates are currently limited to 1 plate per 1,000 residents of that zone. Currently, there are more
taxis in zone 1 than authorized by the population formula. This is due to recent developments regarding
the taxis operating at Sudbury’s airport. In 2013, a single provider contract was awarded by the Greater
Sudbury Airport to Sudbury Cab. In order to compensate the 12 former owners of zone 2 + airport
plates, they were awarded zone 1 plates. When new zone 1 plates become available they are allocated
via a waiting list.

The number of wheelchair accessible taxis is capped at 8. These taxis are not included in the formula for
determining the available number of zone 1 licences.

Zone 2 and zone 2 + airport plates are not limited in number and can be applied for at any time; though,
only one cab company is currently permitted to operate at the airport.

Hara Associates



Appendix - Peer Cities A-13

All brokers, owners, and drivers must be licenced. A broker is a person who dispatches taxis not owned
by themselves, immediate family, or their employer. In practice there is only one broker in Sudbury,
most taxi owners control enough plates to operate their own dispatch services.

Vehicle Age and Insurance

Zone 1 licenses in existence prior to the 2008 by-law are permitted to be attached to vehicles up to 7
model years old. Zone 1 licenses issued after the enactment of the 2008 by-law and airport licenses are
limited to vehicles up to 6 model years old. Accessible taxis must not be more than 10 model years old.
There is no restriction on the age of zone 2 taxis.

Taxis operating in zone 1 must carry at least $2,000,000 in third party liability insurance, while taxis in
zone 2 and at the airport need to carry a minimum of $1,000,000 worth.

Licencing Requirements

Bylaw requirements for drivers include:
e No federal criminal convictions in the past 5 years.

e The completion of a written test after a self-studied training course.

In addition to these requirements, drivers must have a letter from a taxi owner verifying that they will
employ them once licensed. The test is a written examination on city knowledge, covering the locations
of important landmarks in the city as well as the best routes by which to reach those points. Two
versions of the test are maintained at all times, so an applicant who fails can try again within 14 days. If
they fail once more, they must wait at least 180 days.

Owners and brokers do not have to pass a test but may not have a criminal conviction that suggests they
would not carry out their business in an honest manner. All criminal record checks for owners and
drivers are standard criminal record checks. No vulnerable sector checks are performed.

Any party refused a license has 14 days to lodge a written appeal. Once an appeal is received a hearing
before the Hearing Committee is scheduled. Grounds for refusal by the Hearing Committee are based on
the prior and anticipated conduct of the applicant. If it is felt that they will violate by-laws, not act with
integrity and honesty, endanger the public, or infringe on the rights of the public, an applicant will be
refused a licence. The final recommendation of the Hearing Committee is passed on to the City Council.
The Council’s decision is binding.

Accessible Taxis

There are 8 accessible taxis currently operating in Sudbury. Drivers of these taxis are required to provide
written proof that they have completed an MTO authorized course on serving disabled passengers.
These taxis are required to give first priority to disabled customers, who they can pick up and drop off at
any point in Greater Sudbury. When they are not under engagement, they are permitted to operate as a
standard zone 1 taxi cab.

Hara Associates



A-14 Appendix - Peer Cities

Airport

The airport is served by a special class of taxi license, the class 2 + airport license. These licenses are the
only ones that can pick up at the airport without paying a fee of $12. Several companies and
independent operators had these licenses up until 2013. At that point, the airport entered into a
contract with Sudbury Cab. Sudbury cab is now the sole company allowed to use the airport taxi stand.

Meter Rate

Since 2010 the meter rate has been:
e 53.50 for the first 250 meters
e $0.25 for each additional 112 meters or part thereof

Meter rates are subject to an annual review where the costs of cab operation are considered. This used
to be accomplished by way of a Taxi Cost Index, but it is now based on a review of gas prices in the local
area. Once the Planning Committee reviews the annual staff report, they decide whether or not to hpld
a public meeting to review its proposed rate policy.

Bar Closing and Entertainment District

Sudbury frequently experiences an undersupply of taxis during bar closing, especially during the school
year. This issue is further complicated by the zone system, as zone 2 taxis are not able to take many of
the fares that originate downtown during this period; some taxi drives claim that this provokes
occasionally violent, negative reactions from disappointed taxi seekers, These conditions have led to
reports of extensive illegal taxi activity, with a number of unregulated private vehicles being used to
make up the shortfall in supply.

Administration
All licenses expire on the 31* of August each year. Renewals may be refused if the applicant has
outstanding fines owing to the city.

¢ All new owner’s licenses cost $200 for the first license and $500 for each additional license

o Renewals for zone 1 and zone 2 + airport licenses cost $200.
o Renewals for zone 2 licenses cost $100.

¢ Broker's licenses are $200 initially and $125 to renew.

e Driver's licenses are $25 initially (+350 for each sitting of the knowledge test) and $25 to renew.
Zone 1 taxis are subject to certain operation requirements. Owners must either operate each vehicle for
at least eight consecutive hours per day, provide 24/7 service with multiple vehicles {only one needs to
be on the road at any specific time), or be affiliated with a business that provides 24/7 service. This
affiliation can take the form of an automated voice message directing callers to another company or to a

broker, when the owner’s taxis are not in operation. All taxi licenses must be operated for at least one
day in every 30.

Hara Associates



Appendix - Peer Cities A- 15

Thunder Bay

Jurisdiction Served: The Corporation of the City of Thunder Bay
Name of regulator: The Thunder Bay Police Services Board
Population (2011 census): 108,359
Taxi fleet (by type): official count 95 total
18 accessible
Number of limousines: 2
Taxis per 10,000 Population: 8.3
Drivers: 130
Plates Transferable? Only in the event of the death of the licence holder.
Market value of plates/medallions: Not applicable
Medallion/taxi license lease value: Not applicable
Meter Rate -
-5 kilommeters (drop and distance only}: $16.49
-35 kilometers {drop and distance only): 591.49

Thunder Bay taxis are regulated by the Police Services Board. The city itself provides administrative
support by managing the renewal of licenses and the collection of fees. At the time of writing, the
transfer of full responsibility from the police to the city is under discussion. One possible future division
of responsibilities would leave the police responsible for vehicle safety and enforcement, as the local
force has MTO licensed garages and mechanics available for this purpose.

Licensing Regime

The number of taxis is limited in the bylaw to 1 per 1,500 residents. This formula was established in the
1980's. In practice the number of taxis has stayed at 95, since applying the formula to Thunder Bay's
current population would result in fewer taxis than are currently operating (72 vs. 95). Accessible taxis
are 18 of the 95. The bylaw excludes accessible taxis from the formula, and empowers the Police Board
to issue additional accessible taxi licenses. In practice, eight of the 18 accessible plates were issued
outside of the formula, and the other ten are included in the number of taxis that would fall under the
formula. How taxi numbers are regulated may be reviewed in the event that there is a new regulatory
regime established with the transfer of responsibility from the police to the city. In past years, at least
one application for new licenses {by a potential operator from elsewhere in the province) was rejected
by the Board.

No person or group is permitted to control more than 60% of the vehicle licenses, either directly or
indirectly. This is supported by requirements to inform the Chief of Police of changes in ownership and
corporate structure.

Vehicle licenses are non-transferrable, except in the event of the death of a permit holder. Rights to the
permit pass to the estate of the deceased. New family operators must be approved by the Police
Services Board, the same as any new operator. Should the estate wish to sell the taxi vehicle (e.g. to a
new non-family member operator}, then the license itself cannot be transferred. Instead, a new license
must be acquired by the new operator,

Hara Associates



A-16 Appendix - Peer Cities

Taxi operators are expected to operate the vehicle themselves - leasing is prohibited. Taxis must be
used for a full shift at least 5 days per week or the license may be revoked.

There is a waiting list for new licenses under the Bylaw, open to anyone. The list has not been in use
until recently, when three taxi drivers asked to be added to the list with the presumed intention of
starting their own company. These are the only three people on the list. When a license becomes

available, eligible members of the waiting list are to be notified. They have 10 days to apply and qualify
for the license.

Only taxi vehicles and drivers are licensed. There is no direct licensing of taxi companies. However, the
word “company” is used in Bylaw requirements, effectively requiring taxi operators to disclose what
company they are associated with by requiring unique fleet colors and fleet vehicle numbers.

Vehicle Age and Insurance

Vehicle age of taxis is limited to 7 years (see accessible exception below). Additionally, all taxi vehicles
must have less than 600,000 km on the odometer. There are no such restrictions for limousines. There is
a requirement to provide proof of insurance, but no mandated coverage level. Accordingly neither taxis
nor limos require any additional insurance beyond that mandated by the Province.

Licensing Requirements

Bylaw requirements for taxi drivers include:

¢ No criminal conviction in the last three years for an offence related to safe taxi operation,
including but not limited to summary convictions under the Criminal Code, Food and Drug Act,
or Narcotic Control Act.

e Less than nine demerit points on the driver record.

Applicants who do not meet these conditions must have their application reviewed and approved by the
Police Board. In addition, any licensed taxi driver who accumulates six demerit points may be requested
to attend a meeting with the Police Chief to consider whether their license should be recommended for
suspension or revocation.

In practice, the police conduct an “enhanced” check that includes criminal record and any relevant
pending convictions or security concerns (e.g. sex offender). The enhanced check is more than a criminal
record check, but does not include the fingerprint identification of the formal vulnerable sector check.
Name and birth date is used for identification to avoid the three-month delay of manual fingerprint
processing via the RCMP. This practice may change once the digital fingerprint imaging system, already
received, becomes operational.

There are no specific rules for approval of driver record or enhanced check, beyond the basics in the
Bylaw. This includes some flexibility on driver abstract demerits. Thunder Bay drivers typically have an
employment relationship with the company. Results of checks are provided to the taxi companies, who
may use this information to decide whether to accept drivers given natural concerns about insurance
and service quality.

Hara Associates



Appendix - Peer Cities A- 17

Potential drivers receive a copy of the Bylaw with highlighted sections relevant to driver responsibilities.
They must also pass a test covering the bylaw and geographic knowledge of the area. Companies are
expected to do the actual training. There is no language testing. Again, reliance is on the companies.

Accessible taxis

Accessible taxis must give priority to service of persons with disabilities and/or seniors. There are 18
accessible taxis included in the 95 total taxis. Accessible licenses are exempt from the age requirement
for vehicles, and must meet Canadian Standards Association standard {CAN3 D409 M84) and regulation
629 of the Ontario Highway Traffic Act. Accessible taxi drivers must provide proof they have completed a
course in CPR and first aid.

Airport
The airport is a closed stand with a single franchisee taxi company.
Meter Rate

Since 2010, the meter rate has been set at:
e 54,15 for the first 1/16 of kilometer.
e 50.10 for the every additional 1/25 of a kilometer or part thereof.

There is a daytime discount for seniors of 30 cents from 9am to 6pm. Meter rate adjustment is on
industry request to the Police Board. There is no set formula or criteria for adjustment.

Bar Closing and Entertainment District

There is a shortage of taxis at bar closing, in part because peak demand coincides with late-night flight
arrivals at the airport. The shortage manifests itself at the airport rather than at the bar area for two
reasons. First, the fast turnover an trips from the entertainment area is more attractive to drivers.
Second, because the police are in direct contact with taxi company dispatchers and request cars to come
down and help with clearing the streets at closing time. This shortage at the airport has become a public
issue covered in the media and a concern of involved members of City Council.

Drivers may require an estimated “fare up front” on any night shift (between 8pm and 8am). The meter
is run during the ride, and any difference is to be refunded {or paid).

Administration

Vehicle licenses all expire on August 31 annually. Vehicle renewals are handled all at once. Driver
licenses are issued for three-year term and renewals are distributed throughout the year according to
their individual start dates.

e Vehicle licenses are $147 annually.
s Drivers licenses are 577 every three years plus the cost of a criminal record check (currently
$45). First time applicants must also pay the test fee of $43.

Hara Associates



A-18 Appendix - Peer Cities

There are no qualitative service or performance standards in the Bylaw beyond requirements for vehicle
and driver safety and presentation.

Hara Associates



Appendix — Peer Cities A- 19

Timmins
Jurisdiction Served: The City of Timmins
Name of regulator: The Police Services Board for the City of Timmins
Population {2011 census): 43,165
Taxi fleet (by type): 60
Number of limousines: 1
Taxis per 10,000 Population: 13.9
Drivers: Approximately 1,100
Estimated 400-500 active
Plates Transferable? Yes, with the vehicle or upon death of a licence holder
Market value of plates/medallions: Approximately $7,000
Medallion/taxi license lease value:
Meter Rate -
-5 kilometers (drop and distance only}: $12.18
-35 kilometers (drop and distance only): $64.68

Taxis and Limousines in Timmins are regulated and licenced by the Police Services Board for the City of
Timmins (TPSB). The power of passing and amending by-laws remains with the City Council.

Licencing Regime

The number of taxis in Timmins is limited to 60 by the current bylaw. This cap includes wheelchair
accessible vehicles, though none are in service at this time. The number of limousines is not restricted.

All vehicle licences must be kept in operation. If an owner fails to operate their vehicle for 30 calendar
days the plate can be revoked. When a taxi plate becomes available, either due to its being revoked or
the expansion of the licence cap, it is distributed via a lottery. Interested parties have 30 days to register
for the lottery. There is no prior industry involvement requirement for registration.

Vehicle licences can be transferred along with the vehicle, so long as the TPSB official in charge of issuing
licences approves it. Licences can also be transferred to the family members or estate of an individual
upon their death.

Taxi brokers are defined as those who accept calls for and dispatch vehicles not owned by themselves,
immediate family members, or their employer. Taxi owners can be brokers as well. Taxi brokers are
required to meet minimum service standards regarding the proportion of their fleet in service. At least
35% of their fleet must be operating in low demand periods and this doubles to 70% during peak hours.
Taxi owners do not need to associate with a broker, and they are not bound by the same service
requirements.

Vehicle Age and Insurance

Taxi vehicles may be no older than 5 years when initially licenced and may not stay in service past the
age of 10. All taxi vehicles must carry at least $2,000,000 in third party liability coverage.

Licencing Requirements

Hara Associates




A-20 Appendix - Peer Cities

Aside from having a valid Ontario driver’s licence, class G or higher, there are no strict guidelines for the
licencing of taxi drivers; however, if the TPSB determines in it would not be in the public interest to
grant and individual a licence, it can refuse to do so.

In order to inform its choice regarding whether or not to grant a licence, the TPSB requires that all
prospective taxi drivers provide them with a driver’s licence abstract and submit to a vulnerable sector
check based on their fingerprints. These documents are only requested at the time of initial application.
There is no requirement to produce them upon renewal.

Individuals who are denied a licence have the right to appeal. This appeal must be filed in writing within
15 days of the refusal. A hearing is then held, at which the TPSB makes a final ruling on whether to grant
the licence. if the TPSB desires it may impose conditions on the granting of a licence. This procedure also
applies to suspensions and revocations.

All taxi owners and dispatch company owners must maintain a taxi driver’s licence, so they undergo the
same degree of scrutiny as prospective drivers. In addition they must have correct zoning for their
business and, in the case of brokers, sufficient parking space for all taxis associated with their brokerage.
Accessible Taxis

The bylaw makes a single reference to accessible taxis, when it clarifies that they are included in the
licence cap. There are no accessible taxis currently operating in Timmins nor are there any specific rules
in place for their drivers or aperation.

Airport

The airport is open to all three companies in Timmins. Each has their own parking space and courtesy
phone.

Meter Rate

The current meter rate reported by the TPSB is:
¢ 53,60 for the first 100 meters.
e 50.175S for each additional 100 meters or part thereof

Bar Closing and Entertainment District

The TPSB reports that it enacts no special measures for bar ¢losing and that it poses no challenges to
the cab industry or local community.

Administration

All licences expire on January 31 of each year. In order to prevent a single rush of renewal applications,
the TPSB staggers the renewals throughout the month of January.

e Broker's licenses are $390 initially and $160 on renewal.

Hara Associates



Appendix - Peer Cities A-21

e Owner’s licenses are 5180 initially and $110 on renewal (this fee covers any number of vehicle
licenses).

e Driver's licenses are $110 initially and $85 on renewal.

Hara Associates



A-22 Appendix - Peer Cities

North Bay

Jurisdiction Served: The City of North Bay
Name of regulator: The North Bay Police Services Board
Population {2011 census): 53,651
Taxi fleet (by type): 79 total
1 Accessible

{7 additional standard plates are currently privately held but
not active on vehicles)

Number of limousines: Not regulated

Taxis per 10,000 Population: 14.7 {17.0 authorized)
Drivers: 163

Plates Transferable? With permission

Market value of plates/medallions:

Medallion/taxi license lease value;

Meter Rate -
-5 kilometers {drop and distance only): $13.62
-35 kiformeters (drop and distance only): 571.26

The City of North Bay has fully delegated the power to licence and regulate taxis to the North Bay Police
Services Board (NBPSB). Delegation to the NBPSB includes the power to pass and amend the by-laws
that regulate the taxi industry.

Licencing Regime

The number of taxis is limited by the by-law to 91. This includes 85 standard taxi plates and 6 plates for
wheelchair accessible vehicles. Currently, all standard taxi plates are allocated, but 7 are not in
operation. Only a single wheelchair accessible taxi plate is currently operating; those that are not
attached to a vehicle are revoked.

Plates are transferrable with the permission of the chief of police or his designate. Normally they can
only be transferred to the holder of a vehicle owner’s licence, but this requirement is waived in the
event of their transfer to an immediate family member upon the death of the holder. There is no formal
process in place at the moment to determine how to allocate new plates, if they are issued.

Plates can be leased, and all plate lessors must be licenced as taxi owners. Taxi brokers are distinct from
taxi owners and are individuals or companies that accept calls on behalf of vehicles not owned by them,
their immediate family, or an employer. The use of cell-phones to receive calls from the public is
expressly prohibited. As a result only brokers and owners can provide dispatch service and they must do
so from fixed premises,

Limousines are exempt from regulation so long as they either do not operate under radio dispatch or
only accept trips with a minimum lead time of four hours.

Vehicle Age and Insurance

Standard taxi vehicles have to be less than 10 model years old, while wheelchair taxis must be less than
8 model years old. All types of taxis must carry at least $2,000,000 in third party liability insurance.

Hara Associates



Appendix - Peer Cities A- 23

North Bay is different from most Ontario municipalities in requiring different inspection frequencies for
taxis, based on the age of the vehicle. This varies from one safety inspection certificate per year for
vehicles 2 model years and younger to 4 per year for those between 9 and 10 model years old.

With just cause, the chief of police or their designate can reject Safety Certificates from a particular
mechanic or garage. They also may, when they have good reason to suspect a vehicle is in unfit
mechanical condition, require that the owner or driver submit the vehicle to inspection by an approved
mechanic within 24 hours.

Licencing Requirements
Bylaw requirements for all prospective licensees include:

» Being of good moral character and habits

* No federal, provincial, or municipal convictions.

There are a number of other requirements that kick in, once an individual is licensed. The chief of police
or their designate can suspend a license if a licensee has apparently contravened the criminal code of
Canada, been convicted of an offence under the Highway Traffic Act that carries 2 penalty of 7 or more
demerits, contravened the liquor license act, contravened the by-law, been charged the operation or
permitting the operation of a motor vehicle without insurance, or been charged under the Highway
Traffic Act with careless driving, driving while suspended, failing to remain at the scene of an accident,
or failing to stop for police.

If a license is suspended, the NBPSB holds a hearing to determine the course of further action. They can
decide to revoke the license, suspend it, renew it, or issue a new license with specific conditions
attached to it. The licensee must be given at least 7 days’ natice of the hearing date.

All licensees are required to submit to a vulnerable sector check as part of the initial application and
annual renewal processes. These checks are first run on the name of the applicant. if the name does not
come back as clear a fingerprint check is performed, so as to avoid false positives.

Applicants for a new taxi driver’s licence have to pass a written test demonstrating that they have
knowledge of the city’s geography and landmarks, the bylaw, and the Highway Traffic Act. They must
also have a letter of endorsement from the taxi owner who intends to hire them.

If they have reasonable grounds to suspect a problem, the chief of police or their designate may request
a medical certificate from any licensed party. If the license holder is found to be unfit to operate a taxi,
conditions can be imposed on their license or it can be revoked entirely.

Accessible Taxis

The bylaw authorizes up to 6 accessible taxis, however these licences are revoked if they are not
attached to a vehicle. There is only one accessible taxi in service at this time.

Accessible taxi vehicles must meet all provincial requirements and must be less than 8 model years old.
Their drivers must be licenced as taxi drivers and additionally must provide proof that they have passed
a course in CPR and first aid.

Hara Associates



A-24 Appendix - Peer Cities

Airport
The airport is a closed stand with a single franchisee company.
Meter Rate

The Meter Rate for 2013 is:
e 54.20 for the first 100 meters
¢ 50.10 for each additional 52.04 meters or part thereof.
The rates are increased every February at the same time as licence renewals are carried out. The

increase is equivalent to the percentage change in Statistics Canada’s Consumer Price Index over the
previous calendar year.

Whenever a new customer enters a taxi that is already engaged, the meter is reset and the customers in
the taxi for the previous portion of the trip are responsible for immediately paying the fare. This is
different from the majority of municipalities. In most cases, trips with multiple pickups are considered a
single engagement.

Bar Closing and Entertainment District

The NBPSB facilitates easy access to taxis during peak evening hours by permitting them to use loading
zones in the main entertainment district as taxi stands, between the hours of 9pm and 6pm. The police
also will call the taxi companies if shortages are observed; but, this is generally the result of all taxis
being busy, so long delays do occur.

Administration

All owners’ licences expire on the last day of February in each year. Driver’s and Broker’s licences expire
on the 31* of March.

e Taxi brokers’ licenses cost $1,614.28 initially and $285.19 to renew.

* Taxiowners’ licenses cost $645.72 per vehicle initially and $263.66 per vehicle to renew.

*  Taxidrivers’ licenses cost $96.85 initially (+526.91 for the test} and $59.19 to renew.

Hara Associates



North Bay Police Service
P.O. Box 717, 135 Princess Street West, North Bay, ON P1B 8J8
Paul D Cook 705-497-5555  FAX 705-497-5591 Shawn E. Devine
Chief of Police Website: www.northbaypolice.on.ca Deputy Chief of Police

Board Report

Date of Report: May 6, 2014
Date of Meeting: May 13, 2014

Chair Mr. D. O'Connor and members of the
North Bay Police Services Board

Subject: Chief's Monthly Activities Report — April/May
Recommendation: Information ltem

The following are items of interest and/or special events that Deputy Chief Devine and |
have represented the Police Service at since the last Board meeting that does not merit
separate reporting:

Apr. 8
s Cop Talk
« Nipissing CMHA/Amelia Rising Dinner Meeting
Apr. 9
e DIA Meeting regarding YIPI Program
e OACP Zone 6 Meeting in Sarnia
Apr. 10
» Retirement Luncheon for Ted Whittle
Apr. 14
e Meeting with Brent Kalinowski regarding the Gateway HUB
Apr. 15
s Meeting OPP Drug/Intelligence
» Amelia Rising, “No one asks for it” Walk Meeting
Apr. 22
« OPTIC Board Meeting in Toronto
» One Pledge Presentation for Near North District School Board
Apr. 24
* Amelia Rising, "No one asks for it" Walk Meeting
» Provincial Strategy on Child Pornography Meeting
* One Pledge presentation to the Rotary Club f Nipissing
Apr. 25
¢ 51 Squadron Graduation Ceremony at 22 Wing
Apr. 28
s Special Olympics Winter Games Committee Meeting
Apr. 29 & 30
s« OACP Board of Directors Meetings in North Bay
May 2
e Ontario Police College Advisory Committee Meeting in Aylmer



May 5
+ Change of Command Ceremony for Chief Paul Pedersen Greater Sudbury Police Service
May 7
e QACP Justice Committee Meeting in Brampton
May 8
« CISO Governing Body Meeting in Mississauga
« Keynote Speaker at Ontario Homicide Investigator's Association Workshop in Niagara
Falls
May 9
+ OPP Commissioner Lewis' Retirement Supper at the Nottawasaga Inn
May 10
» Prescription Drugs Drop Off Day
May 12
« One Pledge Presentation for Rotary Club of North Bay

Since the last Board meeting we have not amended any of our Standard Operating Procedures or
entered into any new Protocols.

| invite any comments or questions from the Board.

Sincerely,

Q_.,O Ce
Paul D. Cook, C.0.M.
Chief of Police



North Bay Police Service
P.C. Box 717, 135 Princess Street West, North Bay, ON P1IB 8J8
Paul D. Cook 705-497-5555  FAX 705-497-5591 Shawn E. Devine
Chief of Police Website: www.northbaypolice.on.ca Deputy Chief of Police

Board Report

Date of Report: May 5, 2014
Date of Meeting:  May 13, 2014

Mr. D. O'Connor, Chair

and members of the

North Bay Police Services Board
Subject: Statistical Reports

Recommendation: The Board resolves to, “Accept the Condensed Monthly
Statistical and Revised Statistical Reports for the month
of March 2014 as presented.”

Find attached the Condensed Monthly and Revised Monthly Reports for the
month of March 2014.

| invite any questions or comments from the Board.
Sincerely,

\ o s

Paul D. Cook, O.0.M.
Chief of Police



2014-05-01

During the month of March 2014, police activity for the North Bay Police Service

**REVISED™
NORTH BAY POLICE SERVICE
CONDENSED MONTHLY STATISTICAL REPORT

MONTH OF MARCH

resulted in 2267 calls as compared to 2143 calls in 2013.

Of these calls, 121 were to investigate motor vehicle accidents. Nine of these

accidents involved injuries, with 13 persons injured.

The following is a list of some of the criminal occurrences investigated during the month,

with comparative figures for 2013.

Yea[__ to Date

Cleared to Date

Additional detailed statistics are available through the Office of the Chief of Police.

*Note - Year to Date statistics will change due to adjustments.

QJC—‘L

P.D. Cook
Chief of Police

Isc

2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
Homicide - - - - - -
Sexual Offences 3 8 9 20 8 13
Assault 39 38 92 99 89 98
Robbery - 7 2 9 - 3
Break, Enter & Theft 14 6 42 30 4 9
Stolen Vehicles 2 2 4 13 2
Stolen Bicycles - 2 1 - -
Recovered Bicycles - 3 5 4 1 -
Theft Under 71 80 181 191 56 61
Theft Over 2 - 4 2 1 -
|Mischief 23 33 51 80 8 20
Drug Charges 32 49 32 55
Criminal Offences Total 587 700
Calis for Service 5511 5035|
Police Activity 6280 5948 |




2014-04-01

During the month of March 2014, police activity for the North Bay Police Service

NORTH BAY POLICE SERVICE
CONDENSED MONTHLY STATISTICAL REPORT

MONTH OF MARCH

resulted in 2267 calls as compared to 2143 calls in 2013.

Of these calls, 121 were to investigate motor vehicle accidents. Nine of these
accidents involved injuries, with 13 persons injured.

The following is a list of some of the criminal occurrences investigated during the month,

with comparative figures for 2013.

Year to Date

Cleared to Date

Additional detailed statistics are available through the Office of the Chief of Police.

*Note - Year to Date statistics will change due to adjustments.

N ce

P.D. Cook
Chief of Police

Isc

2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

Homicide - - - - - -
Sexual Offences 3 8 9 20 9 13
Assault 37 38 91 99 88 98
Robbery - 7 2 9 - 3
Break, Enter & Theft 9 6 36 30 4 9
Stolen Vehicles 2 2 4 13 1 2
Stolen Bicycles - 2 3 - -
Recovered Bicycles - 3 5 4 1 -
Theft Under 51 80 159 191 51 61
Theft Over 2 - 4 2 1 -
Mischief 13 33 41 80 9 20
Drug Charges 8 16 30 49 31 55
Criminal Offences Total 537 700

Calls for Service 5540 5035

Police Activity 6276 5948]




North Bay Police Service
P.O. Box 717, 135 Princess Street West, North Bay, ON P1B 8J8
Paul D. Cook 705-497-5555 FAX 705-497-5591 Shawn E. Devine
Chicf of Police Website: www.northbaypolice.on.ca Deputy Chicf of Police

Board Report

Date of Report: May 1, 2014
Date of Meeting: May 13, 2014

Chairman Mr. D. O'Connor
and Members of the
North Bay Police Services Board

Subject: 2013 Reports on Policing for North Bay and Callander

Recommendation: That the Board hereby resolves to, “accept the 2013 Annual
Reports on Policing for North Bay and Callander as presented
by the Chief of Police.”

Find attached our Annual Reports on Policing for 2013, which were prepared by
Sergeant Webber.

Once these reports are accepted by the Board, through Resolution, they will be
forwarded to Municipal Councils in North Bay and Callander. They will also be shared
with our community on our website.

| invite any questions that the Board may have concemning this report.

incerely,

' 0 Ce
Paul D. Cook, C.O.M.
Chief of Police



North Bay Police Service
Report on Policing 2013

Dennis O’Connor — Chair

North Bay Police Services Board
Paul D. Cook — Chief of Police
North Bay Police Service



Dear Community Members:

i am pleased to present our 2013 North Bay Annual Report on Policing on behalf of the North
Bay Police Services Board. | would also like to take this opportunity to recognize and thank all
of our members for their ongoing professionalism, integrity, compassion and dedication to
duty. They continue to make a significant difference both on-duty and off-duty in the communi-
ties we serve each and every-day.

This past year we commissioned an independent polling company to conduct community sur-
veys as part of our Business Planning process. The results were extremely positive with com-
munity satisfaction levels at an all-time high for both North Bay and Callander. These resulis
are something we should all be proud of as they are a direct reflection of the confidence our
community has in our Police Service and our members.

Qur success has been achieved thanks to our people and our strong ties with a multitude of
community partners that work with our Police Service on a daily basis. The Gateway HUB
Community Mobilization Model that we introduced this year is a fine example of cross sector
partners coming together to work with the police in the interests of community safety and well
being.

Our Police Service is proud of our history and looks forward to taking on the many challenges
and opportunities that lay ahead. Our new Business Plan 2014-2016 clearly articulates our po-
licing priorities, goals and objectives, and our direction over the next three years. In partnership
with our Board, City Council and our many partners we are committed to providing the high
level of professional policing our communities have come to expect and deserve.

Sincerely,

?.J C&

Paul D. Cook, O.0.M.
Chief of Police

b2



Table of Contents

Chief's Address Page 2
Table of Contents Page 3
Mission Statement and Values Page 4
Command Staff and Police Services Board Page 4
Gateway Community Mobilization HUB Page 5
Facts and Figures Page 6
Geographic Map Page 7
Annual Statistics Page 8
Crime and Clearance Rates Page 9
Violent Crime Page 10
Youth Crime Page 11
Domestic Violence Occurrences Page 12-13
Use of Force \ Page 13
Traffic Page 14
Bicycle Patrol and Community Programs Page 15
Highlights Page 16
Achievements and Last Post Page 17 - 21

Conclusion

Page 22




@

MISSION STATEMENT

‘Dedicated to service, committed to community’

VALUES
‘We, the members of the North Bay Police Service are committed to:
Excellence in policing

Pride in professionalism
Compassion for those in need

Honesty-Integrity-Growth-Teamwork’

NORTH BAY POLICE SERVICE COMMAND STAFF
Paul Cook -Chief of Police Shawn Devine - Deputy Chief of Police
Kirk Kelusky - Inspector of Administration Robert Jerome- Inspector of Operations

From left to right.
Bill Hagborg, - Vice Chair, Mayor Al McDonald - member, Tiziana Silveri - member,
Peter Leckie - Board Solicitor ,Tanya Vrebosch - member, and Carol Miller - Board Secretary.



GATEWAY COMMUNITY MOBILIZATION HUB

One of the most significant contributions to our community was the creation of the Gateway
Community Mobilization HUB. The North Bay Police Service has taken a leadership role in
bringing various human resource providers and stakeholders together to develop a mobiliza-
tion and engagement strategy to address individuals or families who are at “acutely elevated
risk”.

Acutely elevated risk exists when a number of factors are identified and if left unattended will
likely result in harm or lead to the situation worsening. The objective of the HUB is to intervene
before a situation worsens or escalates to more formal and extended interventions such as the
apprehension of children, criminal charges, prolonged or psychiatric inpatient hospital stays.

Before any situation is discussed at a HUB meeting it must be determined that it involves risk
factors that extend beyond the scope or normal business practices of any one agency. In most
HUB discussions three or more agencies must be involved to address the extent of the risk
factors present.

The HUB has a clearly defined process for determining if an individual and/or family are at
acutely elevated risk and if multi-agency intervention is required. The process is designed to
balance a citizen's right to privacy with the value or necessity of addressing the elevated risk.
Each meeting begins with a focused review of situations that have been previously ‘actioned’
by the HUB. A typical HUB meeting is depicted in the photograph below.

The current agencies involved in the Gateway Community Mobilization HUB are: North Bay
Police Service, Nipissing District Housing Corporation, District Nipissing Social Services
Admin Board, Children’s Aid Society, North Bay Parry Sound District Health Unit, Youth Justice
Services, Crisis Center, Canadian Mental Health Association, Nipissing Mental Health Housing
Support Services, Indian Friendship Center, Near North District School Board, North Bay Re-
gional Health Center, Nipissing-Parry Sound District Catholic School Board, HANDS The
Family Help Network.ca, PEP (People for Equal Partnership),Conseil Scolaire Catholique
Franco-Nord (School Board), Ontario Provincial Police, Probation and Parole and Community
Counselling Services.




Facts and Figures

2013 BUDGET (16,270,730)

154 800

60,277
182,891 \w{
482,383

450,000_/7\\

98,820

535,050_85,000

v4’_,_298 216

15,400,157

m Salaries H Police Service Board ® Overtime

W911 Fire Dispatch | Administration B Emergency Law Enforcement
@ Communications B HQ Maintenance m Equipment

W Fleet m Training miT

100 -
S0 -
80C
70
60
50
40
30

10

.
i
|
|
Hs

zo[

Staffing Levels
a3 94——93——94——94——94—94~

m Civilian part-time
m Civilian Full-time

m Sworn

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2005 2010 2011 2012 2013

In 2013 our compliment of staff remained at the same levels as 2012 with 94 Sworn, 40 Fuli-

time, and 26 Part-time members.

15000 .Annual Occurrences
0000 -

25000
50000 ¥ Reported
15000 B Actual

10000
5000 +

2012

2013

As noted in the corresponding graphs it would
appear “Reported Occurrences” remained
fairly consistent over the same reported time
period in 2012.

As noted in the 2013 graphs there is a differ-
ence between the reported and actual occur-
rences. This is mostly attributed to traffic stops.
All reported cccurrences include logged traffic
stops. Only those interactions with motorists
where some form of enforcement resulted are
included in the “Actual® component of the
graph.



Geographic Distribution

Based on the 2013 statistics documented in our Records Management System (RMS) Niche,
23,547 occurrences were reported across the five (5) zones. The map below outlines the num-
ber of calls for service by patrol zone. The criminal occurrences include drug charges and
drinking and criminal driving and driving offences with young offenders being excluded. There
was an additional 1,583 calls for service not attributed to a zone but categorized in a zone en-
titled “other”. This happens when the location of the occurrence is unknown (i.e. people loose
their wallet, damage to vehicle). These figures are obtained by Uniform Crime Reports Survey
(UCR). Details concerning the value and use of UCR is located on page 8.

SMAPRVEST™S o ! g

Zone 3
Calls for Service: 2,954
Criminal Occurrences: 344

Jlornell Hi:lghts

.a‘.’ No hBa

-~
Calls for Service: 3723
"7l Criminal Occurrences:
| 550

Zone 2
Calls for Service: 4,927
CriminalOccurrences: 612 | g4

= TaErouTMills |
f "-—:I—_\.W‘ et el

:"-IE- Feo L
Zone 1 Q7E)-Maps,
(Includes Police Headquarters)
Calls for Service: 7,740
Criminal Occurrences: 65

igewoad T Tt ,‘qur
! o Zone 5’
1 W -Galls'for Service: 4,203 \

o " ok ) Criminal-Occurrences:
et = D) 678 ;
=5 j T =
s cFerrls =5 =
/""- =
arweedsmuir
éunsgt':ﬁa“rk NipissIngYynction 5.
s ¥
keshon p,
©2001 MapQuest.com, Inc.; ©2001 DMTI o~hamplain Park =



2013 Platoon Statistics

Platoon Total Dispatched | Criminal Reports P.O.A. POA LLA or BY{ 3-Day
Hours Calls Code Notices | Summons Law Reparts
Worked Charges
1 29,808 7,920 634 2,200 587 41 74 490
2 30,576 9,262 527 2,330 485 37 84 579
3 28,668 10,061 755 2,416 384 55 84 579
4 28,680 8,413 559 2,181 259 47 81 305
TOTAL | 117,732 35,656 2,475 9,127 1,715 180 323 1,953
2012
Totals 82,740 37172 2,645 7,337 1,694 242 576 2,192
[% Change 42.3% -4.1% -6.4% 24.4% -9.5% -25.6%  -43.9%  -10.9% |

The table above denotes numerical values for many criterion related to Platoon functions and
comparison values between 2012 and 2013 performances. The Canadian Centre for Justice
Statistics (CCJS), in cooperation with the policing community, collects police-reported crime
statistics through the Uniform Crime Reporting Survey (UCR). The UCR Survey was designed
to measure the incidence of crime in Canadian society and its characteristics.

UCR data reflects reported crime that has been substantiated by police. Information collected
by the survey includes the number of criminal incidents, the clearance status of those incidents
and persons charged information. Statistics obtained by the UCR Survey revealed the North
Bay Police Service investigated 2,944 criminal occurrences.

Court Statistics
Year Wash Video Prisoners Prisoners | Prisoner Documents Adult Youth Total
Court | Remand Escorted Escorted Meals Served Charges Charges Charges
within the out of the {C.C) {CC)
City city
2003 171 279 2935 128 1704 1017 2373 499 2822
2004 179 632 1948 85 1415 1051 2536 467 3003
2005 152 655 3340 184 1984 1141 2288 527 2815
2006 160 493 2686 128 2089 908 2507 K] 2895
2007 187 761 3473 160 2534 1008 2308 387 2695
2008 216 591 3655 92 2486 682 2549 429 2978
2009 237 559 3564 80 2667 986 2791 457 3248
2010 203 562 3835 177 2699 859 2681 415 3096
2011 188 738 74 96 2554 1202 2834 289 3123
2012 201 834 3738 118 2668 1049 2845 314 3159
2013 153 711 3438 123 2479 868 3547 353 3900

In 2013 the NBPS laid the most Adult Criminal Charges since 2003.
Adult charges laid were 33% (887) above the last 11 year average of 2,660 charges. Youth
charges laid were 353 or 14.11% below the 11 year average of 411.



Crime and Clearance Rates
CRIME AND CLEARANCE RATES

Property Crime Viglent Crime Other Criminal Code Total Criminal
Code (exclading drug
& Tmpaired Driving
ullenees)

Number of 673
Occurrences
Clearance Total Average
Rate 28.32% 93.08% 94.52% 71.97%

CRIMINAL CHARGES

Youth Crimin:l . Justice Act

Female Female Yaouth Not
Charoed

697 209 68 16 203

Crime and Clearance Rates

A large proportion of calls for service and criminal occurrences are related to property crime.
Several initiatives, from community education to plain clothes operations are regularly utilized
to detect and deter property crime. Property crimes require the utmost of cooperation and
communication between all community stakeholders in terms of awareness and general
deterrence, as they are typically crimes of opportunity. As evidenced above property crimes
were almost double that of violent crime or crimes against a person.

For the reporting year of 2012, there was a total of 21 female youth charged, 90 male youth
charged, and 174 youth not charged/diverted. In 2013 there were 16 youth females charged,
68 male youth charged and 203 youth not charged/diverted.

In 2012 criminal occurrences involving youth were 285 while in 2013 the number was 287. It is
obvious that tenements of the Youth Criminal Justice Act, with respect to various forms of deal-
ing with youth outside a court setting is taking place. Perhaps in years to come recidivism rates
could be explored more thoroughly to determine the effect pre-charge provisions and extra ju-
dicial measures under the Act has on first time offenders.

Clearance rates pertaining to crimes against persons has increased to 94.52% in 2013 versus
88.3% in 2012.



1,

|.|'I 1’|

Violent Crime

ViCLAS is a nationwide database established to ensure that possible linkages between
predatory crimes are identified as early as possible. Criteria offence means an offence for
which a ViCLAS submission must be completed and submitted. These offences include but
are not limited to: Sexual Assaults, Homicides and Attempts, some instances of missing per-
sons, Child Luring, false allegations of Sexual Assault and in some instances Criminal Har-
assment.

From January 1st to December 31st, 2013, a total of 60 VICLAS submissions were made to
the Provincial ViCLAS Centre for analysis, 51 related to Sexual Assault investigations. The
remaining submissions were for Child Luring, Homicide, Attempted Homicide and Child Por-
nography related offences.

ViCLAS 2013 — Three Year Statistical Report

Criteria Offences 2011 2012 2013
Sexual Assault 62 79 51
Child Luring 1 1 4
Missing Persons 1 0 0
Homicide 0 0 1
Attempt Homicide 0 0 1
Unidentified Remains 0 0 0
Non-Parental Abduction 0 0 0

SUB-TOTAL 64 80 57

Non-Criteria Offences

Child Pomography 0 0 3
Criminal Harassment 0 1 0
Indecent Act 0 4 0
Other 0 1 0

TOTAL 64 86 60

Violent Crime in our society draws much attention, particularly occurrences of domestic vio-
lence and violence in our schools. With recent changes in legislation, a strong message of
zero tolerance has been communicated and our sworn members are diligent in this approach
to offences of violence. One of the effects of greater public awareness is that the incidence of
reported crime increases while actual crime rates remain constant.

The North Bay Police Service has supported this position for a number of years and has en-
sured that violent criminals were prosecuted whenever the evidence was present. Enhancing
community partnerships in the area of Victims Services, while simultaneously providing training
for investigating Domestic incidents, will work towards continued progress in this area.

For reporting purposes the number of reported occurrences, such as those attributed to violent
crime, may differ from the number of actual occurrences after an investigation has been
completed. In 2013 there were 60 founded occurrences of “criteria offences”. 10




Youth Crime

Most investigations into disorderly conduct of youth or of crimes committed on young persons
will be investigated by either our School Liaison Officer {(SLO) or Youth Officer.

In 2013 there were 254 school related calls for service investigated by the SLO. From these
calls the SLO issued 48 criminal charges, 88 verbal cautions/warnings and 28 youth referrals.
Other calls related to drug possession, assauit, threatening criminal harassment (bullying),
possession of stolen property, theft, weapons and mischief.

1 The majority of occurrences did not
Performance Indicators - SLO involve criminal charges. Informal reso-
lutions, referrals, diversions and cau-
tions were the most common and ef-
fective option exercised by the SLO as
well as other officers responding to

300 7

250 -

200 A u Callsfor Service school related calls. Youth referrals
W Criminal Code Charges involve an interview with the Service’s
150 4 » Provincial offences Notices | YOUEh  Officer to assess the entire
# Youth Referrats situation and consider a referral to the

# internal resoltion/caution | YOUth Criminal Justice Program for
Police Assistance/tlormation | fUFth@r  assessment and conse-
quences. It should be noted that the
|option of a criminal charge is main-
A k. = ‘tained throughout the process should
2000 20010 2011 2002 2013 | other measures prove to be ineffective.

| 100 A

50 1

In 2013 the Youth Office investigated 25 occurrences of offences against children. Of these
occurrences a total of 43 criminal charges were laid. Many of the types of charges were sexual
in nature.

The Youth Officer conducted more youth referrals last year than in the preceding years.
Occurrences involving inappropriate behaviours such as bullying, sexting and distributing
sexually explicit images facilitated by computers and other electronic communication devices
has been on the increase nationwide. Awareness campaigns by governments not only aim to
teach youth what constitutes a crime but also encourages others not to be victimized. Our
Youth Officer and SLO will undoubtedly be reporting on these issues in subsequent reports.

2010 2011 2012 2013
Offences against chil- 13 14 25 25
dren Investigations
Other Investigations 16 12 16 9
Charges 32 30 28 56
Youth Referrals 89 71 34 96

11



Domestic Violence Occurrences

There was continued progress during the past year addressing the current and future needs of
the North Bay Police Service in the area of victim services and domestic violence investiga-
tions. Community partner development and access remains a key ongoing process.

Domestic Occurrences/Charges

120
100

B Domestic Incidents

¥ Domestic Occurrences Charges
Laid

In 2013 the North Bay Police Service averaged 3.9 reports daily of domestic violence. This
behavior has become the focus of a campaign, One Pledge, launched by the Nipissing Transi-
tion House in partnership with the City of North Bay and the North Bay Police Service in 2014.

This community campaign is aimed at encouraging every citizen to make a difference. By sign-
ing the pledge, either in person or online, you are joining others in acknowledging domestic
violence exists in our community. By signing the pledge citizens are giving a voice to end do-
mestic violence in North Bay and area.

Charges by Gender

@ Males Charged

| Females Charges

12



o

%i ﬁ}v

Domestic Violence

In 2013 the Service responded to 1,142 incidents of reported domestic violence resulting in
587 charges being laid. Of the individuals charged, 233 were male while 50 were women. As
with any crime there are those persons who are prone to re-offending. Recidivism in 2013 for
incidents of domestic violence was 103 males and 14 women respectively.

1200 = —  —
Domestic Occurrences
1000 t
800 Jr
600
a00
200 f
o 'L -+ - T T
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
s Numbcerof Charges Laid EEN Domcestic Qccurrences
Lincar (Number of Charges Laid)

There has been a general and proportional increase of Domestic Occurrences reported over
the last decade. The 2013 rising figures are offset by more rigorous reporting, investigative
standards and practices. Currently our Victim Services/Domestic Violence Coordinator is vigi-
lant in documenting and maintaining accurate statistics for the Service.

Use of Force -

2008 2009

REPORT TYPE {
Total Occurrences 58 69 53 46 39 55

Total Reports 57 71 64 50 55 74
Reports submitted to 14 16
euthanize animals
Reports involving fire- | — 19 15 19 23 39
arms (public only)

' Reports involving Aerosol | 7 6 0 2 1 6
Weapons

Reports involving Baton
Reports involving Empty
Hand Techniques

Reports involving C.EW. | 15 19 10 16 1 12
{demonstrative and fired)

W o
—
W =
38 I
—
on

"Reports involving C.EW. | - = 3 5 3 4
{fired only)

A notable difference year after year is the increase in the overall number of occurrences involv-
ing pointing a firearm at a member of the public. In 2013 the number increased to 39 from 23.
A review of the reports indicate the increase is largely due to the NBPS Street Crime Unit and
the Emergency Response Team executing numerous warrants on drug houses and arrest war-
rants on suspected armed subjects. These occurrences are high risk and predominantly ik
volve several officers.



Traffic

6000 I

5000 —

4000 +
HPON's

3000 | mMVC's

2000 +

1600

O 4

-

2011 2012 2013

It is important to note that the reported collisions versus the investigated collisions numerical
values may differ because not all accidents reported are investigated. The Highway Traffic Act
stipulates that any accident involving personal injury or damage exceeding $1,000 must be re-
ported to the nearest police officer. Police also investigate accidents or collisions regardless of
dollar amount or person injury incurred when any vehicle owned by the City of North Bay, Mu-
nicipality of Callander, Provincially or Federally is involved.

In 2013, 68 impaired driving charges were recorded compared to 85 in 2012 and 56 in 2011.
The R.I.D.E. Program was utilized or impiemented on 17 occasions in 2013.

**PONs are Provincial Offence Notices, commonly referred to as tickets. This includes written
warnings and three-day reports. MVC is the acronym for motor vehicle collision.

Traffic
250
200
@ Injuries
150
M Fatalities
100 + Pedestrians
50 1 20
o 4] 0
0 + - -— T
2011 2012 2013

Of the 2,028 MVCs reported last year, 3 collisions resulted in fatalities. One occurrence in-
volved a cyclist being struck after which he succumbed to his injuries. Another occurrence in-
volved a driver that struck a pedestrian, killing her. The driver failed to remain at the scene but
was later arrested, charged and entered a plea of guilt. The third fatality occurred when a
driver failed to yield to a pedestrian. The woman was struck and died of her injuries.

In response to our Services commitment to the Platoon Traffic Officer (PTO) program. As-

signed officers logged 622.5 hours of enforcement resulting in 642 violations issued. These
officers participated in traffic initiatives, education, community programs and enforcement.

14



120 Bicycle Patrol

100 i
80
I W Shifts
60 -|- PON's Issued
a0 3 89
20 135 38
0 1 i ST = | Sl 3

2011 2012 2013

+

.

The use of the Bicycle Patrol Officer (BPQO) provides an officer an opportunity to be more ac-
cessible to the public while assuming the role of Ambassador for the North Bay Police Service.
Officers have the opportunity to focus their attention towards promoting safe cycling habits
while enforcing Federal / Provincial Statutes and City of North Bay By-Laws.

At present the 5 officer Unit consists of the Traffic Enforcement Officer (TEO) and one officer
appointed from each of the four Platoons. This is also supplemented by the Community Ori-
ented Response (COR) Unit. This structure was utilized in order to facilitate the availability of
BPQ's and ensuring staffing levels on Patrol are maintained.

The BPO's and the COR Unit addressed numerous investigations under the Criminal Code,
Controfled Drug and Substances Act, Highway Traffic Act, Trespass to Properly Act, City By-
Laws as well as investigate motor vehicle collisions.

While the focus remained on patrolling the downtown core, waterfront areas and supporting
community events efforts were also made at targeted enforcement and education initiatives.
Not included in the 2013 figures were 80 verbal warnings.

Community Programs Section

This Section maintains community partner relationships with many groups and associations.
We continue to work with our community to identify problems or areas of concern and problem
solve in a collaborative manner. In these instances Police are not only to be observed as en-
forcement figures but also mentors and supporters of creative ideas to solving community
problems.

The Community Safety Coordinator's (CSC) duties includes safety presentations and participa-
tion in numerous community projects and events. The CSC also problem solve various con-
cerns that the public bring to us. One of the biggest commitments of the Community Safety
Co-ordinator is fostering a positive relationship with the media. In 2013 the CSC facilitated
over 284 Interviews, prepared 215 Media releases, attended 89 committee meetings and pro-
vided over 40 presentations.

15



2013 Highlights

The association between the Law Enforcement community and Special Clympics dates back
more than 30 years. Under the banner of the Law Enforcement Run for Special Olympics, the
Torch Run is the largest grass-roots fundraiser and public awareness vehicle for Special Olym-
pics, raising over 450 million world-wide since its inception.

On December 3, 2013 at police headquarters it was made official, the Ontario Special Olym-
pics Winter Games will be held in North Bay from January 28 until February 1st, 2015. The
games will see over 400 to 450 athletes, including an estimated 15 to 20 local participants, vy-
ing for medals in events that include: snowshoeing, speed skating, figure skating, curling,
downhill and cross-country skiing.

Constable Merv Shantz was announced as the Games Manager and his duties will include or-
ganizing various committees, looking into fundraising opportunities and partnerships through-
out the next year.

Mr. Glenn MacDcnell, President and Chief Executive Officer of Special Olympics Ontario was
quoted as saying “We know that this is the right place for the games to be, and we know
they're going to be highly successful.”

On hand for the announcement were: Shannon Johnson, Chief Cook, Lori Spencer, Susan
McNeely, Carly Tucker, Mathew Abraham, Jerome Stickland, Ed Reaman, Councillor Men-
dicino and Cst. Shantz.




ACHI

Officer of the Order of Merit

On October 4, 2013 Chief Cook joined i
other police officers from across Canada g
at La Citadelle de Québec where they fg
were recognized by the Right Honour- K

able David Johnston, Governor General

of Canada during the Investiture Cere- g

mony for the Order of Merit of the Police
Forces.

Chief Cook was advanced in the Order &

from Member to Officer of the Order of
Merit.

Chief Cook is both honoured and hum-
bled to receive this prestigious recogni- *
tion from Governor General Johnston.

EVEMENTS

e, A
Py

y
J
|

)

2 '/T:h
@ ;58
r

Member of the Order of Merit

On May 24, 2013 Sergeant Hunter along with
60 colleagues from across Canada were
named to the Order of Merit of the Police
Forces during an investiture ceremony at
Rideau Hall, presided over by His Excellency

: ‘-q the Right Honourable David Johnston, Gover-

nor General of Canada.

The Order of Merit of the Police Forces was
created in 2000 to recognize conspicuous merit
and exceptional service by members and em-
ployees of Canadian Police Forces whose con-
tributions extend beyond protection of the com-
" munity.

Sergeant Hunter commenced his career with
| the Peel Regional Police in 1987 before return-
ing home to join the North Bay Police Service
on November 19, 1990.

17



ACHIEVEMENTS
"""" I North Bay Police Service Officer Goes that
i Extra Mile

rEThe Go the Extra Mile Program is aimed to re-
| ward business owners, employees & volunteers
1 'for excellence in customer service. Rewarding
‘customer service acknowledges the perform-
- ance and contributions in making North Bay and
dlstnct a better place to live & encourages visi-
' tors to our area.

Cst. Marc Ethier was named the winner of the
North Bay and District Chamber of Commerce
"The Extra Mile Award" for the month of June for
excellence in customer service.

Annual Awards

This year our 2013 Annual Awards Luncheon was hosted at the Clarion Resort Pinewood
Park. Ms. Carol Wolfe (Communications Centre), Mr. Ivan Ryman {(Forensic Identification Sec-
tion), Ms. Linda Brogan (Exhibits Clerk) and Special Constable June Degagne (Court Section)
were recognized for 20 years of dedicated service to our organization.

Ms. Wendy Leroy (Clerical Section) was recognized for her
long time dedication to our Service. Wendy began her
career with the NBPS in 1973. She has been a valued
employee who has worked at many of the positions in the
il Administration Section. While in her 40th
{ year with our organization Wendy decided to retire. We
wish Wendy and her family many years of health and
happiness in retirement.

Commendation

On February 12, 2013 Constable Steve Chabbert received a
Board Commendation and a Chief's Commendation for his
role in saving the life of a member of our community after he
suffered a heart attack while playing hockey in a pick-up
game on January 10, 2013.

Constable Chabbert, who was a participant in the game and
several other players in attendance came to the victim's aid
and administered first aid, including CPR and the use of a
portable Defibulator at the arena.

Thanks to Constable Chabbert's life-saving training and



OVA Award

Celebrating Volleyball for Life in Ontario, the On-
tarioc Volleyball Association OVA holds a bi-
annual OVAtions Award banquet to honour
those volunteers and corporate partners that
have distinguished themselves through the years
by providing their time, effort and support to the
promotion and development of volleyball in the
province.

On December 7th, Constable Greg Randall re-
ceived a 2013 OVAtion Award. Greg volunteers
as the President of The North Bay Youth Volley-
ballClub (NBYVC

Home Town Hero

*  David Yee, Maintenance Supervisor, received Home Town Hero Award from Moose
FM, for all his hard work at our police station.

David Yee with Amanda Cupido of the Moose.

Paul Harris Award

Chief Paul Cook was honoured with a Paul Harris Fellow (PHF) award by the Rotary Club of North Bay
for his outstanding service and dedication to the community and abroad. Organizing Co-Chair, Yvonne
Weir, stated that "This award (PHF) is the highest honour a Rotary club can bestow on an individual, on
behalf of The Rotary Foundation, and acknowledges 'service above self by those persons who are
selected".

Officers Receive IODE Awards

On May 1, 2013 Detective Constable Fernando Cirullo was honoured by the IODE, Dr. Herbert A. Bruce
Chapter, “Police Community Relations Award". As a lifelong citizen of North Bay, Detective Constable
Cirullo lives his off-duty life as an advocate for cormmunity service. Fernando’s belief that sports play a
fundamental role in the development of our youth is evident from his volunteer projects.

On May 8, 2013 Detective Helen Kent was honoured by the IODE, Manitou Chapter, for her work with
the annual Special Olympics Torch Run and her participation in fund raising events. Helen believes that
devoting time to the Special Olympics is truly a privilege and believes strongly in the Special Olympics
motto "People with an intellectual disability can and will succeed in life if given the opportunity.”

19



ACHIEVEMENTS
2013 Employees of the Year

Employee of the Year

Co-winners of this year's, "Chief's Employee of the Year Award" were Ms. Diane Lynett (Court
Section Clerk) and Ms. Elaine Morin (Investigative Support Section Clerk). At the awards cere-
mony in January Chief Cook described the recipients as "two of the most dedicated and hard
working employees in our organization". He went on to say, “that they consistently carry out
their day-to-day assignments without complaint and put group goals above personal recogni-
tion. They both lead by example and are very positive role models for others in our workplace
to follow™.

Ms. Lynett started her career as a part-time clerk on June 18, 1984, while Ms. Morin com-
menced her career on November 7, 1988. Both have held various clerical positions during their
careers and they have each always excelled at whatever their assignment has been.

Cop Talk

- Ab 1 |
IJ =4 Our Police Service has partnered with
35 Cogeco to educate our community on the
T pollcmg professmn and our Servuce

The show, which airs every second Tues-
j day of the month at 7 p.m., is hosted by
Mr. Jeff Turl.

Cogeco was recognized with an
"Outstanding Documentary Production"
Award for a segment of "Cop Talk" where
our Bicycle Patrol was featured.

20



ACHIEVEMENTS

2013 MADD Officer of the Year

B Constable Steve Brown led the way this year with six
fl impaired driving arrests. Ms. Celebre and Ms. McLeod
| from the MADD Nipissing Chapter attended the North
! Bay Police Services Board meeting on December 10th
to recognize Constable Brown for his efforts this past

M L to R: Denis O'Connor, Board Chair, Ms. McLeod, Ms.
Celebre, Cst. Brown

Last Post

It has been many years since the North Bay Police Service has experienced the loss an active
member to a health or work related tragedy. Regrettably this trend was broken in 2013.

Constable Whitford was born in 1969 in Englehart, Ontario. She later moved to Timmins with
her parents where she graduated high school. In 1993 she moved to North Bay with her
spouse Scott. Prior to joining our Service, Constable Whitford was employed at the Fenbrook
Institute in the Gravenhurst area.

Constable Tanya Whitford commenced her policing career with the North Bay Police Service
on February 21, 2000 as a Cadet. After successfully completing recruit training at the Ontario
Police College, Tanya was sworn in as a 4th Class Constable on June 13, 2000. She remained
in the Patrol Section until 2007 when her health diminished and she could no longer work in
the career that she had worked so hard to attain.

On October 2, 2013 Constable Whitford passed away after a long and courageous battle with
cancer, leaving behind Scott and their two children Nolan and Camden.

21




National Memorial Day

Every year off duty members attend the Police Memorial held in Toronto in May and the Na-
tional Memorial Day held in Ottawa in September. Both of these events are tributes to police
officers who have died in the line of duty. These two ceremonies provide community members
an opportunity to formally express appreciation for the dedication of police and peace officers
who have made the ultimate tragic sacrifice to keep our communities safe.

Conclusion

In 2013 we were in our final year of our Business Plan. In order to develop clear goals, objec-
tives and direction our Service contracted OraclePoll Research — Sudbury, to perform the
2013community surveys of North Bay and Callander. OraclePoll was selected for its capacity
to fulfill the rigorous requirements of a scientifically valid survey methodology. The resulting
information represents an empirically and quantitatively sound series of data that confidently
and accurately represents the voice of the community we serve.

These results were published and several Town Hall meetings were hosted by the North Bay
Police Service to allow the residents of North Bay and Callander to ask questions and contrib-
ute further opinions and insights.

Our new Business Plan 2014-2016 identifies our policing priorities and will be used as our road
map over the next three years. Working to achieve our new goals and objectives in concert
with our community will ensure the continued success of our police service.

As evident by the implementation of the GATEWAY COMMUNITY MOBILIZATION HUB we
continue to work with a multitude of community partners to develop and initiate strategies de-
signed to improve the quality of life on our streets, in our neighbourhoods and enhance public
safety.

We wish to thank the Police Services Board, the citizens of North Bay, and all of our various
community, provincial, and nationa! partners for contributing to our organizational success this
past year and we look forward to working with all of you in 2014. 27



North Bay Police Service
Municipality of Callander

Report on Policing 2013

A,

Callander

ONTARIO

Four Seasons of Reasons

Dennis O’Connor — Chair

North Bay Police Services Board
Paul D. Cook — Chief of Police
North Bay Police Service



Dear Community Members:

| am pleased to present our 2013 Callander Annual Report on Policing on behalf of the North Bay Police
Services Board. | would also like to take this opportunity to recognize and thank all of ocur members for
their ongoing professionalism, integrity, compassion and dedication to duty. They continue to make a
significant difference both on-duty and off-duty in the communities we serve each and every-day.

This past year we commissioned an independent polling company to conduct community surveys as
part of our Business Planning process. The results were extremely positive with community satisfaction
levels at an all-time high for both North Bay and Callander. These results are something we should all
be proud of as they are a direct reflection of the confidence our community has in our Police Service and
our members.

Our success has been achieved thanks to our people and our strong ties with a2 multitude of community
partners that work with our Police Service on a daily basis. The Gateway HUB Community Mobilization
Model that we introduced this year is a fine example of cross sector partners coming together to work
with the police in the interests of community safety and well being.

Our Police Service is proud of our history and looks forward to taking on the many challenges and op-
portunities that lay ahead. Our new Business Plan 2014-2016 clearly articulates our policing priorities,
goals and objectives, and our direction over the next three years. In partnership with our Board, Cal-
lander Council and our many partners we are committed to providing the high level of professional polic-
ing our communities have come to expect and deserve.

Sincerely,

Q.J C-&

Paul D. Cook, O.0.M.
Chief of Police



&

Table of Contents

Chief's Address Page 2
Table of Contents Page 3
Command Staff and Police Services Board Page 4
Mission and Values Page 4
Gateway Community Mobilization HUB Page 5
Hours of Service and Calls for Service Page 6
Crime and Clearance Rates Page 7 - 10
Youth Crime Page 9 - 10
Violent Crime Page 10 - 11
Road Safety Page 12 -13
Highlights Page 14
Achievements and Last Post Page 15-19

Conclusion

Page 20




MISSION STATEMENT

‘Dedicated to service, committed to community’

VALUES
‘We, the members of the North Bay Police Service are committed to:
Excellence in policing

Pride in professionalism
Compassion for those in need

Honesty-Integrity-Growth-Teamwork’

NORTH BAY POLICE SERVICE COMMAND STAFF
Paul Cook -Chief of Police Shawn Devine - Deputy Chief of Police

From left to right:
Bill Hagborg, - Vice Chair, Mayor Al McDonald - member, Tiziana Silveri - member ,
Peter Leckie - Board Solicitor ,Tanya Vrebosch — member, and Carol Miller - Board Secretary.



Y8x

GATEWAY COMMUNITY MOBILIZATION HUB

One of the most significant contributions to our community was the creation of the Gateway Community
Mobilization HUB. The North Bay Paolice Service has taken a leadership role in bringing various human
resource providers and stakeholders together to develop a mobilization and engagement strategy to ad-
dress individuals or families who are at “acutely elevated risk”.

Acutely elevated risk exists when a number of factors are identified and if left unattended will likely result
in harm or lead to the situation worsening. The objective of the HUB is to intervene before a situation
worsens or escalates to more formal and extended interventions such as the apprehension of children,
criminal charges, prolonged or psychiatric inpatient hospital stays.

Before any situation is discussed at a HUB meeting it must be determined that it involves risk factors
that extend beyond the scope or normal business practices of any one agency. In most HUB discus-
sions three or more agencies must be involved to address the extent of the risk factors present.

The HUB has a clearly defined process for determining if an individual and/or family are at acutely ele-
vated risk and if multi-agency intervention is required. The process is designed to balance a citizen's
right to privacy with the value or necessity of addressing the elevated risk. Each meeting begins with a
focused review of situations that have been previously ‘actioned’ by the HUB. A typical HUB meeting is
depicted in the photograph below.

The current agencies involved in the Gateway Community Mobilization HUB are: North Bay Police Ser-
vice, Nipissing District Housing Corporation, District Nipissing Social Services Admin Board, Children’s
Aid Society, North Bay Parry Sound District Health Unit, Youth Justice Services, Crisis Center, Cana-
dian Mental Health Association, Nipissing Mental Health Housing Support Services, Indian Friendship
Center, Near North District School Board, North Bay Regional Health Center, Nipissing-Parry Sound
District Catholic School Board, HANDS The Family Help Network.ca, PEP (People for Equal Partner-
ship),Conseil Scolaire Catholique Franco-Nord {(School Board), Ontario Provincial Police, Probation and
Parole and Community Counselling Services.




HOURS OF SERVICE

We continue to stagger our patrol hours in order to optimize our presence and provide coverage during
peak hours for demand. This strategic deployment allows for maximum visibility and deterrence of
crime. Positive comments continue to be received from the residents of Callander on the high visibility of
patrols, which has been welcomed from the outset.

In addition to Uniformed Patrol, we utilize our Traffic Enforcement Unit, Bicycle Patrol, R.I.D.E. Program
Patrol, Street Crime Unit and the services of our Community Programs Section to augment enforcement
issues and to enhance community safety.

Many residents of the community enjoy winter sports including snowmobiling and ice fishing. As seen
from almost anywhere in the community ice huts are abundant in Callander Bay. Regular enforcement
by our Joint Snowmobile Patrol ensures travel and activities on and around Callander Bay remains safe.

CALLS FOR SERVICE

Since the North Bay Police Service assumed policing responsibilities for the Municipality of Callander in
April of 1997, the annual number of calls for service has been as high as 942 and as low as 417. In 2013
our members responded to 645 calls for service, This included 64 Criminal Code occurrences, which is
a slight decrease of 4 ¢riminal occurrences over 2012,

Callander continues to grow in reference o population and structures. In 2001 the population was 3,177
with 1,406 residences. Both the population and the number of residences continue to expand. According
to figures obtained by the Municipality through Statistics Canada the latest figures indicate the popula-
tion has grown to 3,864 with 1,677 private dwellings.

Calls for Service

700
600
500
400
300
200
100

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013




%
o

Geographically, Callander is spread out over 100 square kilometres and has a total of 156.7 kilometres
of roadways that are maintained. Providing a police presence throughout the municipality is achieved
through random patrols coupled with the Bicycle Unit and members of our Joint Snowmaobile Patrol.

Despite the population growth and expansion of neighbourhoods many of the categories that will be ex-
amined in this report have not increased proporticnately. In fact Criminal Code occurrences have re-
mained fairly low and consistent over the years with the odd fluctuation occurring sporadically.

Criminal Code Occurrences

120

100

105
-3
83 4 , 83
80 4
4
60 -
40
20
0 1 T T T T T T

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

'l

CRIME AND CLEARANCE RATES

Reports of property crimes such as theft under $5,000 have remained unchanged from 2012 and are at
their lowest levels in a 10 year comparison. The average number of theft under $5,000 occurrences in
the last decade has been 19.9. With such a low incident of criminal acts this number can increase or
decrease significantly by the actions only a few individuals.

The number of break-ins in 2013 was 8 compared to 7 in 2012 and 13 such occurrences in 2010. The
chart on page 8 indicates the number of break and enter offences has remained sornewhat consistent
over the last 10 years, with spikes in only 3 of the last 10 years.

As shown later in this report, the clearance rate for property crime is now at 13.3%, which is s decrease
from 28.5% reported in 2012. In 2009 the clearance rate was only 8%. These variants appear signifi-
cant but must be taken in the proper context. With such a limited number of occurrences, clearance
rates can increase and decrease dramatically.

For example, if in 2013 the community incurs 20 occurrences in relation to theft under $5,000, it would
be an increase of 100% over that of 2012. It is easy to observe how the acts of one or several individu-
als can skew increases or decreases in percentiles that could be perceived as a significant problem.



Mischief

35 3T 3T
30

25
20 1
15 A

- 5 15 43
10 - 5
3 Illlll
0 - T T T T T T T 7 y

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Theft

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

& Theft Over ™S Theaft Under

As residents of the area become well educated in the area of crime prevention and target hardening,
they take steps to reduce their vulnerability to being a victim of a crime. We take every opportunity to
provide literature and advice to residents on protecting themselves from criminals and thus reducing the

risk of victimization. Such endeavours included the new “Lock It or Lose It” program which was unveiled
in 2012.

Infomercials and media coverage has assisted police to get the message out in relation to lowering risk
to person and property crimes victimization. In 2013, only 4 thefts from motor vehicles were reported in
contrast to 16 in 2011. Thefts under $5,000 increased from 16 in 2011 to 7 in 2012.



Break and Enter

16
14

14
12
12
12
10 8 = =
-8 7 yi 1= 4 _’ Q
jll 6 IIE

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2008 2010 2011 2012 2013

L

o N0 B 0
L

Fraud

= L " I - ) B N « - T T}

2
III 1

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

YOUTH CRIME

The youth criminal justice system is intended to prevent crime by addressing the circumstances underly-
ing a young person’s behaviour, rehabilitate young persons who commit offences and ensure that a
young person is subject to meaningful consequences for their actions to promote long-term protection of

the public.

As note in the chart on the following page, 5 female youths were charged under the provisions of the
Youth Criminal Justice Act., while in the same reporting period no male youths were charged. Tradition-
ally when comparing criminal charges to a gender, it is typically the male population that exceeds fe-

males. This is the first time since 2006 this has occurred.



In 2013, 13 male adults and 1 female youth were charged under the Confrofled Substances and Drug
Act. With a limited number of occurrences in each category, crime and clearance rates can rise and fall
dramatically from year o0 year. For example, two unsolved robberies, producing a clearance rate of
0.00% in that category, can make the violent crime clearance rate drop considerably, and the rate of
incidence climbs as dramatically. Rates and percentages should be looked at in concert with the data to
ensure a proper analysis of the situation. However, in order to report Municipal Performance Measures,
the data has been converted to those figures and is presented in the tables below.

CRIME AND CLEARANCE RATES

Property Crime Violent Crime Other Criminal Code Total Criminal

{including drug Code Including
charges) impaired driving
offences)

Number of 45 8 9 64
Incidents

Clearance 13.3% 100% 100%% 78.3%
Rate

CRIMINAL CHARGES

Adult Youth Criminal Justice Act

Female Female Youth Not
Charged

Our Service employs many tools to provide the most efficient and effective services to the communities
of North Bay and Callander. These include the most cbvious and visible means such as the Mobilization
and Engagement Model of Community Policing which utilizes the Community Resource Officer,
D.A.R.E. officers, School Liaison Officer and dedicated uniformed patrol officers such as the Bike Patrol,
Snowmobile Patrol and R.I.D.E. Program. Our Service also utilizes Crime Stoppers often receiving tips
pertaining to incidents involving fraud, drugs, arson and fish and wildlife (poaching).

VIOLENT CRIME

Violent Crime in our society draws much attention, in particular the issues of domestic violence and vio-
lence in our schools. With recent changes in legislation, a strong message of zero tolerance has been
communicated and our sworn members are diligent in this approach to offences of violence. One of the
effects of greater public awareness is that the incidence of reported crime increases while actual crime
rates remain constant.

The North Bay Police Service has supported this position for a number of years and has ensured that

violent criminals were prosecuted whenever the evidence was present. In 2013 the violent crime clear-
ance rates was 100%.

i0



i

VIOLENT CRIME CONT.

For reporting purposes the number of reported occurrences such as those attributed to violent crime
may differ from the number of actual cccurrences after an investigation has been completed. There were
12 reports of violent crime in 2013 a decrease of 9 from that of 2012. Of the reported 12 occurrences, 8
were deemed to be actual incidents of violent crime.

The following charges were laid in conjunction with those 8 investigations: 4 level 1 assault charges; 1
robbery charge and 1 utter threats. The remaining 2 investigations were cleared and solved but no
charges were laid.

In relation to the violent crime investigations 2 adult males were charged with various offences in con-
trast to 3 females that were charged. Only 1 female was charged in relation to allegedly committing a
violent crime.

Our officers responded to 18 domestic disturbance calls for service in 2013. This is the same number as
the year previous. In many instances calls for service in this area are attributed to third party reporting of
noise complaints and verbal arguments where no physical violence has occurred. There were 6 occur-
rences that warranted charges. To ensure each component of a domestic violence call for service has
been addressed, each report of domestic violence is the subject of examination by our Domestic Vio-
lence Coordinator. The chart below depicts the number of violent crime incidents over the past ten
years. This includes assaults, robberies, sex offences, criminal harassment and weapon offences.

Total Violent Crime

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

in 2013 the North Bay Paolice Service averaged 3.9 reports daily of domestic violence (North Bay and
Callander statistics combined). This behavior has become the focus of a campaign, One Pledge,
launched by the Nipissing Transition House in partnership with the City of North Bay and the North Bay
Police Service in 2014.

This community campaign is aimed at encouraging every citizen to make a difference. By signing the

pledge, either in person or online, you are joining others in acknowledging domestic violence exists in
our community. By signing the pledge citizens are giving a voice to end domestic violence in North Bay.



78

Many surveys attempt to identify concerns of citizens. Often police services have learned that com-
plaints about traffic violations and safety are the most common concerns for community members. In
2013 our Service received 45 traffic complaints from residents of Callander compared to 34 the year
previous. Many of these complaints were attributed to erratic/aggressive drivers, reports of possible im-
paired drivers, distracted driving, speeding and non use of equipment such as helmets.

ROAD SAFETY

In 2013 the number of reportable motor vehicle collision was 15, which meant a decrease by almost
50% over the previous year. There were no fatalities. As outlined in the Highway Traffic Act, motorists
have several options when it comes to reporting. Motorists involved in collisions where less than $1,000
worth of damage has been sustained and where no injury is apparent need not report the matter and
may settle it among themselves. These are deemed non-reportable accidents. In other cases, motorists
in Callander also have the option to have their collision investigated by a police officer who would be
dispatched to the scene or they may wish to attend the Collision Reporting Centre (C.R.C.) located adja-
cent to the lobby of the police administration building.

Of significance is the fact that one third of all the accidents (reportable & non-reportable) were as a re-
sult of a motor vehicle striking deer.

Traffic Collisions

50
40 36

38 40
30 - 30 25 27 24 2
2 15
- A
0 h T T T T T T T T T

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Education, deterrence and enforcement are key ingredients in an overall road safety strategy. RIDE
patrols, dedicated traffic enforcement and general patrols all contribute to reducing the number of inju-
ries and deaths on our highways. Our Community Programs Section is involved in endeavours such as
safety lectures and bike rodeos in area schools as well as being members of such community based
organizations like the Road Safety Committee.

In 2013 our Traffic Section and Snowmobile Patrol conducted a joint forces R.1.D.E. program with the
O.P.P. in Callander, targeting traffic on and leaving Lake Nipissing. The Joint Forces North Bay Police
Service Snowmobile Patrol also routinely conducted patrols and spot checks on the trails and waterways
in Callander. On several occasions Conservation Officers with the Ministry of Natural Resources teamed
with our officers.

12



Criminal Code Driving

2 T2

IEEEEEEEE NS

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

QO = N W s U~
1

In 2013 uniformed members, either while on patrol or assigned to directed activities, issued 143 Provin-
cial Offences Notices. These notices include infractions of following provincial acts: Highway Traffic Act,
Motorized Snow Vehicles Act, Liguor Licence Act and Off Road Vehicles Act.

Anther method of ensuring we are visible in the community is to augment police vehicle patrols with offi-
cers assigned to our Bike Patrol Unit. The use of the Bicycle Patrol Officer (BPO) provides an officer an
opportunity to be more accessible to the public while assuming the role of Ambassador for the North Bay
Police Service. Officers have the opportunity to focus their attention towards promoting safe cycling
habits while enforcing Federal / Provincial Statutes.

At present the 5 officer Unit consists of the Traffic Enforcement Officer {TEQ) and one officer appointed
from each of the four Platoons. This is also supplemented by the Community Oriented Response (COR)
Unit. This structure was utilized in order to facilitate the availability of BPO's and ensuring staffing levels
on Patrol are maintained.

R.I.D.E.

The R.I.D.E. Program was developed by the Metro Toronto Police in 1977 as "Reduce Impaired Driving
in Etobicoke". It was eventually adopted by all Ontario Police Services and modified to mean "Reduce
Impaired Driving Everywhere”. The program runs all year long and involves police spot checks where
vehicles are stopped and drivers are checked g
for impairment. The campaign also has a sig-
nificant public awareness component.

The Ministry of Community Safety and Cor-
rectional Services provide police services in
Ontario with an annual grant to assist in aug-
menting costs.

In addition to their patrol duties police officers
may team up with a partner to conduct short-
ened versions of R.I.D.E. This occurred on 58
occasions in various locations in North Bay
and Callander in 2013. R..L.D.E. Programs
that were in duration of 6 hours were con-
ducted on 17 different occasions in 2013.

13



2013 Highlights

The association between the Law Enforcement community and Special Olympics dates back more than
30 years. Under the banner of the Law Enforcement Run for Special Olympics, the Torch Run is the
largest grass-roots fundraiser and public awareness vehicle for Special Olympics, raising over 450 mil-
lion world-wide since its inception.

On December 3, 2015 at police headquarters it was made official, the Ontario Special Olympics Winter
Games will be held in North Bay from January 28 until February 1st, 2015. The games will see over 400

to 450 athletes, including an estimated 15 to 20 local participants, vying for medals in events that in-
clude: snowshoeing, speed skating, figure skating, curling, downhill and cross-country skiing.

Constable Merv Shantz was announced as the Games Manager and his duties will include organizing
various committees, looking into fundraising opportunities and partnerships throughout the next year.

Mr. Glenn MacDonell, President and Chief Executive Officer of Special Olympics Ontario was quoted as

saying “We know that this is the right place for the games to be, and we know they're going to be highly
successful.

On hand for the announcement were: Shannon Johnson, Chief Cook, Lori Spencer, Susan McNeely,
Carly Tucker, Mathew Abraham, Jerome Stickland, Ed Reaman, Councillor Mendicino and Cst. Shantz.

|

< North Bay Police

wgoa

ALY O S e NG S LTS



ACHIEVEMENTS

Officer of the Order of Merit

On October 4, 2013 Chief Cook joined other I
police officers from across Canada at La L.

Citadelle de Québec where they were recog- g
nized by the Right Honourable David Johns- B
ton, Governor General of Canada during the
Investiture Ceremony for the Order of Merit [
of the Police Forces.

Chief Cook was advanced in the Order from
Member of the Order of Merit to
Officer of the Order of Merit.

Chief Cook is both honoured and humbled to
receive this prestigious recognition from Gov- ==
ernor General Johnston.

' On May 24, 2013 Sergeant Hunter along with sixty
| colleagues from across Canada were named to the
Order of Merit of the Police Forces during an investi-
ture ceremony at Rideau Hall presided over by His
Excellency the Right Honourable David Johnston,
| Governor General of Canada.

. | The Order of Merit of the Police Forces was created

| in 2000, to recognize conspicuous merit and excep-
tional service by members and employees of Cana-
. dian police forces whose contributions extend be-
yond protection of the community.

Sergeant Hunter commenced his career with the
Peel Regional Police in 1987 before returning home
 to join the North Bay Police Service on November
. 18, 1980.

15



ACHIEVEMENTS

T, '. North Bay Police Service Officer Goes that
T H Extra Mile
+—1

| The Go the Extra Mile Program is aimed to reward
| business owners, employees & volunteers for excel-
lence in customer service. Rewarding customer ser-
|vice acknowledges the performance and contribu-
| tions in making North Bay and district a better place

| to live & encourages visitors to our area.

Cst. Marc Ethier was named the winner of the North
Bay and District Chamber of Commerce "The Extra
Mile Award" for the month of June for excellence in
customer service.

Annual Awards

This year our 2013 Annual Awards Luncheon was hosted
at the Clarion Resort Pinewood Park. Ms. Carol Wolfe
(Communications Centre), Mr. Ivan Ryman (Forensic
Identification Section), Ms. Linda Brogan {Exhibits Clerk)
and Special Constable June Degagne (Court Section)
were recognized for 20 years of dedicated service to our
organization.

Ms. Wendy Leroy (Clerical Section) was recognized for
her long time dedication to our Service. Wendy began her
career with the NBPS in 1973. She has been a valued
employee who has worked at many of the positions in the
Administration Section. While in her 40th year with our
organization Wendy decided to retire. We wish Wendy and
her family many years of health and happiness in retire-

Commendation

On February 12, 2013 Constable Steve Chabbert received a Board Com-
mendation and a Chief's Commendation for his role in saving the life of a
member of our community after he suffered a heart attack while playing
hockey in a pick-up game on January 10, 2013.

Constable Chabbert, who was a participant in the game and several other
players in attendance came to the victim's aid and administered first aid,
including CPR and the use of a portable Defibulator at the arena.

Thanks to Constable Chabbert's life-saving training and timely interven-
tion a potential tragedy was averted.

16



ACHIEVEMENTS
OVA Award

Celebrating Volleyball for Life in Ontario, the Ontario
Volleyball Association OVA holds a bi-annual OVA-
tions Award banquet to honour those volunteers and
corporate partners that have distinguished them-
selves through the years by providing their time, effort
and support to the promotion and development of
volleyball in the province.

On December 7th, Constable Greg Randall received
a 2013 OVAtion Award. Greg volunteers as the Presi-
dent of The North Bay Youth Volleyball Club (NBYVC
LAKERS).

Home Town Hero

David Yee, Maintenance Supervisor, received Home Town Hero Award from Moose
FM, for all his hard work at our police station.

David Yee with Amanda Cupido of the Moose.

Paul Harris Award

Chief Paul Cook was honoured with a Paul Harris Fellow {PHF) award by the Rotary Club of North Bay
for his outstanding service and dedication to the community and abroad. Organizing Co-Chair, Yvonne
Weir, stated that "This award (PHF) is the highest honour a Rotary club can bestow on an individual, on
behalf of The Rotary Foundation, and acknowledges 'service above self' by those persons who are
selected".

Officers Receive IODE Awards

On May 1, 2013 Detective Constable Fernando Cirullo was honoured by the IODE, Dr. Herbert A. Bruce
Chapter, “Police Community Relations Award". As a lifelong citizen of North Bay, Detective Constable
Cirullo lives his off-duty life as an advocate for community service. Fernando's belief that sports play a
fundamental role in the development of our youth is evident from his volunteer projects.

On May 8, 2013 Detective Helen Kent was honoured by the IODE, Manitou Chapter, for her work with
the annual Special Olympics Torch Run and her participation in fund raising events. Helen believes that
devoting time to the Special Olympics is truly a privilege and believes strongly in the Special Olympics
motto "People with an intellectual disability can and will succeed in life if given the opportunity.”

17



ACHIEVEMENTS
2013 Employees of the Year

Employee of the Year

Co-winners of this year's, "Chief's Employee of the Year Award" were Ms. Diane Lynett (Court Section
Clerk) and Ms. Elaine Morin (Investigative Support Section Clerk). At the awards ceremony in January
Chief Cook described the recipients as "two of the most dedicated and hard working employees in our
organization”. He went on to say, "that they consistently carry out their day-to-day assignments without
complaint and put group goals above personal recognition. They both lead by example and are very
positive role models for others in our workplace to follow™,

Ms. Lynett started her career as a pari-time clerk on June 18, 1984, while Ms. Morin commenced her
career on November 7, 1988. Both have held varicus clerical positions during their careers and they
have each always excelled at whatever their assignment has been.

Cop Talk

M Our Police Service has partnered with Co-
il geco to educate our community on the polic-

4 vision call-in show entitled, "Cop Talk".

“! The show, which airs every second Tuesday
of the month at 7 p.m., is hosted by Mr, Jeff
Turl.

Cogeco was recognized with an "Outstanding
Documentary Production” Award for a seg-
ment of "Cop Talk" where our Bicycle Patrol
was featured.

18



ACHIEVEMENTS

2013MADD Officer of the Year

-
ali J 1 v g Constable Steve Brown led the way this year with six im-
Ehe | paired driving arrests. Ms. Celebre and Ms. McLeod from the
R MADD Nipissing Chapter attended the North Bay Police Ser-
vices Board meeting on December 10th to recognize Consta-
— ble Brown for his efforts this past year.
¢ #'_“I.

L to R: Denis O'Connor, Board Chair, Ms. McLeod,
B 3 - Ms. Celebre & Cst. Brown

Last Post

It has been many years since the North Bay Police Service has experienced the loss an active member
to a health or work related tragedy. Regrettably this frend was broken in 2013.

Constable Whitford was born in 1869 in Englehart, Ontario. She later moved to Timmins with her par-
ents where she graduated high school. In 1993 she moved to North Bay with her spouse Scott. Prior to
joining our Service, Constable Whitford was employed at the Fenbrook Institute in the Gravenhurst area.

Constable Tanya Whitford commenced her palicing career with the North Bay Police Service on Febru-
ary 21, 2000 as a Cadet. After successfully completing recruit training at the Ontario Paolice college,
Tanya was sworn in as a 4th Class Constable on June 13, 2000. She remained in the Patrol Section
until 2007 when her health diminished and she could no longer work in the career that she had worked
so hard to attain.

On October 2, 2013 Constable Whitford passed away after a long and courageous battle with cancer,
leaving behind Scott and their two children Nolan and Camden.




g 1 coal & - -. | = .‘ I E
e Y, ] RN, e S N

Every year off duty members attend the Police Memorial held in Toronto in May and the National Memo-
rial Day held in Ottawa in September. Both of these events are tributes to police officers who have died
in the line of duty. These two ceremonies provide community members an opportunity to formally ex-
press appreciation for the dedication of police and peace officers who have made the ultimate tragic
sacrifice to keep our communities safe.

Conclusion

In 2013 the North Bay Police Service was in its final year of its Business Plan. In order to develop clear
goals, objectives and direction our Service contracted OraclePoll Research — Sudbury, to perform the
2013 community surveys of North Bay and Callander. OraclePoll was selected for its capacity to fuffill
the rigorous requirements of a scientifically valid survey methodelogy. The resulting information repre-
sents an empirically and quantitatively sound series of data that confidently and accurately represents
the voice of the community we serve.

These results were published and several Town Hall meetings were hosted by the North Bay Police Ser-
vice (NBPS) to allow the residents of North Bay and Callander to ask questions and contribute further
opinions and insights.

Our new Business Plan 2014-2016 will be used as our road map over the next three years. We have set
priorities that we have identified through consultation both internally and with members of our commu-
nity. Working to achieve our new goals and objectives in concert with our community will ensure the con-
tinued success of our police service.

As evidence by the implementation of the GATEWAY COMMUNITY MOBILIZATION HUB we continue
to work with a multitude of community partners to develop and initiate strategies designed to improve the
quality of life on our streets, in our neighbourhoods and enhance public safety.

We wish to thank the Police Services Board, the citizens of Callander, and all of our various community,
provincial, and national partners for contributing to our organizational success this past year and we look
forward to working with all of you in 2014.

20



North Bay Police Service
P.O. Box 717, 135 Princess Strect West, North Bay, ON PIB 8J8
Paul D. Caok 705-497-5555 FAX 705-497-5591
Chicf of Police Website: www.northbaypolice.on.ca Deputy Chief of Police

Shawn E. Devine

Board Report

Date of Report: May 6, 2014
Date of Meeting: May 13, 2014

Mr. D. Q'Connor, Chair
and members of the
North Bay Police Services Board

Subject: Contingency Account — Near North School Board
Environment Committee

Recommendation: That the Board hereby resolves, “to donate $250.00 from the
contingency line in the Board’s 2014 Operating Budget to
support the Near North School Board Environment
Committee.”

Find attached a letter sent to me on behalf of the Near North District School Board
Environment Committee requesting financial support for their North Bay Water Festival.
We have never provided financial assistance to this committee previous to this.

This initiative involves youth in our community and the event encourages them to be
environmental leaders. | am recommending the Board provide support as requested
through our contingency account.

The current balance in the contingency account is currently -$340.00, but this will
change after our May auction.

| invite any comments or questions from the Board.

incerely,

' 9 (i

Paul D. Cook, O.0.M.
Chief of Police



May 06, 2014
Dear Chief Paul Cook,

On behalf of the Near North District School Board Environment Committee, we are writing to inform you of
an opportunity to help shape the future for our youth, our community and our environment.

Within the Environment Committee, we focus on the 5 R's - Re-cycle, Re-use, Re-duce, Re-think, and
Re-fuse - to create proactive student engagement regarding the environment and to motivate our
students to be environmental leaders in their schools and community. Our commitiee meets once a
month and ensures that our plans fall in line with the Ministry of Education documents as follows: Acting
Today; Shaping Tomorrow, Standards for Environmental Education in the Curriculum; Shaping our
Schools, Shaping our Future; and Ready, Set, Green!

One of our priorities this year is in the area of environmental conservation and water resource
management. We are planning a North Bay water festival similar to the one that has been held annually
in Parry Sound for the last 5 years. The water festival will involve a staff of high school students of about
35-40 and approximately 100-125 grade four and five students. Elementary schools in the area are
invited on a rotational basis. Our target group is quite large but looking at the curriculum documents
listed above, environmental education will only grow and the need will only increase. As well, this activity
is an excellent transition experience for the Elementary students.

For an initiative of this size and scope we need help. This is where you come in! We ask that you
consider supporting us with a financial donation of your choice. These funds would will help to purchase
some much needed equipment to facilitate the activities which we will keep and reuse each year. Our
future is in the hands of our children and we need to take the responsibility now to educate them to help
ensure a clean sustainable future.

Your donation will benefit a large mass of students in our school board and will help promote our own
North Bay water festival for 2014. We have already made contact with many community groups who are
willing to help us plan this amazing festival: Greening Nipissing, The Mattawa Conservation Authority,
The Lake Nipissing Stewardship Council, Canadore College, The Ontario Clean Water Agency, Nipissing
First Nations, The Nipissing Environmental Watch and more! These groups are willing to help this great
event be a success for alll

Thank you for consideration. If you have any questions, please contact Shawna Etches at
shawna.etches@nearnorthschools.ca We look forward to working with you in the future.

Sincerely,

Your Near North District School Board Environment Committee



North Bay Police Service
P.O. Box 717, 135 Princess Street West, North Bay, ON P1B 8J8
Paul D. Cook 705-497-5555  FAX 705-497-5591 Shawn E. Devine
Chief of Police Website: www.northbaypolice.on.ca Deputy Chief of Police

Board Report

Date of Report: May 13, 2014
Date of Meeting: May 13, 2014

Mr. D. O'Connor, Chair
and members of the
North Bay Police Services Board

Subject: Contingency Account — Armed Forces Day

Recommendation: That the Board hereby resolves, “to donate $250.00 from the
contingency line in the Board's 2014 Operating Budget to
support this year's Armed Forces Day.”

Find attached a letter sent to the Board by me in my capacity as Honourary Colonel for
51 Squadron requesting financial assistance for this year's Armed Forces Day. The
Board has provided financial assistance for this event for a number of years.

This event is scheduled for June 4, 2014 at the North Bay waterfront. The Honourary
Colonels are attempting to raise $6,000.00 to cover expenses associated to Armed
Forces Day. | am requesting the Board provide support again this year through our
contingency account.

The current balance in the contingency account is currently -$340.00, but this will
change after our May 17" Police Auction.

| invite any comments or questions from the Board.

incerely,

' 9 (e

Paul D. Cook, O.0.M.
Chief of Police



May 13, 2014

Mr. Dennis O'Connor, Chair
North Bay Police services Board
135 Princess St. West

North Bay ON P1B 8J8

Dear M/O’Connor:
Re: Armed Forces Day — June 4, 2014

| am writing this letter on behalf of Honorary Colonels Burton, Clark and | to request
financial support from your organization in relation to Armed Forces Day, which is
scheduled for June 4, 2014 at the North Bay waterfront.

This year's event in support of our Troops is going to be an incredible experience as we
have confirmed the participation of the CF-18 Demonstration Team and 424 Search and
Rescue Squadron. Local members of our military will be also be marching to the
waterfront where they will be recognized by our community for everything that they do.

As always we are anticipating a good turn out from our city and neighbouring
communities, including a significant representation of students from local schools who
will be attending both to show support for our Troops as well as to take advantage of the
educational focus being offered up again this year.

There are associated expenses to host this event and we are looking to our community
partners for sponsorship and support. Our estimated total costs are $6,000.00.

Should your organization be interested in providing financial support for this worthwhile
community initiative to honour and thank our military please contact me at 497-5566.

Thank you for taking the time to consider this request for assistance.

Sincerely,

Q._,Q 3
Paul Cook
Honorary Colonel, 51 Squadron



